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Executive summary

O
()

Qur membership
exceeds 13 million
for the first time in
our history

fo =

We attended over

2.4 million breakdowns
and over one quarter
of these were
reported digitolly

&

Silver Lake formally
hecame a majaor
shareholder in
March 2022

-z Strategic report

We launched Mabile
Mechanics, a pilot
Service, Maintenance
and Repair offering,
bringing the garage
to the customer’s
home or workplace

ad

Adjusted Group
revenue increased
by £32 million (+5%}
to £664 million

e

Adjusted EBITDA
before exceptional
items increased by
£6 million {+2%}

to £26C million

®
<=0

Adjusted operating
cash conversion
remains strong at
86% of Adjusted
EBITDA

™Ral

MyRAC, a
cornerstone in our
mission to offer

a convenient, digital
member experience,
is now used by

1.7 million members

We successfully retained all major accounts, as well as winning several significant contracts:
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A message from our CLO

Dave Hobday
Chief Executive Officer

ﬁ‘ In cur 125th anniversary year I'm proud that we've delivered another strong performance, and our
11th year of sustainable and uninterrupted growth, set against a challenging macro backdrop and UK-wide
disruption for motorists.

OQur continued focus on differentiation, innovation and investment, underpinned by the strength of aur
brand, service quality, and subscription-based revenue model, yet again demonstrated the relevance of the
RAC to our members and partners.

We delivered our lowest ever churn, started our market expansion into servicing, occelerated our digital
progress with MyRAC increasingly becoming the heart of all things driving, and for the first time in our
history surpassed 13 million members.

We're well set and well invested for 2023 and beyond as we continue our journey towards becoming
the UK's number one for driving services’

(Daue Mobc\af



= Strategic report

Dear Stakeholders,

2022 marked our 125th anniversary and | am proud to report another year of sustainable growth, the Tith
in succession since our separation trom Aviva. The results are especially pleasing having been achieved
against the backdrop of a challenging macro-economic environment and in a year of disruption for
motorists. The widespread automotive supply chain interruptions, increased vehicle usage through
travel strikes, the hottest summer and coldest December for years, and the ageing of the car parc have
meant we have rescued more members than ever. Qur performance again confirms the strength of our
brand, our membership, and cur strong subscription-based revenues. Qur long-term ongoing focus on

differentiation, investment and innovation means we cantinue to evolve to stay ever relevant to our

members and partners.

125 13 million

years members

Performance highlights

Adjusted EBITDA grew £6 million (+2%) to £260
million and adjusted revenue £32 million (+5%)}, to
£664 million. These results were primarily driven by
three key factors; (i) further membership growth,
now exceeding 13 million for the first time in our
history; (i} continued operational efficiency; and
{iii) ongeing service enhancements and value for
our members and partners.

COur relentiess focus on service quality delivered

a best-ever Cansumer Breakdown churn rate of
14.2% (2021: 14.5%) demonstrating the continuing
loyalty of our members to the RAC. This supported
a Consumer Breakdown membership growth of
92,000 to 2.7 million.

Business Breakdown membership was up 179,000
to 9.8 million. We successfully retained all major
accounts due for renewal including Tesco and
Aviva and secured new contracts including
SsangYong, Ageas and Stellantis, adding Fiat,
Jeep and Alfa Romeo to our existing Groupe

PSA relationship.

£260m

Adjusted
EBITDA

2.4m

breakdowns attended

Operationally, external factors such as rising
inflation, supply chain problems, and reduced
capacity from contractors presented new
chaltenges. These were all largely mitigated by
improving the use of cur own patrols and other
ongeing efficiencies, Productivity and service
levels remained robust and we attended 2.4
million breakdowns (2021: 2.3 million) with 27%
(2021: 21%) being reported digitally, giving a
superior service experience to members ata
lower cost.

In Insurance, the new FCA General Insurance
Pricing Practices (GIPP) regulations at the start
of 2022 changed consumer behaviour across the
sector. We adapted our approach, in line with
GIPP, and delivered a strong second half, ending
the year with 0.6 million members, and showing
sustainable momentum and a return to growth.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022



CEO review

Faor the year ending 31 December 2022

Strategy

Our vision is to become the UK’'s number one for
driving services, providing complete peace of mind
for all our members’ diiving needs.

During 2022 we tock significant steps towards
that vision. We expanded our plans for our core

14.2%

Consumer
breakdown churn

Accelerating our core businesses

Breakdown and Insurance are our core
businesses. We continue to evolve our
propositions, products and services to meet the
growing needs of our members and partners,
delivering positive member outcomes, in turn
driving sustainable profitable growth.

During the year we simplified and repositioned
our Consumer Breakdown offering, further
enhancing our web journey. Together these drove
a 10% increase in conversion rates and delivered
our biggest and best ever Black Friday event. OQur
existing members benefited from better digital
functionality including improvements to our RAC
rewards program, now enjoyed by over a quarter
of our Consumer Breakdown customers. [n
Business Breakdown we expanded our Automotive
Services offering which has more than doubled in
the last 4 years. We won new recall contracts with
existing motor manufacturer partners, increased
inspection volumes with BCA, and added new
branded services supported by our excellent
customer service credentials. This included
providing technician training and customer
support to Porsche GB and broadening our
contact centre activity with Renault UK to also
support their sales activity.

Launched Service,
Maintenance &
Repair division

products and services for both Consumer and
Business members and launched into the large
addressable market of Service, Maintenance

and Repnir (SMR). Wa cantinucd to invest in our
digital assets, expanding our services for members
through our "MyRAC" app which increasingly
underpins our whole membership experience.

VIRNNER

1.7m

MyRAC users

Car Insurance Provider
of the Year

Our Electric Vehicle (EV) services continue to grow
and more motor manufacturers including Renault
and Kia are ¢choosing the RAC to support their
EVs. We now provide on-the-road servicing for the
British Gas EV van fleet, the first contract of its
Kind, and are expanding this to include Motability
and other fleet partners. We extended our Fuel
Watch initiative to include Charge Watch,
monitoring the average cost of charging an EV to
ensure drivers get a fair deal.

In Insurance, we built new pricing models,
continued to leverage and expand our unique
data sets, and worked ever more closely with our
panel partners. Together these actions helped
ensure we saw positive member growth,
underpinned by strong retention rates, through
the second half of the year. We were also
delighted to win the prestigious "Car Insurance
Provider of the Year” for the second year running
at the Moneyfacts Consumer Awards.



Indy,

mobile mechanic since 2022,

| West Midlands h
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Expanding our addressable market into Service,
Maintenance ond Repair

During 2022 we accelerated our Service,
Maintenance and Repair (SMR) market
expansion plans.

SMR is a £13 billion market where the RAC
already offers choice, convenience, and trust
through over 1,100 RAC approved franchised
garages, the largest independent network in the
UK. We expanded our SMR offering in 2022 with
the launch of aur brand new Mobile Mechanics
proposition, *bringing the garage to you’ on your
drive or at your work. Following strong demand
and outstanding feedback in our test market
during the second half of the year we are now
starting national expansion. In addition, we
piloted our new MOT and Service Plans, helping
our members spread the cost of routine car
servicing and MOTs over 2 years.

~= Strategic report

Accelerating our digital experience

Combining cutting-edge digital and data
technology, our MyRAC app provides a seamless
member experience, increasingly underpinning
our preduct, service and member interactions
ultimately driving loyalty and lifetime value.

It is now used by 1.7 million {2021 1.4 million)
Consumer Breakdown members and in 2022 we
started the rollout to our Business Partners
significantly expanding its potential reach and
ensuring we connect even more strongly with our
millions of Business Breakdown end members,
creating future revenue opportunities and further
engagement with the RAC.

During 2022 our ongoing developments made the
app faster and more responsive. We launched new
features including the ability to increase cover
levels, book o service or MOT, provide directions to
EV charge points, and making it more efficient for
members to log a breakdown, Further innovations
are planned throughout 2023 and beyond,
ensuring MyRAC increasingly becomes the “go-to”
app for all our members’ driving needs.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Repart & Financigl Statements 2022



CEO review
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Colleagues - Qur OrangeHeroes

Our 4,000 colleagues yet again worked around
the clock to make sure that we gave our members
the best possible experience, Their heraic efforts
ensured we helped keep the nation moving in
2022 and my sincere thanks go to them for their

Summary and outlook

In this, our 125th anniversary year, we faced
particularly tough market conditions. Once again,
we successfully navigated our way through to
deliver another year of growth. We achieved
record Group membership and lowest ever
Consumer churn, launched our new SMR Division,
all the while accelerating our digital journey to
place MyRAC increasingly at the heart of our
membership experience.

These results, combined with our engoing
investment, clear strategy and track record of
operational execution ensure we have

strong momentum.

continued passion and commitment.

To recognise their achievements, we relaunched
our OrangeHero awards with over 200 colleagues
attending the ceremony for the first time

since COVID-19.

Despite the ongoing macro challenges, we remain
confident about continuing to deliver long-term
profitable growth and are well set for the future.




== Strategic report

Qur pcople
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A message from our CFO

lo Baker
Chief Financial Officer

& & We have delivered a robust set of results for 2022 in the face of headwinds such
as double-digit inflation, supply chain disruption and extreme weather events. Our
revenue and EBITDA growth against that backdrop not only demonstrates, once again,
the resilience of our subscription-based model, with more members staying for longer,
but also our ability to quickly and successfully adapt to an ever-changing environment!

S eser




The Consolidated Financial Statements of RAC Bidco Limited are set out from page 106 onwards.

The Group continued its operational and financial progress in 2022;

Y} Membership now exceeding 13.0 million {2021: 12.9 millian) for the first time in RAC’s histary,

Adjusted EBITDA® of £260 million increased by £6 million (+2%).

Lowest ever churn rate of 14.2% (2021: 14.5%).

L' L R

membership growth.

}» Adjusted operating cash conversion!? remained strong at 86% (2021: 89%).

Adjusted revenue® of £664 million increased by £32 million (+5%). Statutory revenue® grew by +4%.

Challenging start to the year for Insurance but ending the year more positively, returning to

= Strategic report

Y} Completed the transaction to bring Silver Lake in as a significant investor in March 2022, providing the

benefit of their expertise as we accelerate our digital journey and transformation.

Consolidated Income Statement

2022 2021 Restated

£m £m

Stotutary revenue! 659 432
Adjusted revenue!? b64 632
EBITDA before exceptional items 255 254
Adjusted EBITDA? 250 254
Depreciation (22) (19)
Amortisgtion (95) (95)
Impairment (152) -
Adjusting items (5) -
Fxceptional items (41) (5)
Operating {lossy/profit (25) 135
et finance expenses {&7) (72)
{Loss)/profit before tax (102) 63
Tax charge {4) (60
{Loss)/profit ofter tax (106) 2

1. Revenue for the year ending 31 December 2021 has been restated to reflect a change in accounting

treatment for insurance commissions. See Accounting Policy B for more information.

2. See note 33 for definitions of alternative performance measures.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022



CFO review
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Membership Services breakdown subscription
revenues grew by £41 million, driven by a record
low churn rate of 14.2%, as well as new member
growth, We also saw a strong bounce back on
revenues which were impacted by COVID-19 in
2021 such as Pay on Use schemes and European
Cover as foreign travel grew,

In insurance, alongside the sector we odapted to
the new pricing practices regulations introduced
in January 2022. Revenue decreased by £14
million in the year, with a reduction in Hi offset
by a return to growth in H2 as the business
adjusted, and we benefitted from a stronger
renewal rate and ended the year with growing
member numbers.

Adjusted EBITDA of £260 milliocn was £6 million
higher than 2021. This growth was testament to
the continuing relevance of the service we deliver
despite the broader macro-economic challenges.
Higher demand and inflationary cost increases
were partiaily offset by efficiency improvements.

Depreciation was £22 million (2021: £19 million)
with the increase largely due to leasing costs
of additional vans and recovery vehicles to
support our growing business. Amortisation of
intangible assets amounted to £95 million (202t
E£95 million), representing amortisation of both
acquired intangibles and separately identified
intangible assets, predominantly customer lists,
arising from the business combination in 2014 in
which RAC Bidco Limited acquired the RAC Group
of Companies.

Macro-economic conditions and the effect of
regulatory changes contributed to a non-cash
impairment charge of £152 million against our
Insurance segment. As noted above, GIPP
impacted both ourselves and the wider insurance
market. This was compounded by increasing UK




interest rates having a knock-on effect on
discount rates alongside a more prudent view of
our future insurance cash flows. The impairment
charge is primarily against goodwill arising from
historic business combinations and the brand
intangible asset.

Excepticnal items of £41 million were incurred
during 2022 (2021: £5 million). This primarily
comprised one-off costs relating to the Silver Loke
transaction. Full details are included in note 3.

Net finance expenses of £47 million were incurred
in 2022 (2021: £72 million). This reduction was
primarily due to share proceeds in the Employee
Benefit Trust received from the Silver Lake
transaction, partially offset by changes to our

Consclidated statement of financial position

== Strategic report

debt structure which increased our interest cost,
notably the new £345 million Class B2 Notes
issued in November 2021.

Loss before tax in 2022 was £102 million (2021;
profit of £63 million), predominantly due to the
nan-cash impairment charge of £152 million
referenced above. The tax charge decreased to

£4 million (2021: £61 million). The current tax charge
remained broadly stable at £21 million, whilst

the 2021 deferred tax charge was impacted by a
charge of £49 million due to the effect of future
planned tax rate changes.

2022 2021

£m £m

Goodwill and intangible ossets 1,662 1,860
Contract costs 33 32
Property, plant and equipment 32 35
Right of Use assets 62 54
Trade and other receivabtes 7 401
Trade and other payables (current) (245) {(226)
Net current {liabilitresy/assets (348) 250
Borrowings (non-current) (1,358) 1,660)
Shareholders” equity (128) 308

As at 31 December 2022, goodwill and intangible assets amounted to £1,662 million (2021: £1,8560 million)
primarily representing the goodwill, brand and customer lists recognised on the acquisition of the RAC
Group of Companies in 2014, The movement of £198 million (2021 £54 million) primarily reflects impairment
(as discussed above) and amortisation in the period of customer acquisition intangibles, with additions and
amortisation of capitolised software development costs offsetting during the year.

Contract costs of £33 million are similar to last year (2021: £32 million} and relate to commissions and fees
paid to third parties, arising because of a direct sale of an insurance policy.

RAC Bideo Limited | Annual Peport & Financiul Slulements 2042 17



CFO review
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Property, plant and equipment of £32 million as
at 31 December 2022 (2021: £35 million) relates to
owner-occupied property, fixtures and fittings and
computer hardware across the Group.

Right of Use assets of £62 million (2021: £56
million) relate to IFRS 16 *Leases’ and comprise
vehicles and properties. The £6 million increase
primarily reflects additional lease vehictes in
excess of depreciation.

Trade and other receivables of £71 million (2021
£401 million) are primarily comprised of receivables
of £43 million (2021: £3% million) and prepayments
and accrued income of £28 million {2021: £17

Chris, patral since 2010, North Waest

million). In 2021, this figure included £345 million
in amounts due from related parties in relation to
the class B2 debt contingent on the ciosing of the
Silver Lake transaction. Following compietion of
the Silver Lake transaction these amounts have
now been settled.

Current trade and other payables of £245 million
(2021: £2246 million) predominantly represent
deferred income of £137 million (2021: £129 million)
relating to subscriptions revenue received in
advance, and £108 million (2021: £97 miillion) of
trade payables, accruals and other payables.




The Group has net current liabilities of £348
million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: net current
assets of £250 million). The movement largely
represents £345 millinn of amounts due from
related parties in relation to the Class B2 bond
issuanhce, which was received in year and were
subsequently paid as a dividend, alongside £300
million in relation to the Class Al bonds which are
due for repayment in less than one year and as
such are now recorded as a current liability.

~= Strategic report

The capital structure of the Group consists of
third-party bank borrowings net of capitalised
finance costs amounting to £422 million (2021:
£420 million) and bonds 1ssued of £1,246 million
(2021 £1,250 million}. The Group remains strongly
cash generative and in September 2022 we
successfully secured a £300 million senior

term facility which is available to refinance

the £300 million of Class Al Notes due to

mature in May 2023.

Facility Rate/

Due Commitment Fee 31-Dec-22
Class Al Notes May 2023/2046 4.565% 300
Class A2 Notes May 2026/2046 4.870% 600
Class B2 Notes November 2027 5.250% 345
2020 Senior Term Facility January 2025 LIBOR plus CAS plus 2.5% 161
2021 Senicr Term Facility (A) June 2025 SONIA plus 1.8% 170
2021 Senior Terrn Facility (B) Jure 2028 SONIA plus 25% 95
Working Capital Facility January 2025 LIBOR plus CAS plus 2.5% 5
Prawn Debt 1,676
Working Capitat Facility Januory 2025 1000% 45
Liguidity Facility April 2023 1125% 90
Senior Term Facility May 2025 0500% 300
Undrawn Debt 435
Total Debt 211

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022 19
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CFO review
For the year ending 31 December 2022

The third-party borrowings are subject to covenants as follows:

2 The Senior Term Facilities, Class Al Notes and Class A2 Notes (together *Class A Debt*) are subject to
one financial covenant, being the ratio of free cash flow to Class A Debt service charges.

2> The Closs B2 Notes ("Class B Debt") are also subject to one financial covenant, being the ratio of free
cash flow to the aggregate of Class A Debt service charges and Class B Debt service charges.

At 31 December 2022 the Group had comfortable {evels of headroom against both financial covenants and
has complied with these financial covenants throughout the periods since issue.

Consnlidoted statcment of cash flows

2022 2021

£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 136 113
Adjusted net cash flows from eperating activities 223 226
Adjusting items {49 -
Net cash flows from operating activities 174 226
Interest paid (83} (68)
Net increose in cash and cash equivalents 23 7

The Group generated o net cash inflow from
operating activities of £174 million (2021; £226
million). This decrease is primarily due to @
payment of £22 million to HMRC on a without
prejudice basis in relation to an ongeing dispute,
reducing potential future interest obligations,
and £20 millien cash impact of exceptional items,
both shown as adjusting items above. Adjusted
operating cash conversion was 86% (2021; 89%).
See note 33 of the financial statements for

more information.

Interest poid was £83 million (2021: £68 million),
higher than prior year, refiecting a full year of
interest on the £345 million Class B2 Notes issued

in November 2021 and increases in interest rates
partiolly mitigated by our interest rate hedging.

Capital investment totalled £54 million in the year
(2021: £49 million). £26 million of spend related

to customer acquisition intangibles and contract
costs (2021: £24 million), following the growth in
members in the year. The remaining £28 million
(2021: £25 million) relates to investment and
maintenance projects as we continued to invest in
our digital offerings and improvements to service.
Consistent capital spend ensures that we remain
well positioned to accelerate the development

of our digital capabilities which will support our
vision and future growth plans.
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Indy,
mobile mechanic since 2022,
West Midlands

With the growing consumer trend of 'To You' services, in 2022 we tested the concept in the
West Midlands of bringing the garage to our members, expanding the services we offer
beyond our traditional breakdowns. We now undertake mobite EV, petrol and diesel car
servicing and a range of maintenance and repair tasks on members’ drives. This removes
the hassle and disruption of taking your car to the garage and is delivered with the RAC
peace of mind guarantee,

4
We have seen good early take up and fantastic customer feedback (4.8 cut of 5 rating) ‘
further demonstrating the power of the RAC brand and the complementary nature of our
mobile workforce and our garage network.

This early success has resulted in the establishment of a new Service, Maintenance and
Repair division of the RAC, combining our new offering with our existing mobile teams
for Vehicle Recalls and Inspections and our 1100+ strong RAC garage network. This is an
exciting area with significant growth potential in a £13bn SMR market.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annugl Report & Financial Statements 2022 2
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Key Performance Indicators (*KPIs")

The financial and non-financial KPIs set out in the table below are fundamental to the RAC business and
reflect focus on the drivers of value that will enable the management team to achieve the RAC s hiisinass
plans. strategic aims, and objeclives.

2022 202
Statutory revenue {£my! 8659 632
Adjusted revenue {(£m)'2 bb4 632
Adjusted EBITDA (Erm) 23 260 254
Statutory operating {less)/profit {Em} (55) 135
Net cash flows generated from operating activities (Emy) 174 226
Adiusted operating cash conversion (%)? 86 82
Number of breakdowns {millicn} 24 23
Rocdside repair rate (%)* 809 817
Consumer Breakdown churn rate (56)° 14.2 14.5
Total members (million} 13.0 129
Membership Services - Consumer (thousand) 2,656 2,563
Membership Services - Business (thousand) 9,763 G584
Insurance {thousand) 623 704

'Revenue for the year ending 31 December 2021 has been restated to reflect a change in accounting treatment for
insurance commissions. See Accounting Policy B for more information.

?See note 33 for definitions of alternative performance measures.

3Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisotion and exceptional items. The Board believes that the use of EBITDA
pre-exceptional items gives o better indication of the underlying performance of the group. This is consistent with how
business performance is measured internalty

“The number of customers fixed at roadside as g proportion of total breakdowns excluding Road Traffic Collisions.

*The percentage of members leaving as a proportion of opening filesize plus acquisitions, measured over a rolling

12 month period.

The Group also uses o range of other financial and non-financial performance indicators to
monitor performance.

Given our resilient trading performance in spite of the challenges created by the wider macro-economic
environment, | am confident that the Group continues to be well positioned for further growth in 2023.
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Against a tough macro-economic backdrop, we were delighted that more Members decided
to renew their membership with the RAC. In 2022 we broke new records with our customer
churn of 14.2%, a 0.3% improvement on 2021.

Whilst we have needed to protect against inflationary pressures, it's great that so many
customers have recognised the benefit of the enhanced peace of mind they receive and
have voted with their feet to Stay Orange. Even in a cost-of-living crisis across the UK this is
a sign of the sustainability of our member base.

Our continual refinement of our breakdown packages means we are always able to offer
members the right level of cover at a price they are happy to pay. In addition, over a quarter
of our Consumer customer base have now benefited from our RAC Rewards program since
it taunched, saving mere than £11 million RRP.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statemenls 2022 23
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Strategic management
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Principal activity:

The RAC Group is a driving services subscription business, providing a

differenliuted range of driving and mobility related services, principally
breakdéwn assistunce, for consumer and business members, and retait
motor insurance products underwritten by a panel of leading insurers.

26  Business model
28 Our markets
31  Our strategy
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Strategic management
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Business model

Our business model is built around providing
complete peace of mind to our members and
becoming the UK's number one for driving
services. We are set up to deliver long-term
sustainable growth from our loyal base of
subscription members, underpinned by a quality
member experience, enabled by our colleagues
and increasingly by our digital platferms

and data.

In Membership Services for Consumers, we
provide breakdown cover and a broad range of
exclusive optional extras to individual members
and small business owners on either an annual
or monthly subscription basis. We also offera
range of related service, maintenance and repair
services both in conjunction with partners and,
from 2022, directly via RAC Mobile Mechanics.

From 2023, the service, maintenance and repair
activities which have been part of our Consumer
Breakdown business will form a separate division
in Membership Services; Service, Maintenance and
Repair. This will ensure the leadership and focus
required to accelerate our journey to becoming
the UK's number one for driving services.

Market analysts have recognised that the

RAC's proposition is both differentiated and
market-leading. We acquire members through

a range of channels including via our website,
contact centres, price comparison websites, direct
sales agents, and multiple partners and affiliates.
We focus on growing the base through new
member acquisitions, increasing the number of
products held per member and delivering great
service and fair pricing to maximise retention.

In Membership Services for Business, we provide
assistance for breakdown and accidents, and
technical and member support services to
individuals through our partners, which are
leading motor manufacturers, banks, insurance
companies and fleets. These are typically
tong-term relationships, with contracts renewing
every three to five years, but most partners have
a far longer history with us. Our service can

be provided as either an annual or monthly
subscription, or as a pay-on-use service.

We focus on winning new partners and working
with existing partners to profitably grow the
member base, while driving additional value
through cross-sell of related automotive products
and services.

Qur innovation in automotive services means
that almost 20% of our business revenue is now
derived from non-breakdown services.




We continue to expand the services we offer to
corporate partners, such as undertaking “recatlls”
campaigns on their behalf, inspecting their
vehicles and by providing award-winning branded
customer contact-centres.

Our breakdown service is delivered 24/7 by an
outstanding team of dedicated patrols and front-
line colleagues. Through aur ongoing investment
in training and development, we continue to
deliver the strong levels of member service that
distinguish us positively from our competitors,
supporting better retention rates

and sustainable business growth.

Market-leading technical innovations and
investments like the RescueMe app and additional
recovery vehicles mean cur patrol fleet continues
to lead the industry and benefits from a unique
and comprehensive capability to carry ocut
effective repairs at the roadside, or to recover
members’ vehicles if required.

2 Strateqic report

Our unique EV offering, incorporating our

EV Boost technology and patrol EV experience,
is enakling us to win business from the
competition, as our EV vision aligns with future
thinking OEMs, fleets and leasing companies
making the switch to electric.

In Insurance, we offer primarily motor and
telematics insurance policies through price
comparison websites. As a broker, we work with

a panel of leading underwriters and leverage our
unique and differentiated data assets and data
science capabilities to obtain competitive rates for
our members, leading the thinking on how to help
insurers price better for risk.

Coupled with the investments we have made
in putting Insurer Hosted Pricing into our panel
(enabling us to get more competitive quotes

in reol time), and our own in-house pricing
capabilities which were significantly improved
during 2022, we are in a robust position to
continue to acquire and retain new members.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annugl Report & Financial Staternents 2022
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Qur markets

Qur core markets are breakdown and motor
insurance. We have taken initial steps into the
service, maintenance and repair market in 2022,

In breakdown we have an overall market share of
arcund 38%.

Qur breakdown service is already supported by
the largest garage network in the UK with over
1,100 RAC approved and accredited garages,
providing RAC-backed vehicle repairs nationwide.

The service, maintenance and repair

market is targe and highly fragmented. RAC
members already spend significantly in that
market, and we are well placed to offer the
convenience, affordability and trust that smaller
operators cannot.

The RAC is in a very smoll mincrity of businesses
that can leverage their existing revenue model,
fleet and highly qualified cotleagues to also
take advantage of the subscription based,
‘mobile” service, maintenance and repair
market apportunity.

In motor insurance we currently hold less than
1% market share but are in o strong position to
achieve growth; the motor insurance market has

£18bn

Core markets

£40bn

UK driving
services market

experienced disruption this year following the
introduction of the FCA’s new rules in January
2022 seeking to equalise prices between new
and renewing customers. Now that the market
is rebalancing as consumer behaviour adapts to
those rules, we have adapted our pricing models
and use of data to ensure we remain highly
competitive for all our members.

The motor insurance market continues to be
dominated by Price Comparison Websites where
the RAC is competitive for its chosen segments
and consumers show a tendency to choose our
trusted brand over cheaper, less trusted providers,

In recent years, the services we offer have proved
increasingly relevant.

Current pressure on consumers’ discretionary
spend is unlikely to abate in the near term,
so demand is increasing for no surprises,
subscription-based models,

Member reliance on cars has increased, with more
people saying that their car is important to them,
and the UK car parc is both growing and aging,
ensuring demand for our core praducts and our
new service, maintenance and repair products
also continues to grow.

£50bn

Future EV, connected
& dota opportunities



In addition, the shift to online retail and
delivery services which grew dramaticatly
during the pandemic has continued, with
more light commercial vehicles on the road
accelerating growth in demand for van and
commercial breakdown.

These are structural consumer behaviour changes
that will mean our strengths as 0 member-
focused, data-rich, convenient subscription
business will only become more important.

Longer-term, structural growth trends in mobility
and advances in automotive technology are
accelerating change, creating ever more complex
vehicles and putting our technical capabilities
even more in demand. We are already seeing

~= Strategic report

changes in the profile of roadside demand and
are investing in and adapting cur operating model
to ensure our members continue to have the best
possible roodside experience as the UK car parc
transitions to more complex vehicles, including
EVs, in the coming decades.

These macre trends present immediate and
longer-term growth opportunities. Throughout

the RAC's 125-year history we have consistently
innovated to help our members and with

more toecls than ever at our disposal - digital,
technology and data - we are perfectly positioned
to make our 13 million valued members’, and every
driver's, life easier.

RAC Bideo Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022 29



30

Strategic management
For the year ending 31 December 2022

-

MyRAC registrations are now at 1.7 million, up 0.4 million in the year as increasingly
members are engaging with us digitally via the app. Many of these are Consumer members,
and we are also now starting to on-board many of our Corperate partner members.

We've been working on exciting new developments to our app. Specifically, the digital
renewals journey will allow members to renew their policy ontine or in the app, avoiding the
need to phone into our contact centre. We also expect to launch further improvements to
the digital breakdown journey including enhancements to the logging and tracking of the
breakdown process.

Member engagement with the app is also expected to increase as we continue to add more
vehicle reminder notifications, as well as plans to add local fuel pricing to the app, the first
of many features to help our members with their daily driving needs. These areas of focus
underpin our vision of being the UK's number one for driving services.



Our strotegy

-z Strategic report

Our vision is to become the UK's number one for
driving services, providing complete peace of mind
for our members’ driving needs.

As we enter the next phase of our growth strategy
that will take us ta 2027 and beyond, we will build
on the sustginable growth of our core Membership
Services and Insurance businesses by expanding
and enhancing the range of driving products and
services for our members.

The key focus of this will be Service, Maintenance
and Repair as a naturat and complementary
extension to our core breakdown and insurance
products. This will allow us to meet more of our
members’ driving needs and deliver longer-term
growth by leveraging the scale of our 13 million
members and grow our member lifetime value.

This means more relevant products and services
per member, delivering operational efficiencies,

Membership enabled by MyRAC

high-quality member experiences and increasing
member retention - which will result In sustainable
compound growth. We will enable this through
our key digital plotform, MyRAC - where we will
promote, sell and fulfil our products and services,
as well as engaging with our members through
helpful and rewarding features and benefits,

To deliver our strategy and achieve our vision,
we have created three key strategic pillars:

> Membership enabled by MyRAC
» Service, Maintenance & Repair

> Accelerating our core products and services

Enabled by MyRAC and puweied by data, RAC membership is at the heart of our business. With it we will
make owning a car casy and more afforduble for all our members. From reporting a breakdown and taking
out insurance to booking a service or MOT - our "go-to” app will be the gateway to all driving needs, at the

touch of a button.

Wr will add additional features bu MyRAC Lu 1uke the hassle out of running car. Everything a member

needs will be in one place, and in their pocket.

We will:

? Integrote oll our propositions in MyRAC giving members a one-stop-shop for all RAC products.

> Engage with more MyRAC members, more often.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Repert & Financial Statements 2022
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Service, Maintenance & Repair

As the UK's number one for driving services, we will offer a broader range of services, meeting all our
members’ driving needs.

This new division witl provide a broader range of services with convenience and choice at the heart, We
will create a new way to approach car care, from the moment of purchase to the point of sale, whether it is
an urgent repair or a scheduled service covered by a comprehensive RAC Service Plan.

We will offer a branded RAC experience with:

¥ New levels of choice and convenience from RAC Mcbile Mechanics offering UK nationwide coverage
where “*We come to you”, and RAC Approved Garages covering 95% of UK postcodes

2 Levels of trust you can get from the RAC
2 Value for money; never more important than now with the current cost of living challenges

QOur offering is not just for consumers members, We are already leading the way with innovative Service,
Maintenance and Repair solutions for business fleets with unigue propositions like mobile EV servicing to
keep our partners on the road.

Accelerating our core products and services

Breakdown, recovery and motor insurance are our core propositions. We will continue to evolve and invest
in our products and services to meet the growing needs of our members and partners, delivering positive
member outcomes and increasingly loyalty which in turn will drive reduce churn and afford sustainable
business growth. We will:

} Expand our proposition ta include Service, Maintenance and Repair add-ons, differentiating our
offering in the markel

3} Capture and leverage more breckdown dato to offer personalised products to cur members
}» Digitalise the member roadside experience

3 Transform some of our operations to speed up deployment and better respond to emerging breakdown
demand trends

2 Use our proprietary insurance risk data to offer highly competitive pricing for our members and
expanding our product offering increasing the number of RAC insurance members

This, combined with MyRAC's content and cenvenience will allow us to unlock opportunities to engage
with more customers, via new channels.
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Chris, patrol since 2010, MNaorth West
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Risk management

The RAC operates an Enterprise Risk Monagement
Framework to ensure that the risks to which

the Group is exposed are identified, measured,
managed, monitored, and reported on a regular
basis. The key instruments of the framework
include the risk management strategy, policies,
risk appetite statements, registers and risk reports,
and the governance and oversight structure.

The RAC has an established governance
fiarnework with the foliowing key elements:

» Aformal Investment Agreement which sets out
the Board terms of reference and delegated
authorities and certain matters which require
the consent of major shareholders.

» Defined terms of reference for the regulated
entity boards and the associated executive
management and other committees across
the Group.

2> Aclear organisational structure with
documented delegated autherities and
responsibilities from the regulated entity
boards to executive management committees
and senior management,

) Allocation of Senior Management Functions,
Prescribed Respaonsibilities, Overall
Responsibitities and Key Functions for
each of our regulated subsidiaries under
the Senior Managers and Certification
Regime, documented in the Management
Responsibilities Map.

2> Avrisk management framework which sets out
risk management and control standards.

RAC operates a ‘Three Lines of

Defence’ model in order to ensure clear

accountability for risk management.

First line

The first line is comprised of
functions which own and manage
risk. Primary respansibility for risk

identification and management
lies with business areas which
form the first line of defence.
Business area management are
responsible for ensuring risks
are appropriately identified,
monitored and managed, and for
reporting on this activity.

Second line

The second line is comprised of
Comptiance and Risk functions
that provide oversight and
odvice on compliance and risk
management. These functlions
provide support for, and challenge
on, the completeness and
accuracy of risk assessment, risk
reporting and the adequacy of
mitigation plans.

Third line

The Group's internal audit
function, reporting to the
Board Risk, Audit & Compliance
Committee, forms the third line
of defence and undertakes a
risk-based audit programme
to independently review and
challenge the policies, processes,
and controls in place across
the business.




Risk Registers are maintgined for each of the
RAC's Business Divisions and Group Functions and
record material risks within each areq, mitigating
actions and controls, as well as any additional
actions that need to be taken to mitigate each
risk. Risk Registers are subject to a formal update
cycle and a summary of the key risks within each
area is reported to the Executive Risk, Audit &
Compliance Committee. The summary of key

risks reported to the Executive Risk, Audit &
Compliance Committee includes a summary of risk
events that have occurred in the pericd.

Gary, patrol since 2017, South West

-z Risk management

A Group Key Risks Register is also in place and is
reviewed with the Executive Team on a regular
basis and is reported in summaory format to the
Board Rigk, Audit & Compliance Committee.

The RAC’s Chief Risk & Legal Officer (*CRQ") is
responsible for leading the risk debate at senior
management level and supporting appropriate
decision-making by providing effective challenge
to both senior management and the business
units, as well as driving enhanced value by
continuing to increase risk capahility and further
embed the RAC's risk culture at all levels across
the business.
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Principal risks

During the course of 2022, the Board and
Executive Risk Committees have continued their
oversight of the principal risks.

The principal risks to the Group are shown
below, along with details of the actions being
taken to address these risks. The key movements
to principal risks are to reflect changes in the
economic outlook and to reflect the risk of the
challenging operating environment affecting

Financial risks

Market risk; The RAC is exposed to interest rate
risk arising primarity on its borrowings. Not all
of our debt is subject to interest rate risk as we
benefit from fixed rotes on a proportion of our
debt. But where we are exposed, this risk is
managed by the RAC using interest rate swap
agreements to hedge the variability of cash
flows associated with changes in interest rates
in relation to these borrowings as set out in
note 29(i).

The RAC is also exposed to risks from fluctuations
in its suppty chain. Most notably, fuel prices,
which can lead to significantly increased
operating costs. This risk is managed through

our central procurement team and by ensuring
our commercial and legal arrangements give an
appropriate amount of certainty about future
costs. For fuel, this risk is managed by the RAC
using forward purchases of fuel, typically for

a period of up to twelve months to hedge the
variability of cash flows associated with the
purchasing of fuel for use in the RAC’s operational
fleet of patrols and recovery vehicles.

qguality of service. In addition, we have included
new risks in relation to Product Design &
Governance to reflect the increasing regulatory
requirements and scrutiny in this areqg; Climate
Change, responding to the increasing importance
of sustainability and the regulatory requirements
and disclosures in this area and Debt Leverage.
Whilst we do not perceive the level of debt

as a principal risk in its own right, we have
included given the challenging macro-economic
environment affecting the wider debt

capital markets.

The RAC has limited exposure to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates and there is an element of
natural hedges in relation to exposure on Euros
where sales ond purchases will offset agaoinst
one another to some extent. However, the RAC
continues to monitor its exposure and will take
steps to mitigate its exposure should the value
and volume of foreign currency transactions
materially increase in the future.

Credit risk: Is the risk of loss in value of financial
assets due to counterparties failing to meet all or
part of their obligations when they fall due.

The RAC's management of credit risk is carried
out in accordance with Group credit risk
processes which include setting exposure limits
and manitoring of exposures in accordance with
ratings set by credit roting agencies such as
Standard & Poor’s.

The RAC also undertakes credit checks on certain
customers and suppliers. The RAC’s Material
Outsourcing and Key Supplier policy sets out
ongoing requirements to monitor the RAC's most
critical third parties.



Liquidity risk: Is the risk that the RAC will
encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations
associated with its financial liabilities when they
fall due.

The RAC manages this risk through ensuring that
it has sufficient liquid funds generated from its
operations to meet its expected obligations as
they fall due. This is achieved through detailed
short-term cash forecasting and management

in addition to maintaining an agreed buffer of
surplus cash. In order to further mitigate this risk,
the Group maintains a significant but undrawn
borrowing facility from its banking syndicate.

Capitat & funding risk: The RAC maintains an
efficient capital structure comprising equity
shareholders’ funds and third-party borrowings,
consistent with its overall risk profile and the
regulatory and market requirements of the
business (see the Consclidated stotement of
financial position on page 122},

- Risk manggement

In managing its capital, the RAC seeks to:

2> Motch the expected cash inflows from its
assets with the expected cash outflows from
its liabilities as they fall due.

> Maintain financial strength to support
new business growth and to satisfy the
requirements of its members and regulators.

? Retain financial flexibility by maintaining
strong liquidity.

? Allocate capital efficiently to support growth
and release or redeploy excess caplital
where appropriate.

The Group includes regulated companies which
are required to hold sufficient capital to meet
acceptable solvency levels based on applicable
FCA (Financial Conduct Authority) and PRA
(Prudential Regulation Autharity) regulations. The
Group’s ability to transfer retained earnings to its
shareholders is therefore restricted to the extent
that these earnings form part of UK regutatory
capital, as well as by restrictions and covenants
under the Class A and Class B debt.

The Group has been in complionce with the
solvency requirements and debt covenants
throughout the period and no restrictions on
dividends have been applied.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Statements 2022
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Jonny, Finance & Legal since 2004




Operational resilience

The Group defines this risk as the risk that the
RAC and its key third parties are not able to
withstand the impact of unexpected events
arising externally (e.g. pandemic, loss of buildingy},
failure of business essential assets, operational
failure of RAC / third-party IT or communication
systems which could result in the RAC being
unable to deliver services to customers and
increased risk of reputational damage.

This risk is mitigated through our defined and
embedded Business Continuity and Crisis
Management frameworks, These processes were
well-tested during COVID-19 and allowed the
Group to rapidly react to changes in alert levels
and ensure that the business continued to
operate safely and effectively.

The Group also manages this risk by employing
specialist teams to manage the operation and
resilience of its IT systems and by having clear
change management processes. The Group also
has various programmes of work in progress

to continuously improve its T infrastructure to

Brand / reputational risk

The Group defines this as the risk of a fall in
market share, enterprise value or customer
demand due to reputational damage.

Reputational domage could arise from mistakes or
misconduct, or allegations thereof, by its patrols
and other employees, contractors or agents, or
poor customer service, including any high-profile
incidents which attract media interest. A decline in
the favourable recognition of the RAC brand could
impact its ability to attract or retain members or
other customers, which could have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

The Group manages this risk by continuing
to focus on ensuring that customers receive
excellent service.

= Risk manggement

support its strategy and tc improve ongeing
operational resilience.

In addition, the Group continues to undertake
a proegramme of work to address FCA, PRA and
Bank of England requirements on Operational
Resilience which has included:

} |dentifying the Group's ‘Important Business
Services’ (IBS).

2> Asset mapping these I1BS to identify the
people, processes, places, and technology
which support them.

» Identifying und testing ‘severe but plausible’
scenarios that could impuact the IBS to ensure
minimal disruption to our members if they
were to occur and to identify any areas where
resilience could be improved.

The first stage of this work was completed in
March 2022 in line with the required regulatory
timescales and the Group continues to evolve
its approach to the implementation of these
requirements ahead of the next regulatory
deadline of March 2025.

Service levels and customer satisfaction are
regularly monitored to ensure the Group continues
to deliver the high level of service expected. The
Group also regularly monitors other key brand
metrics to ensure no material harm is caused to

its reputation or commercial performance through
damage to the RAC brand.

The Group has in place appropriate committees
and other forums to ensure that risks to

good customer outcomes are identified and
mitigated, and that customer complaints are
being addressed appropriately. In addition, the
Group maintains brand guidelines and approval
processes and a specific entity (RAC Brand
Enterprises LLP) has responsibility for ensuring the
appropriate use of the brand.

RAC Bideo Limited | Annucl Report & Financial Statemeants 2022
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Regulatory / conduct risk

The Group defines this as the risk of failure to
comply with current regulatory requirements
applying Llu Lhe business, the risk of faling to
ensure that risks to good customer outcomes
are identified and mitigated, or risk that future
changes in regulatory requirements have an
adverse impact on the RAC.

Failure to comply with relevant regulations or
to implement regulatory change could result

in customer delriment, regulatory enforcement
and/or significant brand/reputational damage
to the RAC. Regulatory change could also have
an adverse impact on the RAC, for example, by
Impacting on the commercial model, trading or
the economics of the business.

) Gamma, HR since 2018
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To mitigate these risks the Group has clear
governance procedures in place in order to
identify and monitor any emerging risks and to
ensure that controls are in place to minimise the
risk of any legal/compliance failure or breach. The
Group also has specialist committees and working
groups in place with responsibility for oversight of
specific areas of regulatory or conduct risk, such
as Board and Executive Risk, Audit & Compliance
Committees, and a Conduct Risk Committee.

The Group also employs regulatory aned
compliance specialists to ensure that the
regulatory and legislative requirements

are adhered to. Legislative and regulatory
developments are monitored and assessed in
order that the Group can adapt to any changes
well in advance of their implementation and
minimise any commercial impact. The RAC
provides regular training and briefings to its
employees to ensure a customer-centric and
compliant culture exists throughout the business.




The Group strives to maintain a positive and
open relatienship with the FCA, PRA, ICO and
other regulators.

The KAC's breakdown assistance business is
currently operated under an exemption from
requiring insurance business authorisation, Any
change in law, regulation or in interpretation of
law or regulation could result in this business
needing to be carried out by a regulated insurer
which could significantly increase the costs of
the business.

The RAC implemented a wide range of requiatory
driven changes required as a result of the FCA's
final report on its market study into the pricing

of home and motor insurance which introduced

a package of changes to enhance competition,
ensure consumers receive fair value, and increase
trust in these markets. A full suite of product
reviews were conducted under the new product
governance rules for the first time in 2022 which
demonstrated that RAC products are offering fair
vatue to customers.

The work undertaken on product governance
forms a solid basis upon which to continue to
evolve the RAC’s governance and culture and to
ensure the RAC is well placed to implement the
new Consumer Duty rules by July 2023 and other
forthcoming regulatory requirements.

Information security & data protection risk

The Group defines this as the risk of failure to
manage the evolving data risks presented to the
RAC by external and internal threats including
cyber-attacks and non-compliance with data
protection laws.

Failure to manage these risks could result in
large scale or long-term data loss, cyber related
operational disruption, fines, or censure from
the ICO and other regulotors and associated
reputational and finoncial costs.

The RAC is committed to ensuring that its
information assets are secure and protected from
potential threats. The Group has specialist teams in

~%Risk management

place to ensure the appropriate recording, storage,
safeguarding and usage of data and operates a
number of controts and procedures to ensure full
compliance with laws and requlations inclyding
the General Data Protection Regulation (*GDPR”).

The Group continues to enhance its processes
and controls in this area. Regular training and
briefings are provided to employees to ensure
that information security and data protection
obligations are understood and embedded across
the organisation.

Health and safety risk

The Group defines this as the risk of serious injury
or death of employees, members or third parties
from road traffic collisions. The RAC recognises
that health and safety is an essential part of its
responsibility towards its employees and all those
affected by its business activities and health

and safety considerations are of the utmost
importance to the Board, the Executive Team and
across the Group. The Group's roadside operations
necessarily require attendance by patrols or
third-party contractors to inspect and repair
members’ vehicles at the roadside which will
inherently regularly involve high-risk situations.

The Group has a health and safety management
system which is mandatory in all areos of the
business, and which enables all levels of line
management to understand the health and
safety aspects of their activities and applicable
legislation. The Group also has a specialist Health
& Safety function to promote the importance

of Health & Safety across the business and to
maonitor compliance with Group policies and safe
working practices and audit Health & Saofety
performance. The Health and Safety function
works closely with the business to provide training
and to implement specific campaigns and key
initiatives. In addition, the Group's Health & Safety
Committees meet on a regular basis to review
reports and take action to address any issues with
a potential impact on health and safety.
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Strategy & business model

The Group defines this risk as the risk of

direct or indirect adverse effects on the

long term sustaimability ol e Loinpany resulting
from strategies not being optimally chosen,
implemented or adapted to changing long-term
trends in the market, including those relating

to changes in vehicle technology.

The RAC has a ¢lear vision be the UK's number
one for driving services.

The Group plans to expand its overall market
through further development of its Service
Maintenance & Repair (SMR) products and
services, to meet the broader driving needs

of members. These products will be delivered
through the RAC Approved Garage Network and
via the RAC's growing fleet of Mobile Mechanics.

In addition, the Group plans to further accelerate
the growth of the core business in order to
continue to deliver consistent and sustainable
EBITDA growth. Growth will also be supported

by the continuing development of its digital
capabilities, including the MyRAC app which
members can use to access a range of services at
the touch of a button.

These plans will also embrace the opportunities
presented by changes in the car industry,

including the growth in electric, hybrid, connected

and ultimately autonomous vehicles.

Market share & margin

The Group defines this risk as the failure to deliver
a competitively priced and compelling proposition,
or to acquire and retain new customersin
competitive market, which could result in a
decline in breakdown or insurance market share
and margin.

The Group continues to invest in its products and
data, including widening the product set and
channels through which they are distributed,
with a focus on clear product differentiation and
leveraging our data to benefit members. The
Group has continued to see overall membership
growth in the last twelve months. Membership
in the insurance business declined slightly in
the first half of the year, but the actions taken in
that period achieved a return to growth in the
secend half.




Economic outiook

The Group defines this risk as the risk of recession
or inflation impacting en the propensity of
Lunsunigls und/ur cotporate customers to
purchase breakdown assistance products and
other RAC products and services, and the cost

of providing those services, leading to @ material
drop in profits and cash balonces.

Despite the wider economic context in 2022, the
Group has continued to achieve profitable growth
and the Group has also proved to be extremely
resilient during both previous ecanomic downturns
and the initial economic downturn arising

from COVID-19.

The Group mitigates risks arising from the
macro-economic conditions by ensuring that it
moniters a range of key economic indicators of

Quality of service

The Group defines this risk as the risk that
customers receive poor service from their dealings
with the RAC across any of the RAC’s customer
facing channels.

The effect of this could result in adverse
customer outcomes, reduced retention
rates of our consumer members and loss of
corporgte partners.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group builds
internal demand forecasts tc ensure appropriate
levels of resource are in place to deliver excellent
service for members. The Group continues to
evolve the systems and processes it uses to
deploy patrols to customers to further improve
the custcmer experience.

-=Risk management

customer behaviour to ensure that the RAC can
respond and adapt quickly to emerging trends and
changing requirements of customers.

Ihe Group maintains active dialogue and

good relationships with its colleagues, unions
and supplier network and works closely with

all stakeholders to manage its cost base and
pricing strategy appropriately in the context of
inflation. Colleague reward is reviewed annually
and incregses are applied to ensure that it is
appropriate both in the context of inflation

and the wider market. The Group ensures that
appropriate KPIs are in place and are regularly
monitored, undertaking stress tests and planning
scenarios, as well as ensuring that it has a strong
cash position. Ongoing reviews of the Group
strategy also ensure that it remnains appropriate in
view of prevailing economic conditions.

In addition, various programmes of work are in
progress to improve operational processes to
improve its overall efficiency and effectiveness
and to deliver the target customer experience,
including the digitalisation of the process for
customers to notify the RAC of g breakdown.

In commaon with the rest of the breakdown
services industry, during 2022 the Group continued
to experience bigh demand for its services as well
as post-COVID changes to both driving behaviours
and availability of contractors alongside a shift

in the mix of vehicle faults being presented. This
has resulted in 0 number of initiatives to evolve
the forecasting models and business processes to
respond to these changes.
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People risk

The Group defines this risk as the risk of

failure to deliver our strategic plans due to an
inability to attracl new skilled talent, retain
existing colleagues, put in place appropriate
succession plonning, and successfully engage
colleagues across the Group. This could result

in a loss of opportunities, operational disruption
for our customers, and inability to fully execute the
strategy for the business.

In order to mitigate Lhis risk, the Group has
expanded its internal recruitment function

and has manoged to reduce the hiring gap
during 2022. The Group works hard to retain
existing colleagues, with an active reward and
engagement strategy. The RAC utilises succession
planning focused on business-critical roles and
undertakes regular reward benchmarking across
individual business areas.

Product design & governance

The Group defines this risk as the failure to ensure
thot products meet a genuine customer need and
offer fair value and alse to ensure that robust
product governance processes are in place for
products. This new risk was added to the RAC’s
principal risks in 2022 as a result of increasing
regulatory focus in this area.

This risk is mitigated by ensuring that appropricte
product review and sign off processes are in
place as well as a comprehensive structure of
governance forums with responsibility for ensuring
that products deliver fair outcomes. This includes
divisional and executive level Product & Pricing
Forums. The Group also makes use of a wide
range of data to support its ongoing fair value
assessments including competitor landscape,
customer feedback, value measures data and the
output of complaints root cause analysis.

Climate change

The Group defines this risk as the potential adverse
impact of ‘Transitional’ and *Physical’ climate
change risks on the RAC's strategy, financial
targets, business model and/or, operations/sites.
This new risk was added to the RAC's principal
risks in 2022 to ensure that the business has
sustainability as a core part of its strategy.

The Group mitigates this risk through the regular
assessment of the material risks to the business
presented by climate change. The Group
continues to develop its ESG Strategy which

is overseen by the Group ESG Committee and
intends to put in place a decarbonisation plan
with associated strategy, targets and timelines
during 2023. The Group also continues to
implement and embed regulatory requirements
in relation to climate change risk management,
namely the Taskforce for Climate Related
Firancial Disclosures ("TCFD") requirements
and the PRA ‘Financial risks from climate
change’ requirements.

This risk is also defined as the risk of the RAC
damaging the environment in which it operates.
As a motoring organisation we are aware

of our environmental impact, with roadside
operations being our highest contributor to
carbon emissions. We have attained 1SO14001
Environmental Management System accreditation
across the whole of our operation and use a risk
management process to identify and address
environmental issues resulting from our business.

QOur environmental management system focuses
on the following areas:

> Identifying opportunities to reduce fuel
consumption and cut greenhouse gas
emissions from our fleet and in our offices.

? Minimising the amount of waste we create,
recycle where we can and avoid waste going
to landfill.

¥ Reducing our demand for water and the
amount of water that is lost or wasted on
our premises.



Chris, Operations since 1989

Debt leverage

The RAC defines this as the risk associated with
debt leverage, including inability to repay or
refinance debt at maturity and failure to service
debt, leading to the business being unable to
continue as a going concern. This new risk was
added to the RAC’s principatl risks in 2022 in
response to changes in the wider debt markets.

~=Risk management

The RAC is well-placed to manage this risk

as it undertakes regular reviews of financing
options, with contingency plans in place where
appropriate. Stress-testing is also completed and
the Group has access to working capital and
liquidity facilities which are deemed to provide
access to sufficient cash to cover commitments
as they fall due.
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Task Farce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures

Introduction

Global temperatures are currently on a trajectory
to increase by 4°C above pre-industrial levels by
2100. The RAC have included this global threat
of climate change as a principal risk to our
business operations and have therefore made a
commitment to be net zero by 2050 at the latest.
Work has commenced to further define what

net zero means for the RAC, set clear climate-
related targets and milestones for the business,
and to identify opportunities to achieve net zero
in advance of 2050, This includes working with
specialist consultants to develop science-based
targets. These plans will be completed in 2023,
and will align with the carbon reduction targets
set out in the Paris Agreement which aims to (imit
global temperature increase to well below 2°C,
preferably to 1.5°C compared to pre-industrial
levels in line with the Paris Agreement.

We welcome the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations
and are committed to driving continuous
improvements through our risk management
process to enhance our assessment of the
potential implications of climate change on our
business and its operations.

Having elected to voluntarily early adopt many
of the recommendations in 2022, this is our first
year of reporting climate-related disclosures.
Climate related financial disclosures will become
mandatory for the Group from FY 2023 and we
wiil te further developing our reporting to be fully
consistent with TCFD recommended disclosures
in the next reporting period. While there is

more work to do, we have made substantial
progress this year in developing our detailed
understanding of the potential impact of climate-
related risks and opportunities, Climate-related
issues are proactively monitored and managed
through full integration into the Group’s existing
risk management process. Scenario analysis



capabilities have also been developed to help us
better understand the potential impact of climate
on the Group's operations, financial performance
and strategy.

We have assessed the impact of climate risks
and opportunities on our income statement
and statement of financial position and have
concluded thaot it is hard to isolate any material
impact on the financial statements for the year
ending 3t December 2022. The impact of risks

Table 1.0 TCFD recommendations Index

= Risk management

and opportunities on future financial statements,
in the medium- and long-term, are considered
potentially more material if action is not taken to
mitigate them, and are detailed in the following
sections.

The sections below set out the detail on the
ways risks and opportunities are assessed
and managed, in accordance with the
TCFD recommendations.

Section Recommendations Section
a} Describe the board’s oversight of climate-related risks 1
and opportunities. )
1. Governance
b) Describe monagement's role in assessing and managing 12
climate-related risks and opportunities ’
a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organisation 21
has identified over the short, medium, ond long-term :
b} Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on 2.2
2. Strategy the organisation's businesses, strateqgy, and financial planning ’
¢) Describe the resilience of the crganisation’s strategy, taking into
consideration different climate-relcted scenarios, including o 2°C 2.3
or lower scenario
a} Describe the organisation's processes for identifying and assessing a1
clirmate-related risks ’
b} Describe the organisaticn’s processes for managing 32
3. Risk Management climate-related risks ’
¢) Describe how processes for identifying, assessing, and managing
climate-related risks are integrated into the organisation's overal! 33
risk management
a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to assess
chmaote-reloted risks and opportunities inline with 1ts strategy 41
and risk manggement process
4. Metrics & Targets b} Disclose Scope |, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse 42
gas (GHG) emissions, and the related risks ’
¢} Describe the targets used by the organisation to mancage climate- 43

related risks and opportunities and performance against targets
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1. Governance

1.1. Board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities

The RAC has o streng established governance framework, allowing the Boards, management committees
and senior management to integrate climate-related risks and opportunities into our strategy, decision

making and business processes.

Table 11 TCFD related governance structure

RAC Group Board

Establishes purpose, sets strategic goals, monitors and oversees progress

against climate targets and ambitions for the group

[+}]
(5]
c
g
b The Regulated Entities Board
>
=N Ensures that the climate targets and ambitions are appropriate in the context of the regulated entities
L
a
g Board Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee Board Environmental, Social and
a Oversight of the overall cimate change Governance ('ESG’) Commitiee
risk and opportunity assessment and of Reviewing and approving the detailed assessment
TCFD compliance of material risks and oppertunities from ckmate

change and of the Group's TCFD compliance

Group Executive Executive Risk, Audit & Group CFO
Responsible for the Compliance Committee Accountable to the
implementation of the Oversight of overall RAC Group Board for
Group’s climate strategy climate change risk the implementation
assessment of the Group's chimate

change strategy. Senior
Mangoger responsible for
climate-related financial
risk under the Senior
Manager's regme

Mancgement level governance

Management Working Groups (led by Head of ESG)

Chief Risk
& Lega! Officer

Reviewing and
challenging the climate
change risk and
oppertunity assessment
undertaken by the
Executive Team and
the Board




RAC Group Board

The RAC Group Board has ultimate responsibility
for ensuring that climate-related risks and

uppun lWNilies are identified and manoged
effectively. Specifically, the Board ensures that
the ESG Committee has a clear focus on potential
climate-related risks and opportunities, their
asscciated management, control, and mitigation,
and that disclosure requirements have been
satisfied. The RAC Group Board will be kept
informed of climate related issues through
reparting fram the ESG Committee and the
Board Risk, Audit & Complionce Committee.

The Regulated Entities Board

The role of the Regulated Entities Board is to
provide appropriate governance and oversight

of climate related issues in the subsidiaries of

the Group which are subject to FCA and/or PRA
jurisdiction, namely RAC Motoring Services, RAC
Financial Services Limited ond RAC Insurance
Limited. The Regulated Entities Beard is chaired
by an independent non-executive director, and its
other members are four of the Group's executive
directors being the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, the Chief Marketing and People
Officer and CEO Business Roadside, the Group's
Non-Executive Chairman and two additional
independent Non-Executive Directors.

Board Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee

The Board Risk, Audit & Compliance Committee
oversees ali aspects of financiol, regulatory, and
operational risk, including the long-term risk to the
Group from climate change. The Beard Risk, Audit
& Compliance Committee meets a minimum of 3
times a year.

~z Risk management

Environmental, Social & Governance
(ESG) Committee

The Group Board has established an ESG
Committee which is responsible for oversight of
the Group’s ESG strategy, including the Group's
response to climate-related risks and opportunities
and overseeing progress towards climate-related
goals and targets. The ESG Committee is chaired
by the Group CFO with attendance from the CEQ,
at least one non-executive director from CVC,

GIC and Silver Lake, the independent chair of

the Regulated Entities Board and members of

the RAC’s senior management team, as required.
The ESG Committee demonstrates the Board’s
commitment to promoting the long-term success of
the Company through having clear responsibitities
allocated to ensure ESG is fully embedded
throughout the Group and that progress is
communicated regularly to all stakeholders. The
ESG Committee meets a minimum of 3 times a
year and will review management’s assessment of
the risks and opportunities from climate change
annually. The outcome of reviews may include the
reprioritisation of risks or apportunities, challenge
to their potential financial impact or actions to
assess current risk mitigation plons and strategies
to maximise opportunities.

Further details on the composition and
responsibilities of the Group Board, Board Risk,
Audit & Compliance Committee and the ESG
Committee are provided in the Governance Report
on page 72.

The introduction of climate-related considerations
into the Group’s decision making continues

to develop and evolve. This year, the impact

of climate-reloted risks and oppartunities has
been further integrated into the Group’s risk
management process, strategy setting and
long-term business planning. The process will be
further refined and expanded in 2023 to assess
the impact of climate change on future major
capital investments and projects.
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1.2. Management’s role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board ond its Committees work closely

with scnior Manayers Lu ussess und tdnuge
climate-related issues, providing oversight and
direction to the Management Working Groups via
the Executive, Group CFQ and Chief Risk &

Legal Officer.

Group Executive

The Group Executive input into the overall
assessment of the key risks and opportunities
through a rebust review of the TCFD

Working Group’s climate-related risk and
opportunity register.

The Executive includes representatives from all
the Group's operational and functional business
units who will use this forum to roise and
collectively assess the impact of any emerging
risk or opportunity specific to their division. These
risks will also be captured on the associated
Executive’s divisional risk register.

Executive Risk, Audit & Complionce Committee

The Executive Risk, Audit & Compliance
Committee has respensibility for oversight of the
overall assessment of climate-related risks and
opportunities. Each Executive member has the
opportunity to review and input into the overall
description and rating of the key climate change
risks and opportunities, and to challenge any
proposed actions being taken to address these
risks or capitalise on the opportunities.

Group CFO

The Group CFO has responsibility for overseeing,
managing, and setting the Group’s ESG strategy
and agenda, which includes the challenge and
review that the financial risks and opportunities
from climate-retated change are identified and
managed effectively.

Management Working Groups

The TCFD Working Group is multi-disciplinary,
including Group Risk & Compliance who manage
the integration of climate risk into the overall risk
management framework and Group Finance who
support the business to understand the financial
impacts of net zero and ensure compliance with
disclosure requirements.

We have also appointed a Head of ESG who

will be responsible for co-ordinating the day

to day delivery of ESG initiatives across the

group, including the work to develop a full
decarbonisation roadmap. This will include
targets and KPIs to allow the Group to monitor the
progress of plans gnd assist in the identification of
risks and opportunities.

Chief Risk & Legal Officer

The Chief Risk & Legal Officer reviews the
assessment of climate-related risks and
opportunities completed by the TCFD Working
Group and will provide input into and chalienge
in relation to this assessment, prior to assessment
by the Group CFO and Executive.



2. Strategy

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
{IPCC) has concluded that the world must reach
nct zero emizsivns in e g ly 20505 to umil
global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industriat
levels and avoid the worst consequences

of climate change. In support of this global
target, last year the RAC made a commitment

to also achieve net zero by 2050 at the latest.
Integral to delivering on this commitment is the
understanding of all the actual and potential risks
and opportunities that may impact the group as
we transition towards a low-carbon economy.

The principal risks and opportunities, and their
potential impact on our business, strategy and
financial planning are provided in tables 2.2

21 Scengrios

To assess our resilience to climate change, we
selected three independent climate scenarios
relevant to our sector and to national UK
government climate targets. in future TCFD
reporting, we will quantify the impact of the
unmitigated risks and opportunities, and detail
how the Group's resilience and strategies will
adapt to climate change.

The selected scenarios allow us to evaluate

the implications of various plausible pathways
relating to global warming of between 1.5°C

to 4.1°C. Having developed our initial scenario
analysis, we then assessed the potential risks
and opportunities of each climate scenario to
the Group over the short, medium, and long-term
which corresponds to 2024, 2030 and 2050.

Each year the business prepares its strategy and
associated 5-year financial plan, with the useful
economic life of key assets typically between 5
and 8 years. Short-term risks and opportunities

-+ Risk management

to 2.3. The potential financial impact is shown on
an unmitigated basis, before any Group action to
manage the risks and opportunities.

Ihe risks and opportunities have been assessed
across three plausible climate scenarios and over
the short-term, medium-term, and long-term.
Details of the three scenarios are outlined in table
2.1 and reflect Early Action towards a low carbon
economy (EA), Late Action (LA), and No Additional
Action above existing government commitments
already announced {(NAA). Scenario periods

have been based on the useful life of the group's
assets. Short-term represents <2yrs from the
reporting pericd to 2024, medium-term represents
the period from 2025 to 2030, and long-term
represents the period 2031 to 2050.

impact the early years of the current 5-year

plan, with medium-term risks beginning to
emerge in the outer years. The useful life of most
assets extend towards the end of the medium-
term scenario in 2030. Long-term risks and
opportunities are considerations in the strategy
but extend beyond the standard 5-year plan. The
financial impact of these risks and opportunities
are assessed through in-house built scenario
models which build out from the 5-year plan

exit rates.

The climate scenarios were aligned to the three
Climate Biennial Exploratory Scenario (CBES)
scenarios that are based upon a subset of the
Network for Greening the Financial System (NGFS)
climate scenarios.

The three climate scenarios are assessed against
a hypothetical baseline scenario that assumes no
increase in physical or transition risk through the

scenario period. Table 21 shows key physical and
transition variables in the scenarios selected.
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Table 2.1 CBES scenarios

CBES scenario

Early action (EA)

Nature of transition

Early and orderly
Carbon taxes and cther transition policies intensify relatively
gradually over the scenario horizon

Glokal CO2 emmisions

Reduced to net-zerc by 2050

Global warming”*

-Year0 11°C

~ hy 2030} 1.4°C

- by 2050 18°C

- by 2100 15°C

Policy change date 201

Modeiled risk type Transition risks
Transition risks Medium
Physical risks Limited

impact i eulpul

lemnpaorarily lower arowth

Key model inputs
climate & physical changes
- UK weather summary

- UK sea level rise by 2050
- UK average precipitation increase by 2050

Further changes mited

016m
0.30%

Policy changes & emissions
- Vehicle advancement towards EV

Gaovernment acts promptly to encourage @ smooth transition
to electric vehicles.

The propartion of new vehicles accounted for by internal
combustion engine vehicles grodually folls and policies are
introduced to remove used internal combustion engine
vehiclas from the road.

UK economic impact

UK average annual output growth
- Year 6 - 10 (to 2030)

- Year 1- 15 (to 2035)

- Year 26 - 20 {to 2050)

1.40%
1.50%
160%

Fossil fuels & GHG emissions
- Phose out of tossil fuels

- 2050 energy needs - UK
- 2050 energy needs - global

Fossil fuels are almost entirely replaced by renewables
in the UK primary energy mix by 2050

90% renewahles

70% renewables

Fossil fuels & GHG emissions
- Carbon pricing per tonne of CO2 equivalent {exc. Inflation)
- Carbon sequestration

US$R00

Moderate Level

Assumes only o moderate ievel can be
achieved by private and public investment.

The unmitigated scenario analysis outcomes are summarised by RAG status in tables 2.2 to 2.3. Based on

the Group's strategic plans and capabilities, we believe we are well-positioned to mitigate the financial risks

and take odvantage of the opportunities related to climate change.



Late action {LA)

~z Risk management

No additional action {NAA)

Late and disorderly

Ihe implementation of policies ta drive the transition is
delayed until 2031 ond is then more sudden and disorderly.
The more compressed nature of the reduction N emissions
results in material short-term macroeconomic disruption.

Only policies that were in place before 2021

Primarily explares physical risks from cimaote change. No
new climate policies are introduced beyond those already
implemented. The absence of transition policies leods to o
growing concentration of greenhouse gas emissions in the
atmgsphere and, as a result, global temperature levels
continue to increase.

Reduced to net-zero by 2050

Net-zero not acheived

11°C 11°C

14°C 25°C

1.8°C 3.3°C

1.8°C 41°C

2031 nfa
Transition risks Physical risks
High Limited
Limited High

Sudden contraction (recession)

Permanently lower growth and higher uncertainty

Further changes limited

016m
0.30%

Increase average temperatures

Increase precipitation in the winter months
Reduce precipitation in the summer months
Increased exposure to subsidance
Increased exposure to heatwaves

0.39m

1.00%

There ore substontial government palicies to manage
the transition to electric vehicles beginning in 2026
rather than 2021,

Paths for vehicle prices, sales and vehicles on the road
mirror LA scenario to 203C. Thereafter transition stops
- announced policies not subsequently introduced.

1.50%
010%
1.60%

1.40%
1.40%
1.20%

Fossil fuels are almost entirely replaced by renewables
in the UK primory energy mix by 2050,

G0% renewables

70% renewables

Not applicable

40% renewables
25% renewables

USH,000+

Low Level

Due to the aobsence of timely ond sizeable
investment in sequestration techneologies.

US$30

Low Level

Due to the absence of timely and sizeable
investment in sequestration technologies.

Arelative to pre-industrial levels
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2.2 Climate-reloted risks and opportunities
identified over the short, medium, and long-term

During the year we enhanced and expanded our
exisling climate risk assessment, in consultation
with relevant stokeholders across the business,
to identify climate-related risks and opportunities
over the short, medium, and long-term. Risks for
the Group have been categorised in accordance
with TCFD recommendations of transition risks
and physical risks. Climate related opportunities
are also considered.

Transition risks

Transition risks arise from the efforts by
governments, institutions, and businesses

to accelerate the global transition to a
low-carbon economy which may result in

policy and regulatory intervention, new market
incentives or shifts in demand and behaviour that
could lead to financial impacts on the Group, our
customers, and our suppliers. In general, transition
risks are likely to materialise more rapidly than
physical risks, which are likely to be gradual

and materialise in the longer-term. Examples of
transition risks that may impact the business in
the short, medium, and long-term are provided

in table 2.2

Physical risks

Physical risks represent risks to the physical
environment due to unabated greenhouse gas
emissions, global warming and changing climate
patterns. These risks are likely to lead to increased
extreme weather events such as more frequent
and intensive storms, extreme heat and cold,
floods, droughts, and fires, as well as chronic
gradual impacts such as higher than average
temperatures and rises in sea levels which

may lead to economic loss for the Group, our
customers, and our suppliers. Examples of physical
risks that may impact the business in the short,
medium, and long-term are provided in table 2.2.

>z Risk management

Transition opportunities

The transition to a low-carbon economy can also
lead to opportunities to support our suppliers,
partners, and customers in their shift to new
technologies and business models. The size and
severity of these transition risks and opportunities
will be affected by the rate of transition the UK
and the world’s economies undergo over the
scenario review period to 2050. Examples of
transition opportunities that may impact the
business in the short, medium, and long-term are
provided in table 2.3.

Climate-related risks and opportunities have been
assessed at a national level, reflecting our primarily
UK based operations. Where appropriate, the
principal risks and opportunities include specific
business sector impacts.

2.3. Climate-related risks and cpportunities
and impact on business, strategy and
financial planning

Using the TCFD categorisations all key risks
and opportunities are RAG assessed to reflect
probability and financial impact based on the
specific financial statement category affected.
Group materiality is then applied to determine
which of these key risks represent principal risks
and opportunities. Materiality is bosed on 3% of
Group EBITDA.

Table 2.2 represents potential risks on an
unmitigated basis. However, with the current
governance structure, management are confident
that the business is alert to the key risks and
opportunities related to climate change and can
implement appropriate mitigating actions to
reduce the residual risk in the short, medium,

and long-term.
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Table 2.2 Principal climate-related transition and physical risks

Financial
category
TCFD cotegory Risk description impacted
Technology  Market not reody Impact on members Costs
for ban on new UK electric vehicle model availability, prohibitive cost, or lack of infrostructure may
petrol and diesel constrain sales of new EVs_ This may result in a stailing of UK new car sales growth
vehicie sales and an increase in average membership vehicle age and propensity to break down.
by 2030
impact on the RAC fleet: Costs
UK electric commercigl vehicle medel avarlatlity and/or capability may not be
adequate to support the transition to EVs. Constrants may either delay the full
electrification of RAC's fleet leading to exposure to higher carbon taxes and levies os
well as additonal mantenance costs on clder vehicles, or require some compromise
on vehicle specification which could impact operational efficiency.
Electric vehicles Impact on breakdown mix: Costs,
replace petroland  Tignsition to electac vehicles may result in sigrificant changes in breakdown Assets &
diesel vehicles. fault mix distripution ond/or claims frequency. This changing profile will require Capital

investment in training and equipment. Expenditure

Market Reduced demand  Reduced private vehicle ownership: Revenue
_fOf breakdown, A shuft away from, or reduction in, private vehicle ownership which may reduce the
insurance and number of breakdown members and/or car insurance policy holders.
SMR products

and services.

Cost of transition Higher input costs: Costs
to low carbon Increased operating and capital expenditure as overall nput costs reflect the
business model. inflationary impact of a lewer carbon economy (including higher fuel, energy,

payroll, water, waste treatment).

Existing portners may be unwilling or unable to meet our targets and we may
therefore need to find alternative suppliers, potentially ncurring transttion costs
and higher run ¢osts,

Reputation Increased Demonstrable green credentials: Revenue
stokeholder There may be ¢ loss of competitive advantage and market share if customers & Costs
concern of and suppliers do not perceive sufficient progress is being made towards certified
negative net zero targets,

?etgzgi?clser Capital availability and funding during the transition to a low carbon economy

will favour low emissions sectors and companies, Without demonstrating green
credentials, access to competitve Investing and borrowing rates may be restricted.

Physical Acute and chronic Chronic climate change Costs
climate change. Long-term changes in precipitation patterns and mean temperatures may have
a permanent impact on the demand profile for breckdowns.

Acute climate change

Clmate change is also expected to increase the number of short-term extreme
weather events, (ncluding excessive precipitation, flooding, heatwaves, and storrms,
Both the chronic and acute physical risks could adversely impact the velume and
fouit mix of bregkdowns leading to increased uncertainty and higher operationa!
costs per job.

Opportunity rating @ Low Opportunity @ Medium Opportunity @ High Gpportunity



Tronsition scenarios

EA  Early Action (14°C by 2030, 1.8°C by 2050, 15°C by 2100)
LA Late Action (1.4°C by 2030, 1.8°C by 2050, 1.8°C by 2100}
NAA  No Additional Action (2.5°C by 2030, 3 3% hy 2080, 41°C by 2100)

Unmitigated
financial impact

Unmitigated

impact by term

Short Medium Long
term
2050

term

Scenario 2024

term
2030

= Risk monagement

Strategies to mitigate risk

Increased claims frequency/

The nsk to future changes in breakdown demand and

costs as members are unable to EA . . . claims frequency will be mitigated through our éxisting
replace their ICE vehicles and usage based appraach to pricing. Most of aur indmwidual
average vehicle age incregses. LA member policies renew annually and business contracts are
for between 1and 3 years. The business uses these relatively
NAA short renewal cycles to adjust premums in response to any
emerging changes in claims rates and costs
Reduced patrol efficiency/ Patrol vehicles are typically leased over a five year term,
increased fleet costs as full EA aliowing the fleet to be regularly refreshed and benefit from
electrfication of the fleet the latest technology. In addition, the business 1s cctively
15 delayed. LA working in collaberation with OEMSs to help develop and
pilot new commercial EVs. Non patrol vehicles (company
cars, support vans etc) are atready being transitioned to
EV wherever possible. Proactive long-term procurement
NAA planning ensures that the business secures access to new
technology on competitive commercial terms.
The relative iImpact of increased The RAC has @ highty experienced and capable workforce
or decreased speafic foult EA ond we invest in state of the art equipment and tramning
impact is currently uncertain. to enable cur mechanics to repair ond recover vehicles
Where EVs cannot be repaired LA effectively. As rnore dota becomes available, we will

at roadside, costs may be huigher
In additicn to higher costs, there
may also be increased capital NAA
investment and training required

continue to monitor EV breakdown performance and
refine cur plans to adaopt our capabilities in step with
evolving demands, We aiso have the ability to flex pricing
in response to changes in costs.

Reduced breakdown,

Market surveys still reflect a strong preference for private
vehicle ownership, even dunng penods of lockdown when
mileage dipped for several months. Today, the RAC offers

a broad and diversified range of products and services,
including EV servicing and leasing products, which cater far
o wide range of customer needs not just breckdowns. We
will continue to innovate and develop new propositions as
member needs change

As part of our roadmap to net zero, we are invasting in
energy efficient assets, which will help mitigate the
potential nsk of future energy costs In regards to supphers,
the business has stringent selection cnteria in place, and
partners who are unable to support the RAC's cimate-
related targets may be deselected and replaced with
organisations that can dernonstrate de-carbenisation plans
abgned with the RAC.

motor insurance and EA
adjacency revenue,
LA
NAA
Incregsed suppher costs.
EA
LA
NAA
Reduction in existin
¢ EA

and/or new business revenue.
Increases in capital and funding
costs if occess to competitive LA
rates I1s limited

® ¢ © @ ® €| 0 © 6 © © & o 6 o o o

@ &6 & 0 & & & & & > & 6 &6 O O o 0

The business has an overarching target to reduce its impact
on the environment by being net zero by 2050 at the latest,
with work being undertaken during 2023 for a specific de-
carbonmsation plan to identify opportunities to achieve net
zero in advance of 2080.

We are currently developing specific targets and metrics

e © © o & © e 6 & o & 6 0 o6 o o o6 0

NAA to ensure successful delivery against this target.
Increased cost base due to Current demond forecasting ond resource planning
supplier costincreases, higher EA ‘ . processes utilse a senes of short- and long-term forecasting
internal service and maintenance techmgues, including weather related inputs and changes
costs and lower or redistributed in fault mix.
demand bosed revenue. Any gradual chronic change in cimate will be foctored
Into long term trend onalysis to identify emerging trends
LA . @ . in volume and distnbution to ensure efficient deployment
of resource.
Arny incregsed costs associated with long-term change or
increased frequency of weather events willimpoct claim
NAA € o L J frequencies and costs, and as a result be reflected in future
premiums and prices
Risk rating @ Low sk @ Mediumnsk @ Highnsk
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Tabie 2.3 Principal climate-related opportunities

TCFD Risk

category description Opportunity description

Products Development of EV products & services:

& services low emission goods  The transiticn to a low carbon economy will present many opportunities for the RAG to use its

and services. innovation and trusted brand to bring new EV products and services to its existing mermnbership

base and the broader motoning services market, including:
EV collaboration with motor manufacturers:
Development of market leading propositions to serve the growing EV user base and tncreased
demand for lower emissions products and services. The motor ingustry is seen as a high emissions
sector - reducing company emissions, and supperting the industry to reduce overall emissions will
improve reputational value and mcrease demand.
Partnerships to gccelerate kY transition:
Supporting consumers in ther decision making and transition to BV, including advisory services,
financing, and post transition support services (insurance, breakdown, SMR).

Resource Use of more Electrification of patrot fleet:

efficiency efficient modes By 2030, all new vehicles will need to be electnc. There 15 an opportunity to gain a competitive

of transport.

advantage by early adopting new patrol fleet technology and taking advantage of lower fuel
costs This will support the RAC’s green credentials and improve the business’ reputation and give
a commercial advantage, particularly over competitors with smaller direct patral fleets and
greater rehance on contractors.

Reduced environmental impact:

Increasing the efficiency of RAC operations to reduce overall travel distances of
recovengs, reducing environmental impaoct and also mmproving customer experience.




Transition scenorios

EA  Early Action (1.4°C by 2030, 1.8°C by 2050, 1.5°C by 2100)

LA Late Action (14°C by 2030, 1.8°C by 2050, 1 8°C by 2100}

NAA No Additional Action (2 5°C by 2030, 3 3°C by 2050, 41°C by 2100)

= Risk management

Unmitigated
impact by term

Short  Medium Long
term term term
Scenario 2024 2030 2050

Financial

category Potential

impocted financial impact

Revenue Increqsed breakdown demand and revenue and
& capital nvestment cost,

expenditure

EA [ ] [ ] ®

LA ® [ o
NAA & ® ©
Revenue, costs Redured patrol opergting costs and increased revenue from
& capital higher demand for early lower carbon products The impact EA ° . .
expenditure of additional investment in copital expenditure is expected to
be low gs the operational vehicles ore already leased on a
Syr term, enabling the fleet to be continuously refreshed LA . . .
with the latest technology.
NAA o @ @
Casts Redured breckdown cpergting costs fram sharter tow
distances and improved overall efficiency rates. EA L . e
LA e o ®
NAA ] @ ®

Risk rating @ Low opportunity €@ Medwm opportunity @ High opporturity
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3. Risk management

The Group's risk management framework sets
out how we identify, measure, monitor, manage
and report un the risks to which our business

is, or could be, exposed to. During the year,
climate-related transition and physical risks were
managed through this framewaork, enabling the
identification, assessment, and management of
risks in a consistent manner.

31 Organisation’s processes for identifying and
assessing climate-related risks

The RAC’s Executive team identify material climate
change risks and opportunities by performing

an annual ‘top down’ assessment of the
climate-related impacts to the business and
recording them on an overgll Group Climote
Change Risk Register. Climate-related risk and
opportunity heat maps are also produced to reflect
the relative probability of the risk or opportunity
materialising and the associated financial impact
relative to Group materiality. The combined
weighting then determines the prioritisation of
principal risks and opportunities and associated
actions. These risks are reported to the Board

ESG Committee annually. The significance of
climate-related risks relative to the Group’s

other non-climate risks are assessed as part

of the Board's review of the Group’s overall
principal risks.

Each member of the Executive team leads a
specific business division or functional department.
As part of this role, each member has the
responsibility to assess whether any material
climate change risks are present within their
division, and thase will be recorded on their
individual business division risk register. Any risks
identified will be reviewed in line with the existing
risk review cycle for each Business Division as
explained in the Risk Management Section on
pages 36 - 37.

The Group regularly considers existing and
emerging regulatory requirements related to
climate change. External horizon scanning and
manitaring of emerging scientific climate scenarios,
TCFD, FCA and PRA regulatory reguirements is
completed by the cross disciplinary TCFD Working
Group. Updates are reviewed regularly by the
Executive Team and ESG Committee and, where
necessary, will inform any changes to our climate
risk management.

Climate change risk has been designated as

o material risk to the strategy, operations or
financial performance of the Group. As such, the
risk is captured on the Group Key Risk Register
which will then be reported into the Exec Risk,
Audit & Compliance Committee and Board Risk,
Audit & Compliance Committee. In addition, any
material risks from climate change which could
specifically impact on RAC Insurance Limited wilt
be included in the annual Own Risk & Solvency
Assessment (‘ORSA’). The Group will continue to
evolve its appreach to managing the risks from
climate change in 2023.

3.2. Describe the organisation’s processes for
managing climate-related risks

Climate change risks will be assessed and
managed using the established approach for
the management of all risks across the Group,
further details on which can be found in the

Risk Management section on pages 36 - 37.

This approach includes the use of a standard
Impact & probabitity assessment and established
risk control processes (our process to select

and measure appropriate mitigating actions

and controls to modify the risk, including those
required to bring the risk back within risk appetite).



Prioritisation of climate-related risks

The initial identification of climate-related risks
started with a workshop based approach to a
long st ot potential nisks that may impact the
businesses’ sectors and geographies. Risks were
considered both to Group operations as well as
customers, suppliers, and partners. Using the
TCFD framework, each potential risk was then
categorised as either o transition or physical risk
and qualitatively assessed in the short, medium,
and long-term.

Financial impact

Each potential risk was then individually reviewed
to determine the specific revenue or cost category
of the financial staterments most likely to be
affected, should the risk crystallise. Magnagement
then applied judgement to consider the potential
percentage increase or decrease to the respective
financial categories, above a base case. individual
percentage judgements were then applied
separately to transition risks, acute physical risks,

chronic physical risks, and transition opportunities.

Judgements also varied by time horizon and
scenario to reflect the varying risk prefiles over
time and under different transition conditions.

Applying the percentage uplifts or downgrades

to the specific income statement and statement
of financial position categories quantified the
potential financial impact of each risk under each
scenario and time horizon. Financial impact was
then benchmarked against a selected materiality
of 3% of EBITDA with an impact above materiatity
categorised as high and a reducing balance
approach applied to the remaining impact
categories of medium and low.

= Risk monagement

Probability assessment

The probability of each potential risk crystaliising
was aiso individually assessed under each time
horizon and transition scenario and categorised as
high, medium or low. This assessment was initially
performed by the TCFD Working Group prior to
subsequent review.

RAG status (Red, Amber, Green assessment}

The product of the financial impact and
probability assessment is a combined '‘RAG’
score which was then used to positicn each

risk on a heat map for review and refinement of
relotive prioritisation by the TCFD Working Group,
and subsequently the Executive Team and the
ESG Committee.

3.3. Describe how processes

for identifying, assessing, and managing
climate-related risks are integrated into the
organisation’s overall risk management

As described above, climate change risks will

be assessed and managed using an approach
consistent with all other risk management across
the Group.

4. Metrics & targets

The Group's overarching climate-related target

is to achieve net zero by 2050 at the latest. In

the medium-term this will be delivered through
incremental improvements in network operational
efficiency and vehicle fuel efficiency and
electrification of our lighter vehicle fleets and
company car fleet. In the longer-term, the more
significant reduction in carbon emissions, and
the decarbonisation of our heavier fleet, will be
supported by new technologies such as hydrogen
energy, battery and hybrid technology maturing
and commercial viability improvements.
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4. Disclose the metrics used by the organisation
to assess climate-related risks and opportunities in
line with its strategy and risk management process

We have slurled Lhe process of establishing
several metrics with appropriote management
oversight and governance mechanisms to enable
us to monitor progress towards our overarching
net-zero target. We are working internally and
with third-party organisations to continue
developing this suite of metrics, This process

will be completed in 2023 with metrics reported
in our next annual report.

4.2 Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate,
Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and the
related risks

The Group has assessed greenhouse gas
emissions using the '‘GHG Reporting Protocol - A
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard’
and in accordance with the Defra’s ‘Environmental
Reporting quidelines: including Streamlined Energy
and Carbon Reporting requirements’. The Group's
carbon footprint, including Scope 1, Scope 2, and
Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions {excluding
supply chain}, is available in the SECR report on
pages 100 - 101.

4.3, Describe the targets used by the organisation
to manage climate-related risks and opportunities
and performance against targets

In addition to establishing several
climate-related metrics, we have also begun the
process of identifying individual targets for each
metric to manage our climate-related risks and
opportunities. Qur ultimate and interim targets
for the transition of our company car fleet to
hybrid or electric by 2030 is currently reported

in our SECR Report on page 103. In line with the
development of our metrics, we are working with
third-party organisations to develop appropriate
and challenging targets. This process will also be
completed in 2023, with targets reported in our
next annual report.



~tRisk management

) Stuart, potrol since 2007, South Wast
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In accordance with the provisions of The
Companies {Miscellanecus Reporting) Regulations
2018, RAC Bidco Limited (the "Company*} is
required to include a statement in its Strategic
Report describing how the directors have had
regard to the matters set out in section 172{1) (q) to
{f} of the Companies Act 2006 when performing
their duties for the 2022 financial year. This
section, together with those pages incorporated
by reference, acts as the Company’s section

172(1) statement.

The primary responsibility of the Board is to
promote the long-term success of the Company,
creating and delivering sustainable shareholder
value as well gs contributing to society. In
ensuring the long-term success of the business
the Board has to have regard to a number of
matters, including the views of the shareholders
and stakeholders, as described 'n the Governance
Report on pages 70 to 85 to ensure it fully
understands the potential impacts of its decisions
on its stakeholders, the environment, and the
communities in which it operates.

The long-term success of the business is at

the heart of the Company’s five-year strategy
and the Directors play an active role in the
development of the Group’s strategy. Delivery
of the strategy enables the RAC to benefit from
changing automotive and mobility markets,
providing new products and services that meet
members’ changing needs and allowing the
Company to build closer relationships with
members and suppliers, all of which will drive
sustaingble long-term growth at the same time as
providing opportunities for colleagues. The RAC
Group operates a risk management fremework,
ensuring that the key risks to the delivery and
implementation of the strategy are identified,
monitored, and managed and the directors
discharge their responsibility in this respect
through the Group's Risk, Audit and
Compliance Committee.

Further details on the Group's strategy and risk
management framework are set out on pages 34
to 65 of the Strategic Report section of this report.

o

J Baker
Director
2 March 2023



= Governance

The table below sets out how the directors of the Company have regard to the matters set out in s172 (1)
(a) to {f) of the Companies Act 2006 when performing their duties:

Section 172 (1) Decisions/Considerations

{a) The likely
consequence of
any decision in
the long term

{b) The interests

of the company’s
colleagues

The Directars play an active role in the deveiopment of the Group's strategy and take
account of certain external factors and the impact to our stakeholders including the wider
societal impact, when approving the strategy. The Directors regularly reviewed the strategy
throughout 2022 to ensure it continued to support the Group’s long-term success and the
vision to be the UK’s number one for driving services, providing complete of mind for cur
members’ driving needs. The Directors approved the 2023 budget which has good customer
outcomes and fair value for members at its core. The Directors will continue t¢ monitor
pregress aganst strategic KPIs through a programme of scheduled Board strategy sessions
throughout 2023. In March 2022, the Directors approved the investment in the RAC by Silver
Loke Partners, which will help to accelerate the delivery of our digital strategy to provide o
tangible benefit for members, thraugh membership enabled by MyRAC, whilst supporting the
langer-term strategy and the 2027 vision. In September 2022, the Board also approved the
acquisition of a driving test theory app to further expond the driving services offered to our
members and to support our merber acquisition ambitions.

Further details of our strategy can be found an poges: 10 - 1.
Strategic monagement report: pages 24 - 33,
Risk monagement report: pages 36 - 65.

Directors recognise that the delivery of the RAC's purpose, strategy and long-term
sustainable growth will only be achieved with engaged colieagues and ensure that
management keep colleagues fully informed of the Company’s plans, vision, purpose and
culture through various engagement forums, blogs, briefings, and round table events.

In 2022, the RAC made an explicit commitment to support the mental wellbeing of our
colleagues with increesed mental health awareness training and a wide range of other
inilialives. For example, additienal mental health first ciders were trained across the Group;
and we relaunched our Employee Assistance Programme on Werld Mental Heath Day.

Our coileagues’ interests were also considered as port of the Silver Lake investment, with
colleagues shanng in the success of the business by benefitting from a recognition award
to celebrate completion of the investment, dernonstrating further commitment to colleague
engagement and reward. The Executive Team also regularly engage with unions on business
performance and any matters which materiolly affect colleagues.

Further details of how the Directors of the Company have regard to the interests of the
colleagues can be found on the fallowing pages:

Corporate Governance Arrangements: pages 81- 85
Corporate Social Responsibility Report: pages 86 - 95
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Section 172 (1)

{c) The need
to foster the
company's
business
relationships
with suppliers,
customers
and cthers.

{d} The impact on
the company's
operations on the
community and
environment

{e) The desirability
of the company
maintaining a

reputation for high
standards of
business conduct

Decisions/considerations

Thie Diecilors recogmse the importance ot the Group developing strong relationships with all
of its stakeholders and regular updates on interactions with members and our key suppliers
are provided ot Board meetings to enable the Board to make informed decisions on ensuring
the long-term sustainability of the business. Members continue to be at the core of our 2023
strategy with a focus on customer outcomes and ensuring fair value to members.

Further details of how the Directors have had regard to fostering the Company’s business
relationships with suppliers, customers, regulators and others can be found on the
following pages:

Strategic Management Report: pages 25 - 33

Risk Management Report: pages 35 - 65

Corporate Governance Arrangements: pages 81- 85
Corporate Social Responsibility Report: pages 86 - 95

The Directors understand that ensuring the Company’s operations have a positive impact on
the community and the environment is a strategic imperative. Ouring the financial year, the
Board's Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Committee continued to build on our
sustainability foundations to underpin the 2027 vision and our longer-term ambition of being
net-zero by 2050 The ESG committes also approved the early adoption of the TCFC financial
reporting disclosures as o demonstration of its commitment in this area.

Further details of how the Directors of the Company have regard to the impact of
the Company's operations on the community and environment can be found on the
following pages:

Carporate Social Responsiility Report: pages 86 - 95
Directors Report: pages 96 -105
TCFD Repeort pages 48 - 65

The Group considers that maintaining its reputation for the highest standard of business
ethics and conduct is a key priority. The Group ensures that an appropriate framework,
including relevant policies and codes of conduct, 1s in place to support this and the Directors
are made aware of and involved in the managament of all issues that might have a material
impact on the Group's reputation for high standards. Maintaining and increasing the high
trust that the RAC brand commands is ¢ key underpinning pillar of our 2027 vision and 2023
strategy so consequently all strategic initiatives will be considered with this in mind.

Further details of how the Directors maintain a reputation for high standards of business
can be found on the following pages:

Risk Management Report: pages 35 - 65
Corporate Governance Report: pages 81- 85
Directors Report: pages 96 - 105



(f) The need to act
fairly as between

the Company's
owners

= Governance

Maintaining our investars’ trust through positive and proactive regular engagement has
ensured their continued commitment, demaonstrated by the fact that following the Silver Lake
investment our two existing principal shareholders remain committed to positioning RAC for
tuture long-term success. Under the new corporate governance arrangements following the
investment by Silver Lake in March 2022, all of the RAC’s three principal sharehalders have
representation on the Cempany's board and that of the Group’s ultimate parent, RAC Group
{Holdings) Limited and are actively invelved in Board decisions. The Group's minority investors
interests are aligned with those of the principal investors and reguiar updates and information
are communicated to keep them appraised on business performance.
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The RAC is committed to complying with the highest standards of
good corparate governance practice. The Group recognises that

good governance, and a customer focussed culture, are key elements
underpinning the responsible, sustainable, long-term growth of the
business. The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Financial
Statements comply with oll aspects of the Walker Guidelines for
Disclosure and Transparency in Private Equity.

in accordance with the provisions of The Companies {Miscellaneous
Reporting) Regulations 2018, the Company has chosen to apply the
Wates Corporate Governance Principles {the "Principles®) for Large
Private Companies for reporting in relation to the 2022 financial year.
The Company’s Corporate Governance arrangements are set out
below, and how it applies the Principles are set on pages 81 - 85.

A comprehensive corporate governance framewoark has been put in
place which documents the following:

» Terms of Reference for the Board and the committees which sit
under it.

} Processes for financial governance {including delegations of
authority, transaction limits and treasury procedures).

3} Comprehensive Group policies, practices, procedures.

) Registers of interests and guidance for directors on their duties and
for Senior Managers and Certification Functions (in the context of
PRA and FCA authorisation).

72  Ownership structure
73 Division of responsibilities
74  Directors

78 Board committees
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Ownership structure

As at 31 December 2022 the Group's equity is
owned by: investment vehicles managed by CVC
Capital Partners {"CVC Funds); u nominaled
investment vehicle of GIC Special Investments

Pte Ltd (*GIC"}; an investment vehicle managed

by Silver Lake Partners; investment vehicles
controlled by Universities Superannuation Scheme
Limited (acting as corporate trustee of Universities
Superannuation Scheme); an investment vehicle
controlled by Public Sector Pension Investment
Board (PSP investments); an investment vehicle
managed by HarbourVest Partners, LLC; RAC
Management; and RAC's Employee Benefit Trust.

The Beard

As at 31 December 2022 the Board comprises

the Group's Chairman, twao executive directors
being the Group’s Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officers, and seven Non-Executive
directors ('NEDs') comprising two CVC appointed
NEDs, one GIC oppointed NEDs, two Silver Lake
appointed NEDs and two Independent NEDs, one
of whom was appointed in September 2022. Two
of the Board members are women, the Company
Secretary is also female. All of the Directors are
also members of the ultimate parent's Board, RAC
Group (Holdings) Limited.

The Board has an appropriate balance of
executive and non-executive directors and their
skills, knowledge, and experience is
commensurate with the nature, complexity and
breadth of the business. The Group believes in the
value of diversity, and diversity issues are regularly
discussed by the Group's ESG Committee. More
information on the Group ESG strategy can be
found on pages 87 - 95. The Group also places an
emphasis on ensuring that board membership
reflects diversity in its skill set, approach,
experience, and educational and professional

background. These aims are supported by the
Board Diversity Policy and the Board is committed
to annually discussing appropriate objectives/
targets for achieving its diversity aims. The hoard
appointed a female independent NED in 2022 and
also has a female CFO. Directors’ biographies can
be found on the Corporate website and on pages
74 - 77 of the annual report.

The RAC Group (Holdings} Limited Board provides
practical leadership to the Group, setting the tone
for a culture across the business committed to
achieving the right outcomes for customers and
thereby delivering long-term value for the RAC,
its members and stakeholders.

As is usualin large Groups, day-to-day
management of the Group is delegated to the
Chief Executive Officer, and the Executive
Committee. During 2022 the Executive Committea
had nine members, one of whom is female, and
comprises of the Chief Executive Officer, who is
also the Chair, the Chief Financial Officer, Chief
Operations Officer, the CEQ Consumer Roadside,
Chief Customer and Marketing Officer, CEQO
Business Roadside, Chief Product & Technology
Officer and CEQ Insurance. For 2023, a new CEO
of Service, Maintenance and Repair has been
added to the Executive Committee.



Division of responsibilities

= Governance report

There is g clear division of responsibility between the non-executive Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, and the Non-Executive Directors.

The reles of the Board, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, and the Directors are loid out in the

Beard's Terms of Reference,

The Chairman is responsible for:

> The leadership of the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness and setting its agenda and
ensuring that the Directors receive appropriate
documents in a timely manner.

}» Facilitation of the induction, training and
effective contribution of non-executive
directors and ensuring constructive relations
between them and the executive directors.

) Leading the development of the firm's culture
by the Board as a whole.

» Overseeing the development and
implementation of the firm’s remuneration
policies and practices.

The Chief Executive Officer, who is the
senior executive officer of the RAC Group, is
responsible for:

} Overseeing the day-to-day management of
the Group, through the Executive Committee
and the senior leadership team,

3 Ensuring the successful execution of the
strategic objectives as agreed by the Board
and the developmenl, implementation, and
operationalising the business model.

> Overseeing the RAC's culture.

3 Ensuring compliance by the RAC Group with
legal, regulatory, corporate governance, social,
ethical and environmental principles.

?» Effective communication with all stakeholders
including shareholders, colleagues, customers
and members.

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for:

» Preparing and ensuring the integrity of
the Group's financial statements and its
regulatory reporting.

2 Managing the allocation and maintenance of
the Group’s capital and liquidity.

2> Performing RAC Insurance Limited’s Own Risk
and Solvency Assessment.

> Managing the Group's policies and procedures
for countering the risk that the firm might be
used to further financial crime.

> Overseeing, managing, and setting the
Group's Environmental, Social and Governance
('ESG’) strategy and agenda.

The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for:

? Using their wide and varied experience to offer
expert advice, scrutiny, and objectivity.

2> Monitoring and offering objective challenge
to executive management decisions
where appropriate,

2> Bringing specific expertise to the Board, for
example, the team includes Non-Executive
Directors with extensive financial services and
capital markets experience from serving in senior
positions of several major financial institutions.

The Company Secretary ensures that the

RAC Bidco Limited Board {and the Boards of
other companies within the Group} follows

best corporate governance practice, that all
discussions and decisions are properly recorded,
and that management information is supplied
at an appropriate level to support constructive
debate in Board meetings.
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Board of Directors

Rob Templeman

RT

Chgirman

Rob is Chairman of the Board of Directors.

He joined the RAC in September 20M. His
previous roles include Chairman of Gala Coral,
Chief Executive Officer of Debenhams, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of Halfords,
Chief Executive Officer of Homebase and
Harveys Furnishing Group and Chairman of
the British Retail Consortium. Rob also has
several charitable interests.

Dave Hobday

Chief Executive Officer

DH

Dave joined the RAC in Februory 2017 from
the payments company Worldpay UK where
he was Managing Director for five years. He
has previously worked at BT, Telewest, HBOS
and Procter & Gamble in areas covering
operations, customer service, marketing, sales
and technology.

Tesula Mohindra

T Independent Non-Executive
Director

Tesula Mohindra joined the RAC in September
2022 as an Independent Non-Executive Director
(INED} and will be taking on chairmanship of the
Risk, Audit and Complianee Committee in 2023.
Tesula quatified as a chartered accountant with
PricewaterhouseCoopers and held managing
director roles at IP Maorgan and UBS specialising
in corporate finance for financial institutions and
pension fund risk management. She was also a
founding member of the management team at
Paternoster, the specialist bulk annuity insurer,
Tesula’s current INED portfolio includes Close
Brothers Group plc and NHBC (National
House-Building Council). She is also a trustee

of Variety the Children’s Charity.

Jo Baker
JB

Chief Financial Officer

Jo joined the RAC in May 2018. She has an
extensive background in financial services
companies, starting her career as an investment
banker in the sector before moving on to work at
Barclays, Worldpay and Wonga in areas covering
finance, strategy, sales, customer analytics and
risk management.
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Mark Wood

Chair of Risk, Audit and
Compliance Committee

MW

Mark is Chairman of the Board Risk, Audit

& Compliance Committee. He will hand the
chairmanship to Tesula in 2023, remaining on the
Board and the Committee as a Non-Executive
Director. He joined the RAC in September 2011. His
prior roles include Managing Director for Financiaol
Services at the AA, Chief Executive Officer of AXA
UK, Chief Executive Officer of Prudential UK and
Europe and Chief Executive Officer of Paternoster
Pension Investment Company. Mark also
previously served as Chairman of the Trustees

of the National Society for the Prevention of
Cruelty to Children.

~= Governance report

Non-Executive Directors - GIC Group

AL Alexandre Levy

Alex was a Non-Executive Director from
August 2020 to March 2022. He was
re-appointed to the board in July 2022,
He is Vice President in GIC's Direct
Investments Group. Prior to joining GIC
in 2010, he worked at J.P.Mcrgan.

James, potrol since 2077, East Midlands
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Non-Executive Directors - Silver Lake

SP Simon Patterson

Simon Patterson joined Silver Lake in 2005

and is a Managing Director and co-head of

the firm's activities in Europe, the Middle East,
and Africa. He is currently a board member of
Dell Technologies, IVC Evidensia, New Zealand
Rugby Commercial, and ZPG, and previously
served on the boards of Skype, Cegid, Intelsat,
FlixBus, MultiPlan, and Gerson Lehrman Group.
Prior to joining Sitver Lake, he was a member of
the founding management team of the logistics
software company GF-X {ocquired by Descartes)
and worked in various management roles at

the Financial Times, He is a Trustee and Vice
Chairman of The Royal Foundation of the Prince
and Princess of Wales, and previously served as a
Trustee of the Natural History Museum in London
and Non-Executive Director of Tesco PLC.

JG Jonathan Galore

Jonathan Golore joined Silver Lake in 2015 and
is an Operating Partner. Prior to Silver Lake,

he held a number of senior executive roles in
technology businesses, most recently as Chief
Technology Officer at Wonga Group, a global
online finance company, and co-founded a
number of cnline financial services companies,
including Trussle.com, the UK's first online
mortgage advisor, and Wealthfront.com, a
leading US qutomated investment service.




Nan-Executive Directors - CVC Group

TG Tim Gallico

Tim has been a Non-Executive Director since April
2016. Tim is a Partrer at CVC Capital Partners.

He currently sits on the boards of Asplundh Tree
Expert LLC, Pension Insurance Corporation Group
and RiverStone International. Tim joined CVCin
2005 and was previously a consultant ot Bain

& Company. He also serves as a Trustee of the
United World Schools.

-+ Governance report

PH Pev Hooper

Pev has been a Non-Executive Director since
April 2016. Pev is o Managing Partner at CVC
Capital Partners, and currently sits on the boards
of Domestic & General, Six Nations Rugby/
Premiership Rugby, NewDay and Away Resorts.
He joined CVC in 2003 after working in mergers
and acquisitions at Citigroup and Schroders.
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Board committees

Terms of Reference are in place which set out clearly the responsibilities, membership, and workings of
the Board committees.

Indy, mebile mechanic since 2022, West Midlands




Board Risk, Audit & Complionce committee

During 2022, the Committee was chaired by Mark
Wood and its other members are the Group's
Non-Executive Chairman and two additional
independent Non-Executive Directors. It is
attended by the Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Financial Officer, the Chief Risk & Lega! Officer,
Non-Executive Directors, the external auditors, and
members of the RAC senior management team as
required. In 2023, the Committee will be chaired
by the new independent Non-Executive Director
Tesula Mohindra.

The Committee assists the Group's Boards in
discharging their responsibilities for the integrity
of the Group's Financial Statements and the
effectiveness of the systems of risk management
and internal controls and also monitors the
effectiveness, performance, and objectivity of the
internal and external auditors.

Key areas for which the committee is
responsible include:

) Reviewing the Group’s Financial Statements
prior to approval on behalf of the Board and
reviewing the external auditor’s reports thereon.

2> Establishing procedures to ensure that
the Group monitors and evaluates
risks appropriately,

?» Ensuring that the RAC has a culture of
delivering good customer outcomes and
identifying any risks to those outcomes is
embedded consistently across the business.

» Reviewing internal controls and approving the
internal gudit plan to manitor the effectiveness
of those controls.

} Considering the consistency of accounting
policies across the Group and the accounting
for any significant or unusuat transactions
where judgement has to be applied.

» Assessing the independence and objectivity
of the external quditors.

-z Governance report

Remuneration committee

This Committee is chaired by the Group’s
Non-Executive Chairman, and is attended

by the Chief Executive Officer, at least one
Non-Executive Director from each of Silver Lake,
CVC and GIC, the independent chair of the
Group Risk, Audit and Compliance Committee
and members of the senior management team
as required. |t is responsible for the following
key areqas:

?» Determining the participation of directors
and employees in any equity holding or other
long-term incentive schemes operated by
the Group.

?> Agreeing the framework for the remuneration
of the executive directors and other senior
executives, and determining their total
individual remuneration packages including
pension arrangements {the Chief Executive
Officer is not present when his remuneration
package is determined).

}» Determining specific incentives for the
executive directors and senior management
in order to encourage enhanced performance
and to ensure fair reward for individual
contributions ta the success of the Group.

» Ensuring contractual terms are adhered to on
termination and that any payments made are
fair to both the individual concerned and the
Group, and that failure is not rewarded.

2 Evaluating the performance of the executive
directors against challenging objectives,
including non-financial objectives.

¥ Ensuring that the remuneration practices
across the Group operate in line with PRA and
FCA requirements and specifically that they do
not drive inappropriate behaviours.
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Board Environmental, Sccial and Governance
('ESG'y Committee

In 2021 the ESG Committee was established to
provide oversight of the Group’s Envirenmental,
Social and Governance (‘ESG') strategy. The
ESG Committee is chaired by the Chief Financial
Officer and is attended by the Chief Executive
Officer, at least one Non-Executive from CVC,
GIC, and Silver Lake, the independent chair of
the Regulated Entities Board and members of
the senior management team as required. Itis
responsible for the following key areas:

Y} Approval, monitoring, and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group's ESG strategy
and the governance in place to ensure the
successful delivery of the activities across
ESG matters.

} Overseeing the implementation and
ongoing effectiveness of Group policies,
principles, projects, and standards in so far
as they relate to ESG, and ensuring they are
compliant with any legislative, regulatory, or
legol requirements.

3} Setting KPIs and associated targets
relating to ESG matters and monitoring the
Group's progress against those KPIs and
targets relating to each component of the
ESG strategy.

} Monitoring, reviewing, and overseeing the
Group’s decarbonisation plans.

> Ensuring that best practice and thinking from
across the market is considered as part of the
Group's ESG strategy.

2 Making recommendations to the Board in
relation to any funding of ESG related activity,
and on behalf of the Board, overseeing the
deployment and contro! of any such funds.

» Working in conjunction with the Board Risk,
Audit and Compliance Committee to oversee
the identification and mitigation of risks
relating to ESG, as well as the identification
of opportunities related to ESG matters.
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The Regulated Entities Board

The role of the Regulated Entities Board is to provide appropriate governance and oversight of Group
subsidiaries which are subject to FCA regulation and/or PRA jurisdiction, namely RAC Motoring Services,
RAC Financiol Services Limiled und RAC Insurance Limited.

The Reguiated Entities Board is chaired by an independent non-executive director, and its other members
are four of the Group's executive directors being the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, the
Chief Marketing and People Officer and CEO Business Roadside, the Group’s Non-Executive Chairman and
two additional independent Non-Executive Directors.

Key areas for which the Regulated Entities Board is responsible include:

» Monitoring the performance of the Regulated Entities against the strategic objectives of the Group and
its subsidiary companies.

¥} Ensuring the establishment and operation of effective controls and a positive culture to ensure
customers are treated in accordance with both the Group’s policies and regulatory requirements,

» Reviewing detailed information on key matters such as conduct risk, complaints and quolity assurance
on an ongoing basis and monitoring trends.

Y Overseeing the regulatory landscape in respect of conduct matters and reviewing the actions taken
in relation to any regulatory developments which may have a material impact on the Group, including
oversight of implementation of regulatory change such as the Consumer Duty.

» Overseeing investigations into any matericl regulatory breaches and agreeing actions to be taken
in response.

3 Specifically, in respect of RAC Insurance Limited, ensuring compliance with all PRA requirements
including Solvency Il requirements and the Own Risk and Solvency Assessment process.

The Regidated Entities Board meets a minimum of six times per year.

Other committees and working groups

A number of other committees and working
groups operate across the Group which meet
regularly in order to oversee various aspects of the
business and to ensure appropriate safeguards
are in ploce that detoiled management
information is produced and monitored.

Corporate governance arrangements

In accordance with the provisions of The
Companies {Miscellanecus Repeorting) Regulations
2018, the Company has chosen to apply the Wates
Corporate Governance Principles {the “Principles”}
for Large Private Companies for reporting in
relation to the 2022 financial year. The Principles,
and an explanation of how gach Principle has
been addressed by the Company, are set out on
the next page.
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1. Purpose and
Leadership

2. Board Composition

The Group has a clear purpose, to provide complete peace of mind to our members for

all their driving needs, with a focus on differentiation and innovation to set it apart from
the competition. This is aligned to the strategy to deliver long-term sustainable growth,
which is at the forefront of decision making, underpinned by o guality customer experience
enabled by people, digital platforms, and data. The Board understands that the delivery

of the strategy is only possible through the RAC's people and their success individually
and cotlectively, which was reflected in continued strong engagement scores in the 2022
colleague engagement survey. Mere detail on the results of this survey are included in

our SCSR report.

The Group's core "Hero Values' of Handle it tegether, Exceptional Service, Raise the Bar
and Own it, ensure we keep the best interests of our colleagues and members gt the heart
of everything we do. Together with the passion, cornmitment and integrity of colleagues,
the values are well embedded in the RAC culture. The Here Values are also incerporated
into colleagues’ rewards and recognition as they farm the part of the performance review
and management regime.

The Group ond the Executive Committee are committed to ensunng that the RAC
operates in a sustaingble and ethical way. This commitment is supported by the RAC
corporate policies which include the RAC Code of Conduct and the RAC Regulatory Code
of Conduct policies and more detail on this is set out in our SCSR report.

CEQ Review: poges 8 -13
Sustaingbility, Corparate and Sccicl Responsibility Report: pages 86 - 95

The Board, has an appropriate balance of executive and non-executive directors and of
skills, knowledge, and experience apprepriate to meet the strategic needs and challenges
of the Company, and that of the wider Group, to enable effective decision making. The
Directors also undertake regular refresher training. Evaluation of the effectiveness of
Group Boards and ather Committees takes place on ¢ regular basis.

Governance report: pages 70 - 85
Directors Report: pages 66 - 105
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There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chairman, the Executive Directors,

and the Non-Executive Directors. Clear Terms of Reference for the membership and

responsibilities of the Group's various Beard Committees supports effective decision

making and ensures that the Directors receive regular and timely information on all

key aspects of the business including the financial performaonce, operational matters,

3 Director colleague engagement, health and safety, data protection, strategy and ESG matters, all
Responsibilities supparted by key performance indicators (KPIs). The Board's key areas of focus in 2022

are noted in the Section 172 report on pages 66 - 69. The Directors approve the updated

strategic plan on an annucl basis which supports the longer term S-year plan and regularly

review the progress.

Corparate governance report: page 81 -85
Committees: pages 78 - 81

The Directors are tully engaged in the Group's efforts to enhance its existing products,

as well as its expansion inte new areas as it seeks to offer what customers want and to
drive the long-term sustainable growth of the Company and the wider Group. All material
business development opportunities are subject te a detailed and rigorous review and
approval process by the relevant Group Boards.

A formal risk manogement framewaork is in ploce for the identification, monitoring
and management of risks, which is overseen by the Board Risk, Audit and
4. Opportunity Complionce Commitlee.

and Risk One of the key areas of both risk and opportunity in 2023 is the implementation of

Consumer Duty. The Regulated Entities Board is overseeing this on behalf of the Group
and is involved on all key decisions. We expect this to drive positive culturat change

which provides an opportunity for the RAC to use this change to distinguish itself from
competitars as we increase focus on achieving good customer cutcomes for cur members.

CEQ review: pages 8 - 13
Strotegic management report: pages 24 - 33
Risk management report: pages 34 - 47

Remuneration is ultimately overseen by the Group's Boord Remuneration Committee,
which is responsible for agreeing the individucl remuneration packages (including pension
rights, compensation payments and other benefits) for each of the CEG, the Chairman,
each executive director, and other senicr executives of the Group. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for incentive and bonus arrangements and awards,
including setting the relevant targets for performance related schemes, The Committee
ensures that the remuneration palicy is aligned with the Company's sustainable
long-term growth by ensuring that the remuneration practices across the Group operate
in line with PRA and FCA requirements and, specifically that they do not drive
inappropriate behaviours, ensuring a focus on regulatory adherence supporting the
delivery of positive customer cutcomes. The Remuneration Committee approved changes
to the group remuneration policy during 2022 to introduce additional control-focused
measures into the incentive schemes across the Group and to strengthen the balanced
scorecard used within the annual bonus scheme. Of our 4000 colieagues, 72% are male
and 28% female.

5. Remuneration

The Group continues to publish its gender and pay reporting externally.

Remuneration Committee: page 79
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6. Stakehotder

Relationships and
Engagement

The Group is clear that good governance and effective engagement and communication
with its stakeholders is critically important to ensure the long-term sustainability of the
business. The Directors have due regards to stakeholders when making decisions but
recognise that in some instances the interests and impacts between stakeholder groups
may nat always be aligned. The Board and Executive Committee assess the conflicts to
belance them in their decision making.

Colleagues

The RAC continues to work hard to maintain ¢ healthy and safe working envirenment for
all its colleagues with regular H&S matters reported to the Board and ESG Committee.
Health & safety matters are of the highest importance to the RAC and to support the
continuaus impravement programme in this areq, the reporting line for health & safety was
moved to the Chief Risk & Legai Officer in 2022.

The Company has several initiatives to encourage feedback and communication between
colleagues and the Executive team, including an annual collegue engagement survey,
regulor round table discussions with the CEQ, strategy briefings and a relounched
colleague engagement forum, which crganises social and fundraising events across the
sites s well as gothering feedback on key issues. In March 2022, the Company introduced
Workplace, a social and collaboration platform to improve the way the Company
communicates with colleagues, with 85% of colleagues activated and using the platform,
It offers colleagues support through the oppertunity to connect and create networks.

As part of the Silver Lake investment, the Group also approved a one-off award to
colleagues in recagnition of the hard werk across the business to make the RAC an
attractive investment,



6. Stakeholder
Relationships and

Engagemnent
{continued)
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Customers

In terms of customer engagement, surveys are conducted to determine the Net Promoter
Srowe (NPS) far wvnrinns intergaetions with cugtomars and used as a tool to pinpoint areas
for impravement and to cantinually enhance the customer journey. The NPS scores

are reguiarly discussed and considered by the Directors and other Group governance
meetings. The Company’s social media chennels provide a useful medium in which to
allow customers to interact directly with the RAC 24-hours 6 day, seven days a week In
2022 the business set out its customer outcomes framework which it will use tc ensure that
customess receive good outcomes and that the RAC proactively identifies any risks to its
ability to deliver those outcomes.

Community

The Group strives ta create long-term benefits for the community by creating employment,
providing support to drivers through its products and services, forging links with chantable
associations and continuing to support its chosen charities in 2022,

Suppliers

Positive supplier engagement is imperative in ensuring the effective procurement and
supply of goods and services which is critical to the smooth running of the business.

The RAC Group continues to publish data evidencing its payment perfermance as part of
the duty to report on payrent practices and performance.

Regulators

When engaging with regulators the Group is open and transparent end any such
engagement Is considered and discussed, with directors providing appropriate guidance
and support. The Group also ensures that it is proactive in ensuring it is complant and up
to date on all legislative and regulatory requirements.

Shareholders

The Company engages positively and proactively with its shareholder and the Group's
principel sharehalders and enjoys effective and regular engagement with its sharehalders,
representatives of whom are appointed to the Board as Non-Executive Directors.

Corporate Governance Report: pages 81 -85
Sustainability Corporate Social Responsibility Report: pages 86 - 95
Directors Report: pages 96 - 105
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Sustainability, Corporate and
Social Responsibility report
For the year ending 31 December 2022

In 2022, the RAC celebrated its 125th anniversary. The Company has a
great heritage and a proven track record, but as well as acknowledging
and celebrating the past, we are very much looking to the future. There
are exciting plans to grow our business in the next five years and to

do this, it is essential we continue to build member loyalty, protect

and enhance our reputation, and commit to being a responsible and
ststninnhle hrisiness

Dur ESG framework

ESG considerations are integrated in every area of the RAC to reflect
our brand promise of ‘complete peace of mind’” and our vatues through
a cemmitment to long-term sustainable growth and development.

Our ESG commitments are structured around the following key areas:
OQur Environment, Our People, Our Customers, Our Communities and
Our Corporate Governance.

90 Environmental
91  Social

94  Governance
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Sustainability, Corporate and Social Responsibility report

For the year ending 31 December 2022

“r’ Environmental - at a glance

Eleclicily und gus LCO2e in offices combihed
consumption decreased by 16.7% despite greater
post COVID-19 accupancy in the buildings during
the year os a result of ongoing investments to
improve energy efficiency.

-16.7%

Launched Eco MHeroes designed to promote
good cotleague envirgnmental behaviours to
encourage a reduction in waste and improved
recycling rates.

U

-.r;«.n Social - at a glance

A new and enhanced Employee Assistance

Programme was launched in October. A confidential

service providing access to qualified trained
advisers and counsellors who can provide support
on life events that offect colleagues or their famity.

S

Orange Heroes Awards
Back after 3 years to give recognition to
colleagues whao truly tive our HERQ values.

ORANGFHEROES
2023 Awards

Adapted the Bullding Management Strategy
to optimise efficiency of plant equipment e.g.
improvements in HVAC systems automatically
reduced consumption.

Continue to transition to EVs for our colleagues
and customers and update our company car
fleet to electric and hybrid, with over 80% of our
company car fleet now being Hybrid or Electric,
up from 59% in 2021.

+21%

60 mentol health first aiders suppaorting
colieagues and 40 wellbeing champions. These
colleagues are volunteers with a passion for
health & wellbeing issues ranging from mental
health, nutrition, exercise, and mindfulness.

Health & safety

> 32% reduction in Lost Time Incident rate
per 100,000 working hours reported from
H1to H2 2022.

-32%



sl Governance - at a glance

The Board £5G Committee was established

in 2021 and during 2022 has overseen a range
of ESG initiatives and delivery of the overall
ESG strategy providing strong foundations for
delivering further change during 2023.

Our recruitment practices have been reviewed
to ensure that recruitment activities capture a
diverse talent pool and that we capture relevant
data throughout the process. In addition, we
have conducted colleague surveys to capture
more granular data on the characteristics of

our workforce.

= Sustainability, Corporate and Social Responsibility repart

We have aligned our ESG lead internally with

our Head of Health, Safety, Environment &
Quality and allocated specific resource to ESG
matters within that team to ensure ongoing focus
and momentum.

We have continued our programme of work to
assess the risks arising from climate change to
atlow us to meet our regulatory expectations
in terms of financial risks and to allow early
adoption of TCFD reporting.
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V Environmental

Cur environmentatl strategy

Our environmental strategy is focussed on
environmentally sustainable initiatives that deliver
near-term efficiency, value, and heatth for our
business, our people, and the wider community
with particular emphasis on:

> Identifying opportunities to reduce our
emissions and to cut greenhouse gas
emissions from Gur fleet (incl. company car
fleet} and our offices,

Finalising our ‘NDecarbonisation Plan’ to
develop ‘net-zero roadmaps’ to achieve net
zero by 2050 at the latest, including:

+ Carben footprint and baselining
(scope 1& 2 (direct emissions) & scope 3
(indirect emissions)).

+ Implementing science-based carbon
reduction targets to ensure the RAC
achieves or exceeds current goal of
net-zero by 2050,

- Quantitative, time bound ESG KPIs
aligned to the Sustainability Disclosure
Requirements *"SDR” and Task Force for

Climate-Related Financial Disclosure “TCFD”.

* On-yolry sudtegy ahd delivery against
targets and objectives of plan.

3} Minimising the amount of waste we create,
recycling where we can and avoiding waste
going to landfill, reducing our demand for
water and the amount of water that is lost
or wasted on our premises, maintaining
our 1SO15001 Environmental Management
System accreditation.

Qur Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report
set out on pages 98 ~ 104 details our specific
achievements in these areas during 2022.

Sustainable procurement

The RAC recognises that improving its
procurement performance is an ongoing process
and that its suppliers, both large and small, are
important partners in the journey to become
more sustainable.

The RAC’s sustainability policy is designed to
encourage a diverse range of suppliers to tender
to provide services, materials, or expertise in

tine with the RAC’s Suppliers 'Code of Conduct’.
This document sets out our ESG ambitions - for
example: we have implemented several successful
ESG initiatives working closely with our suppliers
including the removal of disposable plastic cups
from our sites as well as donating surplus office
furniture to a redistribution charity.




sgw Social

The RAC employs around 4,000 colleagues and
vatucs their conlribution and invalvemeant in the
business. Our aim to provide complete peace of
mind extends to colleaques as much as customers
and we are proud to provide a supportive, safe,
and inclusive environment within which our
collengues can flourish.

Our culture reflects our Hero Values which
represent who we are, what we believe and

how we behave. They help us to make the right
decisions, create appropriate policy and process,
and ultimately improve the callengue expenence

We are extremely proud of the achievements of
our colteagues during 2022 and their commitment
to adapting to hybrid werking and helping our
business and members deal with the challenges
posed by the cost-of-living crisis.

We continue to strive to proactively identify
opportunities for our colleagues to develop
new skills and abilities and to achieve their
fult potential.

g5, 70
\.

Colleague survey
engugenient

Workpluce aclivulions
in 3 manths

Colleague engagement

2022 was a big year for improving the way we
communicate and engage with our colleagues.
In March, we introduced Workplace by Meta

- a social communication and collaboration
platform for all our people. Within three months
we had 85% of our workforce activated and
using the platform. It has provided a channel for
all colleagues to share news and information,
ask guestions, get help quickly and recognise
each other.

Our CEO has continued to demonstrate his
passion and commitment to direct engagement
with colleagues by running "Dave's Big
Coenversation” regularly throughout the year.
These sessions are run virtually, and any
colleague can join, ask questions, and debate
directly with the CEQ and other members of the
senior leadership team. The level of debate and
engagement at these sessions demonstrates that
our colleagues feel confident and comfortable in
sharing feedback and asking questions.

In our annual engagement survey, we saw
an uplift in response rate in 2022 with 70% of
colleagues using the opportunity to share their
feelings about how it feels to work at the RAC,
allowing us to better understand where we are
meeting our colleagues’ expectations and where
we can do better. Engagement scores continued
the overcil trend of improvement we have seen
since 2018, albeit marginally down on the record
2021 results.
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;;{ Social
(continued)

Health and wellbeing H]

We are exlremely pleased with the progress we
huve mude o gur uribition of Improving the
mental health & wellbeing of our colleagues in
2022 willi u wide 1unye of iniliulives launched
across the business, including:

} 60 mental health first aiders supporting
colleagues and 40 wellbeing champions
supported by launch of a colleague Wellbeing
app to assist cotleagutes with health &
wellbeing issues ranging from mental health, >
nutrition, exercise, and mindfulness.

> Wellbeing sessions have been run by an
external provider across the hissiness,
including mental health awareness for line
managers, stress and resilience training, cost
of living and pension webirars.

3  We have undertaken various activities to
support our colleagues at the roadside in
partnership with ‘Tough Enough to Care’.

The charity is aimed predominantly at men

of all ages who are susceptible to feeling
pressure not to ask tor help or talk about their
feelings - the aim of the charity is to prevent
male suicide,

Counseling

& Adwice Meiglem

o Erow § comhaamin:
o Comm plisry apeen
A ARG B AT Aty

0800 326 1437
e, &

[ TaughEnougTof are |

A new and enhanced Employee Assistance
Programme was launched in October 2022
providing a confidential service and access to
qualified trained advisers and counsellors who
can provide support on life events that affect
colleagues or their family. The EAP has been
well-received with the access to six free
counselling sessions (accessible within 72
hours) and the extension of all the benefits of
the EAP to our colleagues’ households being
particularly well received.

To support colieagues further with the
challenges around cost of living, we launched
our "Qrange Savings” initiative in November
2022. This provides discounts on everyday
items, including discounts on supermarkets,
insurances, and other items to make
colleagues’ salaries go that bit further.

We took the opportunity to relaunch our social
forums and renamed them The Hives! Each
Hive consists of colleagues who go above and
beyond to organise social events to engage
and celebrate with our people, while also
raising funds for charity.




Charitios

Over the course of 2022 we have supported many different charities
in a variety of ways:

» Supporting vulnerable road-users is one of the things we do best, so
much so that we joined forces with the Midlands Air Ambulance Charity
to sponsor the lifesnving service’s Bike4life 2022 Ride Out event and
festival in April which was supported by RAC breakdown services.

2> We continue to partner with The Prince’s Trust to support their ‘Get
Into’ program, sponscred by CVC. This programme aims to give young
people aged 16 to 25, who are work-ready but do not have vocational
skills, a mixture ot practical training and experience that will enable
them to get a job.

» The Hive supported various activities across the year including the
Platinum Jubilee celebrations and celebrating the RAC’s 125th birthday
with tree planting as well as cakes and treats on sale to raise funds for
our three nominated charities: Alzheimer's UK; Suicide Prevention UK
and kirty’s Fund,

MIDLANDS
AL AMBULANCL CLIARITY

Againi

Bnrantle SUICIDE PREVENTION UK

Prince’s Trust
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};{ Social
(continued)

Training and Vevelocpment

We huve ulways believed the long-term
development of our people, Lheil conlidence,
skills, uod expatience, is a responsibility of the
business, and a critical requirement for sustained
commercial success. To support this in 2022 we
launched our new online learning platform which
replaces our existing system bringing together our
online learning together in one place.

In uddilion, our parinership with the West
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA)

continues Lu muxitnise uppor lunllles using our
apprenticeship levy. We are supporting local
SMEs by sponsoring STEM based apprenticeships
helping to develop local talent and sustainable
skitls in the West Midlands. We also continue to
invest funds supporting 30 young people in motor
engineering and digital apprenticeships.

it}

(zovernance

The primary responsibility of the Board is to
promote the tong-term success of the Company,
creating and delivering sustainable shareholder
value as well as contributing to society. To support
this, we have formal governance structures
running from the Board tn the Fxeruitive Tenm and
through the business to manage risk, camplinnre
and strategy closely. For more information on

this, please see our Governance Report on

pages 70 - 85.

in 2022, under the supervision of our ESG
Committee, we have made significant progress
with implementation of the Task Force on
Climate-related MNoundiul Disclosures (TCFDY)

Diversity, Equality & Inclusion

The RAC benefits from a diverse workforce.

We aim to provide an environment in which our
colleagues can be contident that they wilt always
be treated equally, fairly and respectfully, and

to foster a "speak-up” culture where everyone’s
opinions and contributions are valued.

10 this end, we recognise that our business,
colleagues and members will benefit by @
continued focus on ways in which we can
encourage further diversity. During 2022, we have
taken steps to improve the quality of data that we
have in relation to diversity characteristics both
for applicants at recruitment stage and colleagues
to inform a more targeted DEI strategy.

We have also participated in diversity networks
for industry peers to exchange ideas and share
best practice and our employment policies,
procedures and practices to support a culture
where decisions are based on individuol ability
and potential, eliminating as far as possible the
risk of unconscious bias.

requirements which wili be mandatory from

2023. This has included a detailed assessment

of the climate change risks to the RAC. Having
elected to voluntarily early adopt many of the
recommendations in 2022, this is our first year of
reporting climate-related disclosures {see pages
48 to 64). Climate related financial disclosures will
become mandatory for the Group from FY 2023
and we will be turther developing our reporting
to be fully consistent with TCFD recommended
disclosures in the next reporting period. This will
include key metrics/indicators for progress against
our ESG principles and objectives which will give
us a true benchmark as to where we sit across
these measures, enabling clear goals and targets
to he set in 2023 and beyond.










Directors’ report
For the year ending 31 December 2022

I he Uirectors present their Annual Report on the affairs of the Group.
together with the Financial Statements and independent auditor’s For
the year ending 31 December 2022, Under the terms of the Companies
Act 2006, the Directors’ report is required to contain certain statutory,
regulatory and other information.

The Directors have incorporated the busingss review, employee
participation & diversity by cross-reference to the Corporate Social
Responsibility report, as permitted by the Companies Act 2006.

Directors

The names of the current Directors are set out on page 1. Those who
have served in office during the year and until the date of signing of
this report have been as follows:

J Baker

M Boughton (resigned 14 March 2022)

T Gatlico

J Galare (gppointed 14 March 2022}

D Hobday

P Hooper

A Levy {resigned 14 March 2022, re-appointed 1July 2022)
T Mohindra (appointed 1 September 2022}
H C Ormond (resigned 1July 2022)

S | Patterson (appointed 14 March 2022)

R lempleman

G M Wood
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Directors’ indemnities

The Company has granted an indemnity to the
Directors against liability in respect of proceedings
brought by third parties, subject to the conditions
set out in the Companies Act 2006. The indemnity
was first granted in 2011 to the Directors of the
then RAC Group holding company and novated

to the Directors of this Company in December
2014, The provisions in the Company's Articles

of Association constitute "qualifying third party
indemnities” for the purposes of section 236 of the
Companies Act 2006. These qualifying third party
indermnity provisions remain in force as at the date
of approving the Directors’ Report by virtue of the
transitional provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Results and dividends: The results of the Group
For the year ending 31 December 2022 are set out
on page 121 and discussed in the Strategic Report
on pages 6 - 49,

The Group paid interim dividends of £345 mililion
during the year, amounting to 101.73 pence

per share (2021: £nil). No final dividend was

paid (2021: Enil).

There are no final dividends proposed.

Capital structure: As at 31 December 2022, CVC
Funds, GIC and Silver Lake, in aggregate, had
control of the Group by virtue of their majority
indirect shareholding in the Company.

Political donations: The Group did not make any
political donations during the year (2021: Enil).

Financial risk management: Details of the Group's
use of financial instruments, together with
information on risk objectives and policies and
exposure to market, credit, liquidity, and interest
rate risks, can be found on pages 38 - 39 of the
Strategic Report.

Streamlined energy & carbon reporting

Under the Companies (Directors’ Report) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Enerqy and
Carbon Report) Regulations 2018. RAC Bidco
Limited are mandated to disclose their UK
energy use and associated greenhouse gas
emissions. Specifically, we are required to report,
as a minimum, energy use and associated GHG
emissions relating to natural gas, electricity, and
transport fuel, as well as an intensity ratio and
a narrative on energy efficiency action taken
over the year.

There is no prescribed reporting methodology
under the legislation, although for effective
emissions management and transparency it is
important that robust and accepted methods
are used.

The RAC Bidco Limited waste data is collated
by our external waste partner, Reconomy, for
our offices and Ecobat for our field waste. Both
provide regular reports to the RAC to engble
us to monitor and implement improvements
where necessary.

Transport fuel data and other energy use data is
collated monthly or as frequentiy as it becomes
available and used for ongoing analysis.

The RAC has assessed greenhouse gas emissions
using the ‘GHG Reporting Protocol - A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard’ and in
accordance with Defras Environmental Reporting
Guidelines: including Streamlined Energy and
Carbon Reporting requirements.



The reporting scope in the tables below is
inclusive of the following operations:

2} RAC Bidco Limited UK emissions

2> Wholly owned UK subsidiaries in the
RAC Group

The reporting scope includes the following energy
sources (split between mandated figures with a
total, and additional voluntary figures):

2> Electricity used for RAC Bidco Ltd ond
subsidiary operations at RAC occupied
buildings (scope 2, see row 1in table A)

> Gos used to heat RAC Bidco Ltd and
subsidiary operations ot RAC occupied
buildings {scope 1, see row 2 in table A}

} Transport fuel and mileage data used for
RAC Bidco Ltd and subsidiary operations
under RAC operational control (scope 1, see
row 3 in table A), which includes purchased
diesel for rondside fleet and fuel purchased
on fuel cards, Fuel and distance data has
been converted in kWh

}» Transport fuel and mileage used for RAC
Bidco Ltd and subsidiary operations under
RAC operational control (scope 3, see row 4
in table A), which includes business mileage
in personal vehicles, and business mileage in
contractor vehicles. Fuel ond distance data
has been converted in kWh

2  Water used for RAC Bidco Ltd and subsidiary
operations at RAC occupied buildings (scope 3,
see row 5in table B)

? Waste generated at RAC Bidco Ltd ond
subsigiary occupied buildings (scope 3, see
row & in table B),

? Vehicle waste generated from RAC Bidco Ltd
and subsidiary operations (scope 3, see row 7
in table B).

- Directors’ report

For some data sources, assumptions have been
used where energy and carbon use cannot be
calculated exactly from primary data - for example
where utility invoices are provided quarterly

rather than monthly. These are recorded and any
changes in source data and methodology in future
years will be notified. All carbon emissions factors
are taken from ‘UK Government GHG Conversion
Factors for Company Reporting” issued by Defra
and BEIS, for the appropriate years,

The reporting scope covers energy used over
the reporting period from st January 2022 - 31st
December 2022, in line with the financial year.
Energy and carbon use for the 2021 year are also
shown, to allow year-on-year comparisons.

2019 is used as a baseline for our energy
reduction targets.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Finanaial Statements 2022
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Mandatory information® RAC Bidco Ltd
Table A (Scope 1 & 2 emissions) 202 2022
Energy  Emissions Energy  Emissions
{kWh) {tCOze) (kWh} (tCOze)
Electricity
Electnicity for subsidiary operations at the 4,395,746 23335 3952475 75575

RAC occupied buildings

Gas

21.42 .
Gas for RAC and subsidiary occupied buildings 4455,056 8 3489203 70876
Transport fuel and mileage data
Purchased diesel for roadside fleet and fuel purchased on 50,697,253 12,199.07 52,490,454 12,66136
fuel cards. Fuel and distance data has been converted in kWh

Transport fuel

Business mileage in personal vehicles, and business
mileage in contractor vehicles. Fuel and distance data
has been canverted in kWh

59,611,479 1915.09 62,152,058 1595201

Totak 1M9159,535  29,068.93 122,084,190  30,074.88

Intensity ratio:

1 001346 §
kwh and tCOze / Total jobs 5516 0.01346

60.82 0.01498

*The reporting scope includes the foilowing energy sources (split between mandated figures with a total, and additional
voluntary figures
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RAC Bidco Ltd

Table B (Scope 3 emissions (excluding supply chain)) 2023 2022
Units  Emissions Units  Emissions

{as shown) (tCOze) {as shown) {tCOze)
Water
Water used for RAC Group & subsidiary operations 13,406 m3 199 13,650m3 203
at RAC occupied buildings (scope 3)
Wastewater
Wastewater used for RAC Group & subsidiary operaticns 12,735 m3 346 12968 m3 353
at RAC occupied buildings
Office waste
Waste used for RAC Group & subsidiary operations N4t 073 143t 678
at RAC occupied buildings {scope 3)
Vehicle waste
All aspects of roadside vehicle waste for RAC Group 4.2t 0.09 5.2t on
& subsidiary operations (Scope 3)
Total 6.29 12,446

*The reperting scope includes the following energy sources {split between mandated figures with ¢ total, and additional

veluntary figures

GHG emissions and energy use data

We have achieved some significant reductions

in gas and electricity consumption during 2022.
However, these reductions were counterbalanced
by an increase in fuel consumption driven by the
impacts of post COVID-19 operational demands.
Consequently, our overall combined energy
consumption from electricity, gas and transport
fuel increased by approximately 3% compared
with 2021,

Energy consumption

We are compliant with the Government

and Environment Agencies Energy Saving
Opportunities Scheme (ESOS Phase 2) and
Streamlined Energy & Carben Reporting. During
the year, the business has achieved a 16.71%
decrease in electricity and gas kW/hr combined
consumption in offices even in the face of greater
post COVID-19 occupancy in the buildings.

The significant reduction is a result of the on-
going energy efficiency improvement projects
being undertaken across our sites. The removal
of mandated 100% fresh air ventilation being
utilised through our BMS systems within the
offices through the COVID-19 pandemic has also
contributed to the energy reduction figures.

RAC BidcoLimited | Annnal Report & Financial Statements 2022
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Qur energy efficiency improvement programme

2> Qur Bescot site: we have replaced two chilier
units, replaced the air handling unit system,
and updated our external car park lighting to
maximise energy efficiency and reduce costs.

> Our Bradley Stoke site: we have completed
a project to replace and upgrade existing
lighting for a more eco-efficient LED option
across carridors, meeting rooms, the reception
areas, and kitchens.

» Our Stretford site: Upgrade and replacement
of the gas burners to maximise energy
efficiency as well as a full internal eco efficient
LED lighting upgrade.

» Allour training sites have oll had a ful
upgrade to LED lighting.

> We have reduced the cooling in the
IT/Comms chilled server rooms and removed
air conditioning units.

In addition to the above we have been monitoring
our monthly consumption closely via the Building
Management System (BMS) and utilities invoices
to identify opportunities to further enhance our
strategy throughout the year. For example, we
identified an opportunity to optimise the efficiency
of plant equipment by making improvements

in our Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning
(HVAC) systems.

During 2022 there has been an increase in the
water and wastewater volumes compared with
2021 as occupancy increased back to more normal
levels post pandemic.

We have chosen our energy suppliers carefully,
with sustainability in mind, currently using Drax/
Npower for our gas and electricity. Drax is the
secend largest sustainable biomass producer
globally, and the UK's largest source of renewable
power by output.

We have recently completed a Dynamic Thermal
Modelling Assessment (DTMA). The thermal
dynamic models are used to model the impact
of varicus alternative systems and interventions;
the output of the building models is then
applied to other software modules to simulate
the performance of various building plant and
system arrangements.

These models have identified options for upgrades
or medifications to our systems to reduce energy
consumption and reduce our carbon footprint.
Further analysis of the options will take place
early in 2023 to identify the viable initiatives for

us to take forward.

Transport

Cur overall transpart COZ emissions increased
by 4.75% largely due to changes in operational
demands resulting in a greater number and
distance of towing jobs, increased reliance on
contractor recoveries and expanded post-COVID
company car usage,

Our roadside fleet is fully comptliont with the
strictest Euro 6 emissions standard. Our vans are
fitted with telematics and CCTV cameras and
recording systems, which has helped us to review
driving behaviours and identify where we can
provide support, and target training and coaching
efforts with a view to improving driver behaviour
and reducing road risk, accident frequency and
fuel consumption.

We continue with our ongoing program of
informing and training our colleagues via internal
campaigns and Continual Behavioural Training
(CBT) programs such as, ‘Safe and fuel-efficient
driver training” and ‘Envircnmental Management
at the roadside’ which for example, provide
guidance to colleagues on how to deal with
roadside generated waste and environmental
incidents such as spillages.



In addition, we have o well-established Vehicle
Tools and Equipment Group which operates a
continuous improvement programme to identify
where we may be able to adopt new technolngirs
to enhance our vehicles and equipment.

The RAC continues to use the ali-wheels up
trailer which we developed in 2018 to support our
ambition to reduce consumption by allowing us
to either repair or tow ¢90% of our customers’
vehicles where historically we would have had to
send a second resource to recover the vehicle,

The lightweight, mobile electric vehicle (EV)
charger capability which we introduced in 2019
was the first of its kind and removes the need

to carry heavy, bulky batteries that must be
recharged after each use or the need to put an
out-of-charge vehicle on to a flatbed recovery
truck to take it a short distance to a charge point.

RAC EV Boost has been uprated from 3.5kW to
5kW to increase the speed of charge for members
who either run out of charge or encounter faulty
charge points and adds around 10 miles of range

Gavin, patrol since 2006, North West

-z Directors’ report

in around 30 minutes or less. Approximately 200
RAC vans, around a fifth of our patrol fleet, are
now fitted with EV Boost chargers.

We have won a host of awards for the EV Boost
charger, including Best Use of Technology at the
Motor Transpeort Awards 2021 and Best Product
Development Innovation in the UK Business and
Innovation Awards 2022

In 2022, we continued to work with our motoring
partners 1o explore, develop, trial, and test the use
and viability of electric vehicles as a replacement
for our current patrol and recovery vehicles.

We will continue to conduct trials throughout
2023 to assess issues related to charging and
range and to further understand how we might
gccommodate the challenges of reduced
capability and inability to tow.

Finalty, we have continued to update our company
car fleet with a focus on supporting the transition
to EVs, with 80% of our company cars now either
hybrid or full EVs.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annucl Report & Financial Statements 2022
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Woaste

The implications of post-COVID recovery have
impacted on oyr waste metrics where, despite

a range of initiatives to reduce waste, we have
seen an impact from a combination of an increase
in office occupancy ond several ad-hec waste
clearance activities which had been delayed due
to the pandemic.

During 2022, we implemented a campaign

with colleagues focussed around reducing
waste, ‘EcoHeroes’ which involved a number of
initiatives including:

¥ Removal of single use plastics across our
offices by removing single use cups and
plastic cutlery, replaced by china mugs and
wooden cutlery.

2 Refreshing the recycling stations and
communications regarding recycling to make it
clearer which items can be recycled.

¥ Completing a communications campaign
to promote various initiatives underpinning
EcoHeroes amongst our colleagues.

) Building closer working relationships with
our waste broker/providers to provide further
comfort that we moniter and manage waste
levels consistently.

Going concern:

The Directors have ossessed the financial

position and the future prospects and funding
requirements of the RAC Bidco Limited Group

and the Company and compared them to the
level of available committed borrowing facilities.
Details of cash and borrowing facilities are set out
in notes 19 and 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The RAC Bidco Limited Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing

its capital, its financial risk management
objectives, details of its financial risk management
objectives, details of its financial instruments

and hedging activities, and its exposure to credit
risk and liquidity risk are set out in note 29 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Directors’ assessment included a review

of the Group's financial forecasts, financial
instruments end hedging arrangements for the
18-month period from the Statement of Financial
Position date. The Directars considered a range
of potential trading and market-related risks,
including regulatory change, roadside demand
and usage change, plus mitigating actions and
how these may impact on cash flow, facility
headroom and the Group's ability to comply with
the terms of its borrowings.

The RAC Bidce Limited Group’s and Company’s
business activities, together with their strategy for
future growth and assessment of the key risks are
set out in the Strategic Report on pages 24 to 33
and the Risk Management section on pages 34 to
47. The Directors also considered what mitigating
actions the RAC Bidco Limited Group could take to
limit any adverse consequences.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has net liabilities
of £128 million and net current liabilities of £348
million. The Group's net assets position largely
reflects the value of separately identifiable
intangible assets, offset by book value of issued
bonds of £1,246 million and bank borrowings of
£422 million.

Having undertaken this assessment, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the RAC Bidco Limited Group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence

for the foreseeable future and so determine

that it is appropriate for the 2022 Company and
Consolidoted Financial Statements to be prepared
on g going concern basis,



Auditor:

The appointment of the auditor for 2023 will
be proposced to the Board ul the July 2023
Board meeting.

Disclosure of information to the auditor:

Each person who was a director of the Company
on the date that this report was approved
confirms that, so far os the director is aware,
there is no relevant audit information, being
information needed by the auditor in connection
with preparing his report, of which the auditor is
unaware. Each director has taken all the steps
that he or she ought to have taken as a director
in order to make himself or herself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that
the auditor is aware of that information. This
confirmation is given and should be interpreted
in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities:

Directors are responsible for preparing the

Annual Report and the Financial Statements

In accordance with the applicable taw and
regulations. Company law requires the Directors
to prepare Financial Statements for each financial
period. Under that law the Directors have elected
to prepare the Financial Statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs") as adopted by the United Kingdom.
Under company law the Directors must not
approve the Financial Statements unless they are
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and the Company
and of the profit or loss of the Company for

that period.

= Directers' report

In preparing these financial statements,
International Accounting Standard 1 requires
that Directors:

3} Properly select and apply accounting policies.

2 Presentinformation, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information.

» Provide additional disclosures when
comgpliance with the specific requirements
in IFRSs are insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on
the entity’s financial position and financial
performance.

2} Make an assessment of the Group's and
the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are sufficient

to show and explain the Company’s transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financiol position of the Company and enable
them to ensure that the Financial Statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company ond hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial
information including on the Group’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing

the preparation and dissemination of Financial
Statements may differ from legisiation in

other jurisdictions.

Approved by the Board on 2 March 2023
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Financial statements
Independent auditor's report to the members of RAC Bidco Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion

We have aqudited the financial statements
In our opinion: which comprise:
} The financial statements of RAC Bidco Limited ? The consolidated income statement.

(the 'parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state
of the group’s and of the parent company’s

)} The consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the ¥ The consclidated and parent company
group’s loss for the year then ended. statements of financial position;

> The group financial statements have been » The consolidated and parent company
properly prepared in accordance with statements of changes in equity.
United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards. » The consolidated and parent company

statement of cash flow.
» The parent company financiat statements

have been properly prepared in accordance > The accounting policies.
with United Kingdom adopted interrational
accounting standards and as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006,

}» The related notes 1to 33 of the consolidated
financial statements and 1to 9 of the parent
company financial statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and
United Kingdom adopted internotional accounting
standards and, as regards the parent company
financial statements, as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006,

?» The financiol stotements have been prepared
in gccordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK} (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the guditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financiol statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting
Council's (the ‘FRC’s") Ethical Standard. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the group for the year are disclosed in note
7 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not provided any non-audit services prohibited by
the FRC'S Ethical standard to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our cpinion.
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3. Summary of our audit approach

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year was the carrying value of

goedwill and ullien ndefitile useful Ute intangible assets.

Ke i
Y oudit matter Within this report, key audit matters are identified as fotlows:

&3 similar level of risk
The materiality that we used for the group financial statements was £7.8m which was

determined on the basis of 3% of earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, and
amortisation (EBITDA) adjusted for exceptional items.

Materiality

Audit work to respond to risks of material misstatement was performed directly by the
audit engagement tegm. The statutory audit for the parent compony ond its subsidiaries

Scoping was performed by a single audit engagement team at the same time. Our full scope audit

items and net assets.

Significent changes
in our approach

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have
concluded that the directers’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of
the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of
the group’s and parent company’s ability to
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

> Challenging group management’s key
assumptions underpinning the going concern
basis of accounting, by assessing the
regsonableness of significant movements
in forecast cash flows, considering their
consistency with other available information,
historical performance of the group against
Drevious forecasts and our understanding of
the group businesses.

> Assessing management's stress and scenario
testing including reverse stress testing and
challenging Management's key going concern
ssumptions, assessing its consistency
with other available information and our
understanding of the Group.

} Evaluating whether the future forecasts and
assumptions were used consistently between

procedures cover 99% of group revenue, profit before tax, EBITDA before exceptionat

There have been no significant changes in cur approach,

the group’s going concern evaluation, goodwill
impairment assessment and assessment of the
recoverability of the intercompany receivables
of the group companies. This included assessing
the impacts of inflation and climate related risks,
and the steps they will take in the event that
economic and other factors deteriorate.

» Assessing compliance with financial
covenants on the listed debt and the Senior
Term Facility.

¥} Evaluating the appropriateness of disclosures
in the financial statements relating to
going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we

have not identified any material uncertainties
relating to events or cenditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt an the
group’s and parent company's ability to continue
as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the financial statements are
outhorised for issue,

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of
the directors with respect to going concern are
described in the relevant sections of this report.
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5. Key qudit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statemenls ol Lhe current period and nclude the most significant assessed risks

of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial stotements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

51. Carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite useful life intangible assets )

The group holds goodwill of £760m (2021: £878m) and indefinite life intangible assets
including £837m (2021: £864m) in relation to the value of the RAC brand as at 31 December
2022, The RAC brand has an indefinite estimated useful life and therefore, like goadwill, is
subject to an annual impairment test.

The group's assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible
assets involves directors’ estimation cancerming the future cash flows of each cash
generating unit {{ CGU'}). The directors apply judgement in determining the associated
discount and growth rates that reflect therr view of future business prospects. The two CGUs

Key audit are ‘'membership services’ ond ‘insurance’ as shown in note 5 to the financial statements.

matter description The most sensitive judgements in the determination of the carrying value of goodwill

and cther indefinite life intangible assets are the future cash flow forecasts and the rate
applied in discounting the future cash flows. Inagppropricte assumptions either due to froud
or error could give rise to a materigl misstatement,

Management recognised an impairment on goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets
of £152m {2021: nil) during the year for the insuronce CGU as detalled on page 149.
Further details of the key jJudgements involved and sources of estimation are detailed in
accounting pelicies note F and note U, which relate to note 11 to the financial statements
for goodwill and intangible assets.

We obtained an understanding of management’s process and of the relevant
controls identified around the carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite useful ife
Intangible assets.

We inspected and challenged management’s impairment review accounting paper and
assessed whether key judgements made were reasonable. This included gaining an
understanding of the budget process that underpins the cashflow forecasts and assessed
the five year forecast for regsonableness. We alse evaluated whether management's
value in use (VIU )calculations were prepared in accordance with the requirements of

1AS 3&1mpoirment of assets.

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key audit matter

We involved our vatuation specialists in assessing the methodology used to determine
the discount rate for compliance with I1AS 36 and market practice and independently
determined a reascnable range for the discount rate and the tong-term growth rate.




How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key cudit matter
{Continued)

Key observations

-z Financial statements

We evaluated the historical accuracy for past five years of forecasts made by
management by comparing them to actual results and challenged the recsonableness
of the growth gssurnptions built into the forecosts. We alse challenged whether the
fulure frecusts ang assumptions were used consistently across the preparation of the
financiol statements, including the evaluation of the geing concern assumption for the
RAC trading group.

We independently recalculated the impairment recognised on the Insurance CGU to verify
accurocy. We also assessed management’s reverse stress testing end also performed
additional stress testing to identify the circumstances in which further impairment, of either
CGUs, would be required and assessed if these circumstances are reasondably plausible,

We performed o 'stand back test’ and used our internally generated discount rates to
determine an independent range compared to rates used by directors for the VIU per CGU.

We also assessed whether the disclosures n retation to the impairment of goodwill and
indefinite useful life intangible assets were adequate.

We concluded that Management’s approach fell within our independently deternmined
reasonable ranges for discount and growth rates. We concluded the cash flows used in
the model were reasonable, the overall carrying value of gocdwill and other indefinite life
intangible assets at the year end and the related disclosures in the financiol stotements
are oppropriate We concluded that the Management's methodology to determine VIUis in
accordance with [AS 36.

indy, mobile mechanic since 2022, West Midlands
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6. Our application of materiality

4.1, Moteriality

We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We
use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole

as follows:
Group financial stuleiments Parent company financial statements
Materiality £7.8m {2021: £7.6m) £5.5m (2021 £5.6m)
Basis for 3.0% (2021: 3.0%) of EBITODA before When determining materiality, as the parent
determining exceptional items. cormpany is part ef RAC Bidco Limited group, we
materiality also considered that this materiality is appropriate

for the consolidation of this set of financial
statements into that group’s results.

Our determined materiality equates to 0.5% (2021
0.5%) of the carrying value of investments hetd by
the parent company.

Rationale for We determined materiolity based on

the benchmark  EBITDA before exceptional items as we

applied considered this the most appropriate
measure to assess the perfermance of
the group, asit is @ key measure used
by stakeholders to assess and report
performance of the business.

As the company is a holding company for the group,
we determined the carrying value of investments

to be the most appropriate benchmark in
determining materiality.

EBITDA before
exceptional
items £255.0m

. EBITDA before exceptionat items

/ — Group materiality £7.8m
/
/
/
/
/
/ __ Component materiality
. range £0.3m to £7.2m
4
X
\
\ Board Risk, Audit and

\—— Compliance Committee
reporting threshold £0.4m

Group materiality
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6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level tower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in
aggregate, uncorrected and undetected misstaterments exceed the materiality for the financial statements
as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Performance

70% (2021: 70%;) of terialit 70% (2021 70%) of parent company materialt;
materiality b ( 6) of group materiality b ( )y of p pany iality
Basis and We determined performance materiality with reference to factors such as our understanding of the
rationale for group, the entity's compleily unid puipuse within the group, the centralised finance function, the
determining quality of the control environment and the low extent of material misstatements applicable to the
performance group and parent company in previous audits.

materiality

&.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Board Risk, Audit and Compliance Committee that we would report to the Committee
all audit differences in excess of £0.4m (2021: £0.4m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in cur
view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Beard Risk, Audit and Compliance
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

RAC Buwdco Limited | Annual Repart & Finanrial Statements 2022 13
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Independent auditor's report to the members of RAC Bidco Limited

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. identification and scoping of companents

Our group audit was scoped by obtaining an
understanding of the group and its environment,
including group-wide controls, and assessing

the risks of material misstatement at the group
level. Based on that assessment, our group audit
scope focused on all entities within the group and
covered all of the material balances in the income
statement and statement of financial position of
the group.

We have performed a full scope audit on all
entities within the group with the exception of
Risk Telematics UK Limited, RAC Cars Limited,
RACMS Ireland, RAC Employee Benefits Trust,
RAC Group Limited, RAC Midco Limited, RAC
Midco Il Limited and RAC Motoring Services
(Holdings} Limited which are exempt from
statutory audit requirements and immaterial to
the group. We performed analytical procedures
at the group level for these entities.

All full scope audits were performed directly by
the group audit team and executed at levels of
materiality applicable to each individual entity
that were lower than group materiality and

ranged from £0.3m to £7.2m (2021: £0.6m to £7.3m).

These account for over 99% (2021: 99%) of the
group’s revenue, net assets and EBITDA before
exceptional items. At the company level, we have
also performed testing aver the consolidation
process of group entities.

7.2. OQur consideration of the control environment

We have not taken relionce over automated IT
controls in the current year which is consistent
with the prior year. With the involvement of the IT
specialist, we have obtained an understanding of
the IT control environment and relevant general
IT controts in the period. We also obtained an
understanding of relevant revenue business
process and cantrols that address the risk of
material misstatement in financial reporting.

We did not take a controls reliance approach.

7.3. Our consideration of climate-related risks

As part of our audit, we have considered

the impact of climate change on the group's
operations and its impact on their financial
stgtements. The group continues to imptement
and embed regulatory requirements in relation
to climate change risk management, namely
the Toskforce for Climote Related Finoncial
Disclosures ('TCFD’) and BEIS requirements
including the Prudential Risk Authority (PRA).
*Financial risks from climate change’ requirements.
The group has voluntarily adopted many of the
recommendations as detailed on pages 48-64 of
the strategic report.

Qur audit work involved challenging the risks
identified and considered in the group climate

risk assessment. We have read the disclosures

in relation to climate change made in the

other information within the annual report and
ascertained whether the disclosures are materially
consistent with the financial stotements and our
knowledge from our audit.
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8. Other information

The other information comprises the information
included in Lhe unnual report, other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The directors are responsible for the
other information contained within the

annual report.

Qur cpinion an the financial statements does not
cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

Qur responsibility is to read the other infermation
and, in doing so, consider whether the other

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’
responsibilities statement, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give o
true and fair view, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies

or apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether this gives rise to g
material misstatement in the financial statements
themselves. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

in preparing the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the group’s
and the parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disctosing as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the group or the parent
company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

10, Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financiol statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due te fraud or error, and to issue

an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted

in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always

detect o material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from froud or error and

are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities

for the audit of the financial statements

is located on the FRC's website at:

www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

This description forms part of our auditor's report.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financiol Statements 2022
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of RAC Bidco Limited

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including froud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
prucedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,

including fraud is detailed below.

1. identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material
misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud and non-compliance with laws and
regulotions, we considered the following:

> The nature of the industry and sector, control
environment and business performance
including the design of the group's
remuneration policies, key drivers for
directors’ remuneration, bonus levels
and perfermance targets.

}» Results of our enquiries of management,
internal audit and the Board Risk, Audit and
Compliance Committee about their own
identificotion and assessment of the risks
of irregularities.

} Any matters we identified having obtained and
reviewed the group’s documentation of their
policies and procedures relating to:

Identifying, evaluating and complying
with laws and regulations and whether
they were aware of any instances of
non-compliance,

Detecting and responding to the risks of
fraud and whether they have knowledge
of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

The internal controls established to
mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance
with laws and regulations.

? The matters discussed among the audit
engagement team and relevant internal
specialists, including tax, valuation, pensions,
IT, conduct risk and dato analytics regarding
how and where fraud might occur in the
financial statements and any potential
indicators of froud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered

the opportunities and incentives that may exist
within the organisation for fraud and identified the
greatest potential for fraud in the following areqs:
carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite
useful tife intangible assets. In common with all
audits under I1SAs (UK), we are also required to
perform specific procedures to respond te the risk
of management override,

We also obtained an understanding of the

legal and regulatory framework that the group
operates in, focusing on provisions of those

laws and regulations that had a direct effect

on the determination of material amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The key
laws and regulations we considered in this context
included the Irish Stock Exchange Plc (Euronext
Dublin) Listing Rules, Companies Act 2006,
pension and tax legislatiens.

In addition, we considered provisions of other
laws and regulations that do not have a direct
effect on the financial statements but compliance
with which may be fundamental to the group’s
ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty.
These included the Prudential Regulation
Adthority (PRA} regulations, the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA) regulations,



11.2. Audit response to risks identified

As o result of performing the above, we identified
carrying value of goodwill and other indefinite
useful life intangible assets as a key audit matter
reloted to the potentiat risk of fraud. The key audit
matters section of our report explains the matter
in more detail and also describes the specific
procedures we performed in response to the key
audit matter.

In addition to the above, our procedures to
respond to risks identified included the following:

)} Reviewing the financial statement disclosures
and testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with provisions of relevant
laws and regulations described as having a
direct effect on the financial statements.

3} Enguiring of management, the Board
Risk Audit and Compliance committee and in-
house legal counsel concerning actual
and potential litigation and claims,

> Performing analytical procedures to identify
any unusual or unexpected relationships
that may indicate risks of material
misstatement due to froud.

= Financial statements

> Reading minutes of meetings of those charged
with governance, reviewing internal audit
reports and reviewing correspondence with
HMRC, the PRA and the FCA.

> In addressing the risk of fraud through
management override of controls, testing
the appropriateness of journal entries and
other adjustments; assessing whether the
judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of @ potential bias;
and evaluating the business rationale of any
significant transactions that are unusual or
outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws
and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members inctuding internal
specialists and remained alert to any indications
of fraud cor non-compliance with laws and
regulations throughout the audit.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financinl Statemeants 2022 nz?
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of RAC Bidco Limited

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

) The information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial stotements.

) The strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their
environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements
in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

)} We have not received !l the information and explanations we require
for our audit; or

} Adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, We have nothing
or returns adequate for cur audit have not been received from branches to report in respect
not visited by us; or of these matters.

> The parent company financial statements are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns.

13.2. Directors’ remuneration

2 Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in We have nothing

our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration have not to report in respect
been mode. of these matters.
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14. Gther matters which we are required to address

14.1. Auditor tenure

Following the recommendation of the Board Risk,
Audit and Compliance Committee, we were
appointed by Board of Directors in 31 May 2014 to
audit the financial statements for the year ending
31 December 2014 and subsequent financial
periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement including previous renewals and
reappointments of the firm is nine years,

covering the years ending 31 December 2014

to 31 December 2022.

14.2. Consistency of the audit report with the
additional report to the Board Risk, Audit and
Compliance Committee

Qur audit opinion is consistent with the additional
report to the Boord Risk, Audit and Cempliance
Committee we are required to provide in
accordance with 15As (UK).

15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the compony’s members, as a bedy, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we

have formed.

Kieren Cooper, FCA (Senior statutory auditor}
For and on behalf of Deloltte LLP

Stotutory Auditor

Birmingham

United Kingdom

02 March 2023

RAC Brdce Limited | Annucl Report & Financial Statements 2022
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Consolidated Income Statement 202
2022 Restated

Note £m £m

Revenue 1 059 632
Cost of sales {289) (280)
Gross profit 370 352
Administrative expenses (425) (217)
Operating (loss)/profit 2 (55} 135
Adjusted EBITDA 260 254
Depreciction of owned tangible assets 13 (/) N
Deprecialin ul right of use assets 14 (15) {12}
Amortisation of customer acquisition intangibles n {8) 8)
Amortisation of contract costs 12 {17 17
Amortisation of non-customer acquisition intangible assets 1 (70) {70)
Impairment 11 (152 -
Adjusting items {5 -
Exceptionolitems 3 {41) (5}
Opercting (loss)/profit {55) 135
Finance expenses b {81) {72)
Finance income b 34 -
(Loss)/profit before tax {102) 63
Tax charge e {4) (61)
({Loss)/profit for the year (106) 2

All activities relate to continuing operations,
The accounting policies and nates on pages 126 to 175 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

2022 2021
Note £m £m
{Loss)/Profit for the year (108) 2
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit
of loss in subsequent periods:
Actuarial gain 28 ! -
Net movement on cash flow hedges 19 9
Aggregate tax effect 10(c) ) 2
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit 5 7
or loss in subsequent perods
Total comprehensive {expense)/income for the yeor {91) 9

The accounting policies and notes on poges 126 to 175 are an integral part of these Finoncial Statements.
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For the year ending 31 December 2022

Consolidated statement of financicl position 2022 2021
Note £m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assats
Goodwill and intangible ossets n 1662 1860
Contract costs 12 33 32
Property, plant and equipment 13 32 35
Right of use assets 4 62 56
Other investments 15 23 3
Deferred tax gsset 20 16 10
Derivative fingncial instruments 23 26 5
1,854 2,001
Current ossets
Inventories 17 2 3
Trade and other receivables 18 7 401
Cash and cash equivalents 19 136 3
Current tax receivable ! -
210 517
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Borrowings 24(q) (310) (10}
Provisions 21 (3) 4}
Trade and other payables 22 (245) (226)
Current tax payable 20 - (35
(5b8) (267}
Net current {liabilities)/assets (348) 250
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24(q) (1,358) (1,660}
Employee benefit hability 28(c)(iv) (3) (4
Trade and other payables 22 (60) (60)
Deferred tax liability 20 (213) (219}
(1,634) (1943)
Net (liabilities)/assets (128) 308
Equity
Ordinary share capitol 25 339 339
Hedging instruments reserve 8 4
Retained earnings {485) (35)
Total equity (128) 308

The accounting policies and notes on pages 124 to 175 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Approved Dy the Board on 2 March 2023.
S

J Baker
Chief Financial Officer
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Consclidated statement of changes in equity
Ordinary Hedging

share instruments Retained Total
capital reserve earnings equity
Note £mn £m Em £m
Balance at 1 January 2021 339 3 37 299
Profit for the year - - 2 2
Other comprehensive expense - 7 - 7
Total comprehensive income - 7 2 9

Dividends paid 4 - - _
Balance at 31 December 2021 339 4 {35) 308
Profit for the year - - (108) (106}
Other comprehensive expense - 14 1 15
Total comprehensive income/(expense) - 14 (105) (9}
Dividends paid 4 - - (34b) (345)
Balance at 31 December 2022 339 18 {485) {128)

The accounting policies and notes on pages 126 to 175 gre an integrol part of these Financial Statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 2022 202t
Note £m £m

Operating activities

(Lossi/prafit bofare tua (102) 63

Adjustments to recancile (loss)/profit before tax to net cash flows
Depreciation of owned tangible assets 13 7 7
Depreciation of right of use assets 14 15 12
Amortisation n&12 95 95
Impairment 1 152 -
Exceptional costs 3 41 5
Net fingnce expenses b 47 72

Working capital adjustments

Increase in inventones 17 1 1
Increase in trade and other receivables (16) )
Decrease in trade and other payables 5 0]
Payment to employment benefit schemes - 0
Operating cash impact of exceptional items (20 -
Taxation paid 20 (51 (18}
Net cash flows from operating activities 174 226

Investing activitias

Investment income 15 21 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (5} (8
Purchase of intangible assets 1&12 (49 (41)
Net cash flows used in investing activities {33) {49)

Financing activities

Repurchase of bonds 24 - (210}
Repayment of bank debt 24 - (139}
Proceeds from new bonds 24 345 -
Proceeds frorn new bank debt 24 - 265
Transaction costs 3 (17} {4)
Repayment of principal obligations under leases (18) (14)
Dividends paid 4 (345} -
Interest paid 83) 68)
Net cash flows used in financing activities {118) {170)
Net increase in cash ond cash equivalents 23 7
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 19 13 106
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 19 136 "3

The accounting policies and notes on pages 126 to 173 are an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Accounting policies

A Corporate information

RAC Bidco Limited, a private limited liability
company, limited by shares, incorporated and
domiciled in the United Kingdom and registered in
England and Wales, together with its subsidiaries
{collectively, the "RAC Bidco Limited Group”),
provides services and benefits to Members of

the RAC and other motorists primarily in the UK,
The registered office is located at RAC House,
Brockhurst Crescent, Walsall, West Midlands,
United Kingdom, WS5 4AW.

Information on RAC 8idco Limited Group's
structure is provided in note 16. information on
related party relationships of the RAC Bidco
Limited Group is provided in note 30.

The Consolidated and Parent Company Financial
Statements of RAC Bidco Limited for the year
ending 31 December 2022 were approved for issue
by the Board on 2 March 2023.

B. Basis of preparation and basis of consolidation

Basis of preparation: The Consolidated Financial
Statements presented have been prepared for the
RAC Bidco Limited Group, which comprises RAC
Bidco Limited and its subsidiories. The Financial
Statements of the RAC Bidco Limited Group

and the Company have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain properties
and financial instruments that are measured at
fair value, as explained in the accounting policies.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of consideration given in exchange for assets. The
Financial Statements of the RAC Bidco Limited
Group and the Company have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom (*UK") adopted
international accounting standards.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these Financial Statements are set
out below.

The Consclidated and Company Financial
Statements are presented in pounds sterling,
which is the presentation currency of the RAC

Bidco Limited Group and the Company. Unless
otherwise noted, the amounts shown in these
Financial Statements are in millions of pounds
sterling ("Em”). The separate Financial Statements
of the Company are set out from page 176. On
publishing the Company Financial Statements
here together with the RAC Bidce Limited Group
Financial Statements, the Company has taken
advantage of the exemption in s408 of the
Companies Act 2006 not to present its individual
income statement. The Company’s loss for the
year ending 31 December 2022 was £34 million
(2021: loss £1 million}).

Restatement

During 2022, the Group assessed that where, as
a result of discounting insurance premiums, the
intermediary commission the insurance segment
was entitled to was negative, i.e. an amount was
payable, this consideration payable to o customer
should be accounted for as a deduction to
revenue in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Historically, certain
negative commissions had been accounted for
within cost of sales. This change reduces both
revenue and cost of sales by £24 million for the
year ending 31 December 2022 (2021 £21 mitlion)
but has no impact on EBITDA or operating profit.

Application of new and revised International
Financiol Reporting Standards (*IFRSs"): The
following new and amended IFRSs are effective
and relevant for these Financial Statements.
The adoption of these Standards has not had
any material impact on the disclosures or on the
amounts reported in the Financial Statements.

¥ Amendments to [AS 16, IFRS 3, IAS 37
and Annuat Improvements to IFRS Standards
2018-2020.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has not applied
the following new and revised IFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective and in some
cases had not yet been adopted by the UK:

?» IFRS17 and Amendments to IFRS 171



> Amendments to IAS 1and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

}» Amendment to IAS 12 and &'
> Amendment to IFRS 162

‘Effective for annual periods commencing
on or after 1 January 2023

2Effective for annual periods commencing
on or after 1January 2024

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts comes into force

for accounting periods commencing on or after
1January 2023. The Group has conducted @
preliminary review of each of the customer
contracts across its operating segments to
identify those which will be impacted by the new
accounting standard on insurance contracts.
Following this preliminary review, the Group
expects to utilise the Fixed Fee Service Exemption
and Premium Allocation Approach simplification.
Work to assess the fullimpact of the adoption

of IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts on the Group's
financial statements is being finalised with the
Group's external independent actuary, notably
the area of claims provisioning for non-breakdown
related insurance products, the value of which,
under the current standard (IFRS 4: Insurance
Contracts), is £4 million at 31 December 2022. In
addition, the Group has identified that the new
accounting standard will impact on the Group’s
accounting policies relating to acquisition cash
flows, revenue recognition, and insurance contract
liabilities including the use of discounting. The
changes to accounting policies will be finalised
during 2023 and included in the Group's financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2023.
The full impact of the odoption of IFRS17 will be
validated through the course of 2023,

Going concern: The Directors have assessed the
financiol position and the future prospects and
funding requirements of the RAC Bidco Limited
Group and the Company and compared them
to the level of available committed borrowing
facilities. The Company is integral to the Group's
performance and therefore the group-wide
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assessment is relevant to the Company. Details
of cash and borrowing facilities are set out in
notes 19 and 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The RAC Bidco Limited Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing
its capital, its financial risk management
objectives, details of its financial instruments
and hedging activities, and its exposure to credit
risk and liquidity risk are set out in note 29 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Directors' assessment included a review

of the Group's financial forecasts, financial
instruments and hedging arrangements for the
18-month period from the Statement of Financial
Position date. The Directors considered a range
of potentiol trading and market-related risks,
including regulatory change, roadside demand
and usage change, plus mitigating actians and
how these may impact on cash flow, facility
headroom and the Group's ability to comply
with the terms of its borrowings.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group's and Company's
business activities, together with the factors likely
to affect their future development, performance
and position are set out in the Strategic Report on
pages 6 to 69. The Directors also considered what
mitigating actions the RAC Bidco Limited Group
could take to limit any adverse consequences.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has net ligbilities

of £128 million and net current liabilities of £348
million. The Group's net liability position largely
reflects the value of separately identifiable
intangible assets, offset by the book value

of issued bonds of £1,246 million and bank
borrowings of £422 million. The Group’s third party
borrowings have an average time to maturity

of five years. The Group’s net current liabilities
position is largely due to £300m of Class Al Bonds
which are repayable in 2023 and for which an
alternative facility has been arranged.

The Company has net assets of £695 million and
net current liabilities of £47 million. The Directors
have considered the financial position and future
prospects of the Company.
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Having undertaken this assessment, the Directors
have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the RAC Bidco Limited Group have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence

for the foreseeoble future and so determine

that it is approprigte for the 2022 Company and
Consolidated Financial Statements to be prepared
0N a going concearn basis.

Basis of consolidation: The Consolidated Financial
Statements comprise the Financial Statements

of the Company and its subsidiaries as at

31 December 2022,

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the RAC
Bidco Limited Group, directly or indirectly, has
power to exercise control. Control is achieved
when the RAC Bidco Limited Group is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the investee. Specifically, the RAC Bidco Limited
Group controls an investee if and only if it has:

)} Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

> Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee.

» The ability to use its power over the investee
to affect its returns,

When the RAC Bidco Limited Group has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an

investee, the RAC Bidco Limited Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power aver an investee, including:

}» The contractual arrangement with the
other vote holders of the investee.

} Rights arising from other
contractual arrangements.

}» The RAC Bidco Limited Group's voting
rights and contractual voting rights.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group re-assesses
whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
RAC Bidco Limited Group obtains control over

the subsidiary and ceases when it no longer has
control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the financial period are included in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income from the date the RAC Bidco Limited
Group gains control until the dote that it ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss of each component of other
comprehensive income is attributed to the equity
holders of the parent of the RAC Bidco Limited
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments
are made to the Financial Statements of the
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

in line with the RAC Bidco Limited Group's
occounting policies. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the
RAC Bidco Limited Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

The acquisition method of accounting is used

for business combinations. Under this method,

the cost of an acguisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred ot
acquisition dote fair value, and the amount of

any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

The excess of the consideration transferred over
the fair value of the net assets and liahilities of
the subsidiary acquired is recorded as goodwill.
Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.



Investments in subsidiary: A subsidiary is an entity
over which the RAC Bidco Limited Group exercises
control. Within the Parent company Financial
Statements, investments are accounted for at
historical cost, less any provision for impairment.

Business combinations: Acquisitions of subsidiaries
and businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the RAC Bidco Limited Group, liabilities
incurred by the RAC Bidco Limited Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interest issued by the RAC Bidco Limited Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition
related costs are recognised in the Income
Statement as incurred.

At the acquisition dote, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liohilities assumed are
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

}» Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes and I1AS
12 Employee Benefits respectively.

» Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with IFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of
the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If,
after regssessment, the net of the acquisition

-x Financial statements

date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the excess is recognised
immediately in the Income Statement as a bargain
purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the RAC
Bidco Limited Group in a business combination
includes an asset or liability resulting from

a contingent consideration arrangement,

the contingent consideration is measured at

its acquisition date fair value and included

as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in fair value

of the contingent consideration that quatify

as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the
‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration

is classified. Contingent consideration that

is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or ¢ liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9
Financial Instruments, or 1AS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in the Income Statement.
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C. Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured in accordance with relevant
accounting standards. For all contracts within the
scope of IFRS 15, the Group determines whether
enforceable rights and obligations have been

created with the customer and recognises revenue

based an the total transaction price as estimated
at the contract inception, being the amount which
the Group expects to be entitled and has present
enforceable rights under the contract. Revenue

is allocated propartionally across the contract
performance obligations and recognised either
over time or at a point in time as appropriate.

Service revenue: Revenue represents sales of
roadside gssistance and related claims services
and is either an insured or "pay on use” service.
For insured services this is recognised on a
straight line basis over the length of the contract,
usually twelve months in accordance with IFRS 4.
Where amounts have been invoiced in advance,
the portion not recognised in revenue is included
in deferred income. For “pay on use” contracts
revenue is recognised in accordance with IFRS

15 at the point in time when the performance
obligation is satisfied,

Products: Revenue relating to the sale of
products, such as batteries and parts, is
recognised according to the terms of the sale,
at the point in time when the performance
obligations are satisfied.

Commission and arrangement fees: Income is
received from insurance brokerage services for
the arrangement and administration of roadside
assistance, motor, home and other insurance
policies on behalf of the underwriter. Revenue

is recognised at a point in time at the effective
commencement date or renewal date of each
policy. The transaction price is variable.

Interest income: interest income is recognised in
accordance with IFRS ¢ when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable.

Dividend income: Dividend income from
investments is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established
{provided that it is probable that the economic
benefit will flow to the Group and the amount
can be reliably measured).

D. Exceptional items

ltems which are considered by management to be
material by size and/or nature and non-recurring
are presented separately on the face of the
Consolidated income statement. Management
helieve that the separate reporting of exceptional
items helps provide an indication of the RAC Bidco
Limited Group’s underlying business performance.
Events which may give rise to a classification of
items as exceptional include costs associated
with business acquisitions, significant corporate
transactions, refinancing, gains or lesses on the
disposal of businesses, strategic developments
and restructuring of businesses,

E. Controct costs

Contract costs represent incremental costs

to obtain contracts which are third party
commissions and fees arising as a result of a direct
sale of a non-insurance product. These costs are
amortised on a straight-line method over the

life of the policies, typically 2 to 5 years, which is
driven by internal customer retention rate analysis.
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F. Goodwill, acquired value-in-force and
intangible assets

Goodwill: Gaodwill represents the excess of the
cost of an acguisition over the tair value of the
RAC Bidco Limited Group's share of the net assets
of the acquired subsidiary at the acquisition date.
Goodwill is carried at cost, less any impairment
subsequently incurred.

Brand: The RAC brand has been assessed as
having an indefinite life due to the strength and
durability of the brand that has existed since 1897,

Customer lists and other intangible assets:
Customer lists and other intangible assets consist
of IT projects and infrastructure, and contractual
relationships such as access to distribution
networks and acquired customer lists. The
economic lives are determined by relevant factors
which include usage of the asset, typical product
life cycles, stability of the industry, competitive
position and period of control over the assets.
These intangibles are amortised over their useful
lives, which range from two to ten years using the
straight line method.

The amortisation charge for the peried is included
separately within the Consolidated Income
statement in gdministrative expenses. A provision
for impairment is charged where evidence of

such an impairment is observed. Intangibles with
indefinite lives are subject to regular impairment
testing, as described below.

Customer acquisition intangibles: The RAC
Bidco Limited Group expenses acquisition costs
as incurred, with the exception of third party
commissions nnd fees arising ns a result of a
direct sale of an insurance product, which are
capitalised as customer acquisition intangibles.

The customer acquisition intangible is initially
recognised at cost and subsequently amortised
straight-line over the useful economic life of the
policies, typically 4 to 5 years, which is driven by
internal customer retention rate analysis

intangible assets acquired in @ business
combination: Intangible assets acquired in a
business combination and recegnised separately
from geodwill are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date {(which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Impairment testing: For impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to the twe cash
generating units {"CGUs") that exist as these
represent the lowest level within the Group

which generates independent cash inflows. The
carrying amount of goodwill and intangibles with
indefinite useful lives is reviewed at least annually
or when circumstances or events indicate there
may be uncertainty over this value, Goodwill

and indefinite life intangibles are written dewn
for impairment where the recoverable amount is
insufficient to support its carrying amount. Details
of the testing performed and carrying values of
goodwill and intangibles is shown within note 1.



G. Property, plant and equipment

Owner-occupied properties are carried at their
revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date
of revaluation, which are supported by market
evidence, and movements are taken to a separate
reserve within equity. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement,
except to the extent that it offsets an existing
surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset
revaluation reserve. When such properties are
sold, the accumulated revaluation surpluses are
transferred from this reserve to retained earnings.
Third party valuations are obtained every

three years to support management’s internal
valuations, carried out on an annual basis.

The fair value has been calculated on the
investment method of valuation, as to generate
value the property would most likely be purchased
by an investor who would seek to let the
accommodation to a tenant or tenants.

All other items classified as property, plant and
equipment within the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position are carried at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated on the straight-line method to write
down the cost of assets to their residual values
over their estimated usefut lives as follows:

Fixtures, fittings and
. 2-10 years
other equipment

Computer equipment 4 years

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable
amount. Gains and losses on disposal of property,
plont and equipment are determined by reference
to their carrying amount and are recorded in the
Consolidated Income Statement.
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H. Other investments

Other investments are those investments where
the Company does not have signficant infuence
over the entity. These investments are accounted
for gs financial assets under (FRS 9 "Financial
Instruments”. At initial recognition the financial
asset is measured at its fair value being the
transaction price minus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequently the financial asset
is meosured at fair value through profit or loss.
The Directors assess the investments annually for
impairment by comparing their carrying value to
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised where the carrying value exceeds the
recoverable amount.

I. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and

net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable vaiue is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable selling expenses.

J. Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
losses whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped ot the lowest level for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.
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K. Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, less provision tor impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade receivables is recognised
on trade receivables if there is considered to be
expected credit losses. The amount of expected
credit losses is calculated using the simplified
approach as allowable under IFRS 9 and is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial asset. Losses arising from impairment
are recognised in the Income Statement in other
operating expenses,

L. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash

at banks and in hand, depasits held at call

with banks and treasury bills that are readity
convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of change

in value. Such investments are those with less
than three months’ maturity from the date of
acquisition, or which are redeemable on demand
with only an insignificant change in their fair
values. For the purposes of the statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivolents also include
bank overdrafts, which are included in payables
and other financial liabitities in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position.

M. Borrowings

Borrowings dre recognised initially at their issue
proceeds net of transaction costs incurred.
Subsequently, borrowings are stated at amortised
cost, and any difference between net proceeds
and the redemption value is recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest

rate method.

Upon extinguishment of borrowings, any
remaining reloted transaction costs are charged
to finance expenses in the Consolidated Income
Statement. If the terms of a debt instrument are
modified the remaining fees are amortised over
the life of the instrument. When the terms of a
debt instrument are amended it is treated as an
extinguishment rather than a modification if the
revised terms are substantially different,

Borrowings are classified as current ligbilities
unless the RAC Bidco Limited Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the
Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position date.



N. Derivative financial instruments

The RAC Bidco Limited Group holds derivative
financigal instruments, in the form of interest

1ute swaps, to hedge its interest rate exposures.
Derivatives are recognised initially and
subsequently at foir value. Any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of derivative
financial instruments are taken directly to the
Income Statement, except for the effective portion
of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other
comprehensive income. If the hedging instrument
axpires or s sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or its designation as a
hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer
meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income remains separately
in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.

Financial assets at fair value through the Income
Statement are carried in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position at fair value with
net changes in fair value presented as other
losses (negative net changes in fair value) or other
gains {positive net changes in fair value) in the
Consolidated income Statement.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group also has ferward
contracts for fuel purchases for a period of up to
twelve months in order to hedge the variability
of cash flows associoted with the purchasing of
fuel for use in the Group's operational fleet of
patrols and recovery vehicles. These contracts
are not accounted for as derivatives as they

are for the RAC Bidce Limited Group’s own use
and are therefore outside the scope of IFRS ¢
Financial Instruments.

= Financial statements

0. Caosh flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value
of derivatives that are designated and qualify

as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately
in the Consolidoted Income Statement, and is
included in the ‘net finance expenses’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are reclassified to the Consolidated Income
Statement in the periods when the hedged

item is recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement, in the same line of the Consolidated
Income Statement qs the recognised hedged item.
However, when the forecast transaction that

is hedged results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset or a non-financial liability,

the gains and losses previously accumulated in
equity are transferred from equity and included

in the initiol measurement of the cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the

RAC Bidco Limited Group revokes the hedging
relationship, the hedging instrument expires 6r

is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
gualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income at that
time is accumulated in equity and is recognised
when the forecast transaction is uttimately
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected
to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity

is recognised immediately in the Consolidated
Income Statement.
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P. Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the RAC Bidco
Limited Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, it is
prabable that an outflow of resources embedying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
of the obligation can be made. Where the RAC
Bidco Limited Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as

a separate asset, up to the amount of the
provision, but only when the reimbursement

is virtually certain.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed if there is a
possible future obtligation as a result of a past
event, or if there is a present obligation as a
result of a past event but either a payment is not
probable yet still possible or the amount cannot
be reliably estimated.

Q. Income taxes

income taxes include both current and deferred
toxes. Income taxes are (charged)/credited to the
Consolidated Income statement except where
they relate to items (charged)/credited directly
to other comprehensive income or equity. In this
instance, the income taxes are also (charged)/
credited directly to other comprehensive income
or equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the Statement of Financial Position
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the Statement

of Financial Position ligbility method, providing
for temporary differences between the carrying
ameounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amaounts used for
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not provided for
the initial recognition of goodwill, nor the initial
recognitions of assets or ligbilities that affect
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss other than in a business combination.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the assets can be
utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets is reviewed at each reporting date and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available

to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax
assets are reagssessed at each reporting date and
are recognised to the extent thot it has become
probable that future taxable profit will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.

Current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are offset where taxes are levied by the
same taxation authority, there is a legal right of
offset between the assets and liabilities and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis.



R. Leases

Allitems clossified as Right of Use assets within
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
are carried at the present value of the minimum
lease payments less accumulated depreciation
and any provision for impairment. Depreciation

is calculated using the straight-line method

over the life of the lease, typically either 5 or 25
years for vehicles and properties respectively.
Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset.

The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments at the
commencement date, discounted using the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. The lease
liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
leose liability {using the effective interest method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made in the period.

The nature of the leases included within the Right
of Use assets are vehicles and properties.

Short-term and low-value leases are recognised as
an expense in the Income Statement.

Short-term leases are leases with a lease term

of 12 months or less.

i Financicl statements

S. Employee benefits

Pension obligations and other post-retirement
benefit obligations: The RAC Bidco Limited Group
operates two post-employment benefit plans,

a funded plan (the assets of which are held in
separate trustee-administered funds, funded by
payments from employees and the RAC Bidco
Limited Group), and an unfunded unapproved
pension scheme,

In addition the RAC Bidco Limited Group also
provides a disability benefits scheme on a
discretionary basis for certain pensioners and their
dependants in the UK, and certain employees may
also become eligible for this benefit on retirement,
and medical benefits on a discretionary basis for
certain pensioners and their dependants in the
UK. No assets are set aside in separate funds to
provide for the future liability.

For post-employment defined benefit plans, the
pension costs are assessed using the projected
unit credit method. Under this methed, the cost of
providing pensions is charged to the Consolidated
Income statement so as to spread the regular
cost over the service lives of the employees. The
pension cbligation is measured as the present
value of the estimated future cash outflows, using
¢ discount rate based on market yields for high
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid and
have terms of maturity approximate to the related
pension liability. The resulting pension scheme
surplus or deficit appears as an asset or ligbility in
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial

gains and losses and the return on plan

assets {excluding net interest) are recognised
immediately in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position with a corresponding debit

or credit to retained earnings through other
comprehensive income in the period in which
they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified
to the Income Statement in subsequent periods.
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S. Employee benefits (continued)

Costs charged to the Consolidated Income
Statement comprise the current service cost (the
increase in pensicn obligation resulting trom
employees’ service in the current period, together
with the schemes’ administration expenses), past
service cost (resulting from changes to benefits
with respect to previous years’ service), and gains
or losses on curtailment (when the employer
materially reduces the number of employees
covered by the scheme) or on settlements

{when a scheme’s obligations are transferred
from the Group).

Past service costs are recognised in the
Consolidated Income Statement on the earlier of
the date of the plan amendment or curtailment,
and the date that the RAC Bidco Limited Group
recognises restructuring related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset.
The RAC Bidco Limited Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit
obligation under cost of sales, administrative
expenses and finance expenses in the
Consolidated Income Statement:

2 Service costs comprising current service
costs, past service costs, gains and losses on
curtailment and non-routine settlements.

} Net interest expense or income,

Termination benefits: The RAC Bidco Limited
Group provides termination benefits. All
termination costs are charged to the Consolidated
Income statement when constructive obligation

to such costs arises.

T. Share capital and dividends

Equity instruments: An equity instrument is a
contract that evidences a residual interest in

the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Accordingty, all financial instruments are
treated as financial liabilities or assets unless:

i. There is no centractual cbligation to deliver
cash or other financiol assets or to exchange
financial assets or ligbilities on terms that may
be unfavourable.

ii. The instrument will not be settled by delivery
of @ variable number of shares oris a
derivative that can be settled other than for
a fixed amount of cash, shares or other
financial assets.

Dividends: Interim dividends on ordinary shares
are recognised in equity in the period in which
they are paid. Final dividends on ordinary shares
are recognised when they have been approved by
shareholders.

U. Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Financial Statements

in conformity with UK adopted international
accounting standards requires the RAC Bidco
Limited Group to make estimates and judgements
using assumptions that affect items reported in the
Consolidated Statement of Financiol Position and
Consolidated Income Statement and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting
date. Estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge of current facts, circumstances and,

to some extent, future events and actions. Actual
results may differ from those estimates, possibly
significantly, Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that peried, orin
the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.



Set out below are items where management
have taken a judgement or which management
consider particularly susceptible to changes in
estimates and assumptions, and the relevant
accounting policy.

i. Critical judgements in applying the RAC
Bidco Limited Group's accounting policies:
The Directors do not consider there to be
any critical judgements at the Statement of
Financial Position date.

ii. Keysources of estimation uncertainty: The key
assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
date are discussed below:

Impairment of goodwill and indefinite lived
intangible assets: Determining whether goodwill
and brand are impalred requires an estimation

of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill and brand has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the entity to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value.
The carrying amount of goodwill and the brand as
at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 was
£1,597 million and £1,742 millicn respectively.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group performs
impairment testing annually in Q4 and whenever
a loss event occurs. The impairment test
compares the recoverable amount of the CGU

to the carrying value of goodwill and intangibles
allocated to the CGU.

“Fingncial statements

The recoverable amount of each unit is
determined based on a value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections from the Group’s
budget and management’s forecast up to 2027,
The growth rate used to extrgpolate future cash
flows beyond the Group's forecasts for both

CGUs is 2.5%, based on the expected average
long-term growth rate of the UK economy, The
pre-tax discount rate of 11% applied to the cash
flow projections is based on the Group's Weighted
Average Cost of Capital ("WACC") which has been
risk adjusted to reflect current market factors

not already captured within the cash flows. The
discount rate has also been further risk adjusted
to reflect an independent capital structure

as stipulated by IAS 36 Impairment of

non-current assets.

This assessment was hased on management'’s
forecasts and cash flow assumptions. The key
assumptions in this assessment are future cash
flows growth rate beyond 2027 and pre-tax
discount rate. If the future cash flows growth rate
were to increase from 2.5% to 3.5%, the effect on
the Group for this increase would be to increase
headroom within the Membership Services CGU
by £296 million and reduce the impairment on
the Insurance CGU by £11 million. If the short-term
growth rate were to reduce to 5%, this would
reduce the headroom within the Membership
Services CGU by £819 million and increase

the impairment within the Insurance CGU by

F£12 million.
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1. Revenue 202
2022 Restated
fm fm
Sale of products — transferred at @ point in time 35 35
Sale of services {see note b for categorisation of revenue) 624 597
Total revenue 659 632
All revenue is generated from the sale of products and services in the UK.
2. Operating items 2022 2071
£m £m
Depreciation of owned tangible assets {note 13} 7 7
Depreciation of right of use assets {note 14) 15 12
Armortisation of customer acquisition intangible assets (note 11) 8 8
Amortisation of non-customer acquisition intangible assets {note 1) 70 70
Amortisation of contract costs (note 12) 17 17
Impairment 152 -
Exceptional items 41 5
Government assistance - {2}
Employee costs (note 8} 174 164

Government assistance relates to the use of the Coronavirus job retention scheme which was claimed in 2020 and repaid
by the Group in 2021
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3. Exceptional items

2022 2021

£m £m

Trancaction costs 1 3
Colleague awards 18 -
Strategic initiatives 3 -
Restructuring 1 2
41 5

During 2021 Silver Lake entered into a transaction
to become a co-shareholder in the Group,

which completed in March 2022, As part of

this transaction, £19 million {2021: £3 million} of
associated costs were incurred.

Varicus one-off payments were made under
colieague schemes, the majority as a result
of this transaction in March 2022, incurring
£18 million of costs.

4. Dividends

Following the introduction of Silver Lake as a
co-shareholder, the Group incurred E3 million of
costs as part of a broad strategic review of severat
areas of the business. Related to the strategic
reviews and broader cost reduction measures,

a further £1 million was incurred to restructure
certain activities of the Group.

The Group paid interim dividends of £345 million during the year, amounting to 1017 pence per share

(2021: £nil). No final dividend was paid (2021: £nil}.
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5. Operating segments

The Group is primarily UK based and is a
LunsuiiEl services subscription business
providing a differentiated range of driving and
mobility related services, principally breakdown
assistance, for consumer and business customers,
and retail motor and telematics insuragnce
products underwritten by a pane! of leading
insurers. Management has determined the
operating segments based on the management
accounts reviewed by the Boord of Directors,
which are used to assess the performance of

the business. The Board of Directors has been
identified by management to reflect the chief
operating decision maker in accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 8 Operating Segments. The
two operating and reportable segments of the
Group are described as:

Pauf, patrol since 2006, South East

Membership services: Membership services is

the largest operating segment of the business,
offering breakdown cover and related products

to Individual Members, SME and Corporate
Partners. In addition this segment includes the
other products and services such as recall and
inspections, accident management services,
branded customer services, telematics devices,
retail online, garage services, service maintenance
and repoir, legal advisory services and RAC Cars.

Insurance: The insurance segment predominantly
acts as an insurance intermediary with minimal
underwriting risk. A range of insurance products
are offered and the majority of the revenue
generated from this operating segment is driven
by motor insurance products including those
which include use of a telematics device,
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5. Operating segments (continued)

The following is an analysis of the RAC Bidco Limited Group’s revenue and results by operating segment.
There were no inter segment sales during the periods reported and no individual customer contributed 10%
or more to the RAC Bidco Limited Group’s revenue.

2021
2022 Restated
£m £m
Revenue of products
Membership services - transferred at a point in time 35 35
Revenue of services
Membership services - insurance related - transferred over time 441 401
Membership services - non-insurance related - transferred at a point in time 124 123
insurance - transferred ot o point in time 59 73
Group revenue 659 632
Segment EBITDA before head office costs
Membership services 263 256
insurance 36 46
Group EBITDA before head office costs 299 301
Head office costs™ (44) {47}
Group EBITDA before exceptional itemns 255 254
Amortisation of intangible assets (95) (9%)
Depreciation (22) {19)
Impgirment (152) -
Exceptional items* (41 5
Operating profit (55) 135
Finance expenses (81) (72)
Investment income 34 -
{Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations {102) 53

*These costs are not internally analysed into separate operating segments.

Assets and liabilities: For the purpose of monitoring segment performance, working capital analysis is
presented to and monitored by the Board at a RAC Bidco Limited Group level, to enable a meaningful
review of the economic environment of the business as a whole. As the financial information is reviewed by
type, segmental analysis of assets and liabilities by function is not regularly provided to management and
has not been presented within the financial infarmation.
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6. Finance expenses

2022 2021

£m £m

Interest payable - third parties 72 b4
Interest payable - lease ligbilities 3 3
Amortisation of capitalised finance costs 4 3
Refinancing costs 2 -
Write off of capitalised finance costs - 2
EBT Investment income (34) -
47 72

Interest payoble to third parties relotes to finance expenses in respect of third party borrawings.
All of the finance expenses except investment income relate t¢ financial liabilities held ot amortised cost.

Employee Benefit Trust ("EBT") investment incomne relates to gains genarated from the sale of RAC Group {Holdings) Ltd
shares, held by the EBT to Silver Lake.

7. Auditor remuneration

The total remuneration payable by the RAC Bidco Limited Group, excluding VAT, to its auditor,
Deloitte LLP, is shown below.

2022 2021

E0OO £000

Non-audit services 15 255
Audit services

Audit of financial statements 79 69

Audit of subsidiaries 420 370

Total remuneration payable to Deloitte LLP 499 439
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8. Employee information

The Company has no employees. All empleyees of the RAC Bidco Limited Group are employed by
and have their employment contracts with RAC Motoring Services, a wholly owned subsidiary.

2022 2021
number number
The monthly average number of persons employed during the year was:
Membership Services 3,624 3,457
Insurance 22 20
Support 322 354
3,948 3,831
2022 2021
Em £m
Total staff costs were:
Wages ond sclaries 147 141
Social security costs 18 16
Pension costs Q q
174 166
2022 20
£m £m
These costs were charged within:
Cost of sales 120 123
Administrative expenses B4 43
174 166
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9. Directors
Executive Directors are remunerated as employees by RAC Motoring Services, a wholly owned subsidiary.

Details of the aggregate remuneration of the Directors of the Company for qualifying services in respect of
the RAC Bidco Limited Group comprise:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Fees and benefits 2,854 1986
2,864 1986
Emoluments of the highest paid Director:
Fees and benefiis 1,239 1,025
1,239 1,025

Fees and benefits include relevant Directors’ bonuses. Retirement benefits are accruing to 1 Director
(2021: 1) under a money purchase scheme. During the year no Directors (2021: none) were awarded shares
under long-term incentive schemes.

10. Tax

2022 2021

(a) Tax charged to the Consolidated Income Statement £m £m
The totaltax charge comprises:

Current tox:

For the year 21 22
Adjustment in respect of prior perinds - -
Total current tax 2 22
Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences {14) (10)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 3 -
Effect of change n tax rate - 49
Total deferred tax (17) 39
Total tax charged to the consolidated income statement 4 &1
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10. Tax (continued)

(b) Tax reconciliation

The tax on the RAC Bidco Limited Group's profit before tax differs from the theoreticat amount that would

arise using the tax rate in the UK as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

{Loss)/profit before tax {102) 63
Tax calculated ot standard UK cerporation tox rate of 19.00% {2021: 12.00%) (19) 12
Disallowable expenses L -
Priar year adjustment )] -
Effect of change in tax rote - 4
Non taxable income (8) -
Total tax charged to the consolidated income statement (note 10(a)) 4 3]

The headline rate of UK corporation tax is currently 19%. In accordance with the Spring Budget 2021 the
main rate of corporation tax will remain at 19% for the accounting periods up to and including the years
ending 31 March 2023. For accounting periods ending on or after 1 April 2023 the main rate of corporation

tax will increase to 25%.

Under IAS 12 deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is realised or the liahility is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have

been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Therefore, deferred tax balances from the substantively enacted date of 24 May 2021 have been reflected

at the increased 25% corporation tax rate they are expected to be realised or settled.

(c) Tax charged to other comprehensive income

Tax charged directly to other comprehensive income in the year amounted to £5 million (202t £2 miliion} in

respect of tax on movements in hedging instrument fair values.
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1. Goodwill and intangible assets
Non customer

acquisition  Customer

Acquired Custorner intangibles acquisition
Goodwill Brand value in-force list Other subtotal intangibles Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 January 2021 878 864 89 536 b6 2,433 54 2,487
Additions - - - - 17 17 7 24
Disposal - - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2021 878 864 89 536 83 2,450 61 2511
Additions - - - - 23 23 8 3
Wirite Off - - - - (@) @ - @
At 31 December 2022 878 864 89 536 97 2,484 69 2,533
Amortisation:
At 1January 2021 - - 89 423 28 540 33 573
Charge for the year - - - 58 12 70 8 78
Disposal - - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2021 - - 89 4B1 40 610 41 651
Charge for the year - - - 55 15 70 8 78
Impairment 18 27 - - b 151 - 151
Write OFf - - - - @ o) - )
At 31 December 2022 18 27 8% 534 52 822 49 871
Net book value:
At 31 Decernber 2022 760 837 - - 45 1,642 20 1,662
At 31 December 2021 878 864 - 55 43 1,840 20 1860

Goodwill and brand are held at cost and tested at least anaually for impairment. All other intangible
assets are stated at cost less accumulated amertisation. Amortisation is included within administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. As a result of the macro-economic conditions and the
effect of regulatory changes an impairment of £451 million has been recognised during the year (2021: £nil).
Other intangible assets comprise the value of customer relationships and IT development. Research and
development costs thot are not eligible for capitalisaticn have been expensed in the pericd incurred and
are shown in the Consolidated Income Statement.

During 2022, further work has been completed regarding those assets which fall within the scope of
Software-as-a-Service costs. This has identified £9 million of previously capitalised other intangible assets
(of which £5m relates to 2021 and pricr years) that should be written off. These have been adjusted in 2022
through the income statement due to not being deemed material for a prior year adjustment. The relevant
costs are immaterial for the year ending 31 December 2022, however if these costs were material they
would be separately presented on the face of the Income Statement.
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1. Goodwill and intangible assets (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill acquired through business combinations and intangible assets with indefinite lives have been
allocated to the two cash generating units ("CGU") further details of which are given in note 5. The
carrying value of the goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets allocated across the two CGUs

is £760 million and £837 million respectively.

2022 2021
Indefinite-lived Indefinite-lived
Goodwill intangibles Goodwill intangibles
£m Em £ £m
Membership services 760 749 760 749
Insurance - 88 18 15
760 837 878 Bb4

The RAC Bidco Limited Group performs impairment testing annually in Q4 and whenever a loss event
occurs, The impairment test compares the recoverable amount of the CGU to the carrying value of
goodwill and intangibles allocated to the CGU. The recoverable amount of each unit is determined based
on a value-in-use caiculation using cash flow projections from the Group’s budget and management'’s
forecast up to 2027. The growth rate used to extrapolate future cash flows beyond the Group's forecasts for
alt CGUs is 2.5%, based on the expected average long-term growth rate of the UK economy. The pre-tax
discount rate of 11% (2021: 10%]) applied to the cash flow projections is based on the Group’s Weighted
Average Cost of Capital ("WACC") which has been risk adjusted to reflect current market factors not
already captured within the cash flows. The discount rate has also been further risk adjusted to reflect an
independent capital structure as stipulated by IAS 36 Impairment of non-current assets.

Key assumptions used in management forecasts include:

» |Individual members and insurance customers having high customer loyalty and retention rates
resulting in a stable and predictable revenue stream.

> Success rates for Corporate Partner contract renewals based on historical experience.
}» Cost discipline and operational efficiencies.

The above assumptions are calculated based on recent performance, adjusted for expected future cash
flows. The calculation of the value-in-use is most sensitive to the assumptions in the discount rate, the
growth rate and the customer retention rate. Retention rates are derived from internal retention rate
analysis and are considered by manogement to be a best estimate.
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12. Contract costs

Costs to
obtain
contracts Total
Em £m

Cost or valuation:
At 1January 2021 106 106
Additions 17 17
Disposals (&) (6)
At 31 December 2021 17 17
Additions 18 18
At 31 December 2022 135 135
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2021 74 74
Charge for the year 17 17
Disposals (&) &)
At 31 December 2021 85 85
Charge for the year 17 v
At 31 December 2022 102 102
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 33 33
At 31 December 2021 32 32

Costs to obtain contracts relate to third party commissions and fees arising as a result of a direct
nen-insurance sale accounted for under IFRS 15. These costs are amortised on a straight-line method over
the life of the policies, typically 2 to 5 years, which is driven by internal customer retention rate analysis.
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Fixtures,
Owner  fittings and
occupied other Computer
property equipment equipment Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2021 3 51 13 67
Additions - 8 - 8
At 21 December 2021 3 59 13 75
Additions - 5 - 5
Disposals - (20) - (20)
At 31 December 2022 3 44 13 60
Depreciation:
At 1Jonuary 2021 - 27 b 33
Charge for the year - 7 - 7
At 31 December 2021 - 34 b 40
Charge for the year - 7 - 7
Irnpairment - 1 - 1
Disposals - (20) - {20)
At 31 December 2022 - 22 [ 28
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 3 22 7 32
At 31 December 2021 3 25 7 35

The carrying value of all property, plant and equipment shown in the table above is consistent with
disclosure on a historical cost basis. £1 million of impairment has been recognised in respect of the
Insurance CGU, please see note 11 for further details

In line with the Group’s accounting policy, management considered whether there were any indicators of
a significant change in the value of the owner-occupied property, since the previous valuation by Colliers
International, an accredited international valuer, in November 2021. Management did not consider there

to be a material change in the fair value of the property at the statement of financial position date,
If owner-occupied property was measured using the cost model, the carrying amount at both

31 December 2022 and 3t December 2021 would be £3 million.
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14. Right of Use assets

Property Vehicles Total
£m £m £m
CusL wr vuluulion:
At 1 january 2021 45 45 0
Additions - 7 7
At 31 December 2021 45 52 97
Additions - 2 21
Dispasals - (19) (19)
At 31 Devesnber 2022 45 54 99
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2021 [} 23 29
Charge for the year 2 10 12
At 31 December 2021 8 33 &
Charge for the year 2 13 15
Disposats - (19) (19)
At 31 December 2022 10 27 37
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 35 27 62
Al 31 December 2021 37 19 56
15. Other investments 2022 2021
{a} Movements in the Company’s other investments £m £m
Fair vaolue
At 1Jenuary 3 2
Acquisitions 20 1
At 31 December 23 3

The Directors do not consider there to have been any change in fair value between the date of acquisition
and the Statement of Financial Position date.

Acquisitions during the yeor ending 31 December 2022 relate to the increase in value of the shareholding in
RAC Group (Holdings) Ltd held by the Employee Benefit Trust following the restructure of shares as part of
the Silver Lake acquisition.
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16, Group information

(a) Information about subsidiaries

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the RAC Bidco Limited Group includes the following subsidiaries:

Class of Proportion

Company Type of business share held
Directly held:

RAC Limited Holding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Band Co PLC Fuinding vehicle Ordinary 100%
Indirectly held:

RAC Group Limited Holding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Motoring Services (Holdings) Limited Holding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Motoring Services Maotor breakdown cover Qrdinary 100%
RACMS {Ireland) Limited (incorporated in lreland)  Dormant Ordinary 100%
RAC Financiol Services Limited Insurance intermediary Ordinary 160%
RAC Insurance Limited General Insurance business Ordinary 100%
RAC Brand Enterprises LLP :‘nifsggig?eoons‘ier::”C’geme”t of foeprz:gfrs' 100%
RAC Cars Limited Online motoring services Ordinary 100%
Risk Telematics UK Limited Software development Ordinary 100%

All subsidiaries are registered in England and
Wales and operate in the United Kingdom, except
RACMS (Ireland} Limited which is registered in
Ireland. All subsidiaries, except RACMS (Ireland)
Limited, have the same registered office as the
Company, which is disclosed on page 1. The
registered office of RACMS (Ireland) Limited is Sth
Floor, 40 Mespil Road, Dublin 4.

The Consoclidated Financial Statements of the RAC
Bidco Limited Group also include the financial
performance and position of the RAC Employee
Benefit Trust ("EBT"). In accordance with IFRSs, the
RAC Bidco Limited Group is deemed to control the
EBT by virtue of RAC Limited, a direct subsidiary of
the Company, having power over the EBT.

RAC Group Limited (Company No. 00229121), RAC
Motoring Services (Holdings) Limited {Company
No. 081681%90), RAC Cars Limited (Company

No. 08370931) and Risk Telematics UK Limited
(Compuany No. 08580115) are exempt from audit
by virtue of s479a of the Companies Act 2006 and
have been provided with a statutory guarantee
by RAC Bidco Limited, their immediate parent
company as required by s479¢ of the Companies
Act 2004. As o consequence, RAC Group Limited
(Company No. 00229121), RAC Motoring

Services (Holdings) Limited (Company No.
08168190}, RAC Cars Limited and Risk Telematics
UK Limited have all taken the advantoge of
available exemption for audit.

(b) The Parent company

The immediate controlling entity of the RAC
Bidco Limited Group is RAC Midco [t Limited.
The ultimate controlling entity of the RAC Bidco
Limited Group is RAC Group {(Holdings} Limited.
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17. Inventories

2022 20271
£m £m
Finishcd goods 2 3

All inventories are classified as finished goods. The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included within cost
of sales in the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to £12 miltion (2021: £15 million).

18. Trode and other receivables

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade receivables 32 26
Prepayments ond accrued income 28 17
Other receivables 11 13
Amounts due from related parties - 345
Total b 401
Expected to be recoverable within one year 71 401

Receivables are measured at amortised cost net of any impairment losses which are based on a loss allowance for
expected credit losses, No material impairment fosses have been recognised in 2022 (2021: £nil).

19. Cash and cash equivalents

2022 20
Em £m

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Unrestricted cash at bank and in hand 132 105
Restricted cosh at bank 4 8
Total 136 13

Restricted cash is the amount of cash one of RAC Bidco Limited’s indirect subsidiaries is required te hold to meet regulatory
Sclvency [l requirements.

20. Tax assets and liabilities

2022 202

£m £m

Current tax receivable 1 -
Current tox payable - (30}
Deferred tax asset 16 10
Deferred tax ligbility (213 21%)
(197) (239)

RAC Bidco Limited | Annual Report & Financial Stgtements 200272 155



Notes to the consolidated financial statements
RAC Bidco Limited

20. Tax gssets and liabilities (continued)

Current tax payable includes amounts t¢ be settled by group relief of £nil (2021: £nil} and are payable
within one year. During the year an amount of £nil (2021: £nil) in respect of group
reliet was settied by an intercompany transfer.

IFRIC 23 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1January 2019 and clarifies the
accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. IFRIC 23 has been considered in regard to all uncertain tax
positions for the RAC group of companies.

There are no uncertain tax positions identified that would require measurement under IFRIC 23. A corporation
tax payment of £29 million was made by the RAC to HMRC in December 2022, on a without prejudice basis,
resulting in a release of the £26 million provision held in 2021.

Intangible
Property assets & Retirement Revaluation Other
plant&  contract benefit of financial temporary
equipment costs obligations assets difference Total
Deferred tax £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1January 2021 2 (179) 1 1 5 (170}
{Chargey/credit to Consolidated _ (&0) _ ~ 1 39

Income Statement
At 31 December 2021 2 {219) 1 1 -] (209)
Credit/(charge} to Consclidated

2 12 - P 5 17
Income Statement 2
Charge to other
. - - - {8) - &)
comprehensive income
At 31 December 2022 b {(207) 1 (6) u {197)
2022 02
£m £m

The movement in the net deferred tax liability was as follows:

Net deferred tax liability brought forward (209} {170)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the Consolidated Income Statement 17 39
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income {9) -
Net deferred tax liability carried forward {197} (209)

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has unrecognised capital losses of £144 million (2021: £146 million) to carry
forward indefinitely against future capital gains. No asset has been recognised as there are no capital
gains expected in the foreseeable future. The Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £5 million
(2021: £5 million) in respect of interest disallowed under the Corporate Interest Restriction rules.
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21. Provisions

Other Other

£m £m

At 1January 2022 1 1
Provided during the year 2 2
Utilised during the year - -
At 31 December 2022 3 3

Other provisions: Other provisions include amounts payable at the end of patrol vehicle leases to correct
modifications made and are expected to be utilised at the end of each vehicle's lease term (usually five
years) and amounts provided for restructuring costs.

22. Trade and other poyabtes

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade poyables and accruals 45 43
Deferred income 137 129
Other payables 123 14
Total 295 286
Expected to be payable within one year 245 226
Expected to be payable in more than one year 60 50
Total 295 286

All payables other than deferred income are financial liabilities and are carried at amortised cost which
is considered to be o reasonable approximation of the relevant fair value.

Included within other payables is £69 million (2021: £64 million) in relation to lease liabilities recognised
as a result of IFRS 16. The contractual maturity dates of lease liabilities are:

2022 2021

£m £m

Within 1year q 9
1tc b years 18 15
51010 years 42 40
&9 b4

Lease commitments: As at 31 December 2022 the company had committed to aggregated undiscounted
future lease payments of £3 million payable over a period up to 5 years (2021: £3 million payable over a
period up to 5 years).

Short-term and low-value leases expensed to the income Statement in the year amounts to £nil (2021: £nil}.
Lease commitments for short-term and low-value leases at the balance sheet date amounted to
£nil (2021: Enil).
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23. Derivative financial instruments

2022 200
£m £m
Cash flow hedge ossets 26 5

(o) Hedging

The Group uses financial instruments, including over-the-counter instruments, in line with the Group's

overall risk management strategy (see note 29).

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has formally assessed and documented the effectiveness of its hedged
derivatives in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments.

{b) Cash ftow hedges

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has used interest rate swap agreements in order to hedge the cash flows
associated with its variable rate borrowings. The notional value and fair value of these are as follows:

2022 2021

£m £m

Contract/notional value 39 319
Total derivative financial instrument asset 26 5

The hedges were effective in the year ending

31 December 2022 (2021: effective) and therefore
the full movement in the fair value of cash

flow hedges has been recognised in other
comprehensive income (2021: recognised in
other comprehensive income).

The hedges are achieved through using interest
rate swap contracts to pay fixed and receive
SONIA. The interest rate swaps settle on a
quarterly basis. As both the Senior Term Facility
(*STF*) and the interest rate swap contracts
against which the STF is hedged contain floating
rates linked to SONIA, the Group expects the
volue of these items to systematically change in
opposite directions in response to movements

in underlying interest rates. As such, the Group's
hedge ratio is expected to remain ot 100%,

On 30 July 2021, the Group drew down upon a
new 2021 Senior Term Facility for an amount of
£265 million and on the same date prepaid £139
million of the existing £300 million Senior Term
Facility. In accordance with the terms of the
hedge designation memo, some of the hedged
transactions have been replaced with those
under the 2021 Senior Term Facility with the fixed
element of the hedge continuing to be set to
0.624% until 31 March 2024, In addition, the Group
has executed a third hedging instrument, for an
amount of £120 million, effective from 30 June 2021
with the fixed element of the hedge set to 0.715%
until 31 January 2025.
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24. Borrowings

Bonds Bank Debt
Senior  Senior  Senior
Class Al Class A2 Class B2 Term Term Term
{a) Analysis of borrowing Notes Notes Notes Facility Facility Facility Total
SONIA +  SONIA + A+
Interest rate 4565%  4870%  5250% 2500% 1‘808% SSEI}\(IJO%
At 31 December 2022
Fair value {Emy 306 693 428 168 178 107 1,880
Amounts due within one year (Em) 302 5 3 - - - 310
Amounts due in more than one year (Em) - 5G7 339 159 165 G4 1,358
Book value {(Fm) 302 602 342 159 169 94 1,668
Principal Qutstanding (Em)* 300 600 345 161 170 95 1,671
At 31 December 2021
Fair value (Em) 319 719 444 172 180 109 1,943
Amounts due within one year (Fm} 2 5 3 - - - 10
Amounts due in more than cne year (Em) 299 5%6 345 159 168 93 1,660
Book value (Em) 301 601 348 159 168 93 1,670
Principal Outstanding (Em)* 300 600 345 161 170 95 1,61

*Principat Outstanding is the Book Volue of borrowings excluding capitalised finance costs and accrued interest.

(b) Bank debt

The 2020 Senior Term Facility was for an original
amount of £300 million at a floating rate of
2.500% plus SONLA {prior to 31 January 2020:
2.750% plus LIBOR), incorporating a SONIA floor
and matures on 31 January 2025. The Group
prepaid £139 million of the facility on 30 July 2024,
leaving a balance of £161 million outstanding.

On 30 June 2021, the Group entered into a new
2021 Senior Term Facility for an amount of £265
million. On 30 July 2021, the Group drew down
upon this facility, of which £170 million has a
floating rate of 1.800% plus SONIA and matures
on 30 June 2025 and £95 million has a floating
rate of 2.500% plus SONIA and matures on

30 July 2028,

The Group has also entered into agreements for
an Initiol Working Capital Facility of £50 million
and an Initial Liquidity Facility of £90 million.
The Initial Working Capital Facility is subject to
interest of SONIA plus 2.500% from 31 January
2020; this facility matures on 31 January 2025,

The Initial Liquidity Facility is subject to interest
of SONIA plus 2.250% and is subject to
annual renewal.

On 15 September 2022, the Group, entered into a
new £300 million Senicr Term Facility agreement
(the "2022 STF") in order to have committed funds
available to refinance, if required, the outstanding
Class At Notes in full ahead of their Expected
Maturity Date on & May 2023. The Facility carries
an opening interest rate of SONIA + 1.500%,
subject to increases over the life of the 2022

STF pursuant to o margin grid {to a maximum of
SONIA + 4.250%). The Group may decide not to
utilise the Facility

Interest rate risk arising under the 2020 and 2021
Senior Term Facilities are hedged using an interest
rate swap exchanging variable rate interest for fixed
rate interest. This is detailed further in note 23 and
an analysis of the centractual undiscounted cash
flows for these borrowings is shown in note 2@{aj(iii}.

RAC Bidco Limited | AnnucolReport & Financial Statements 2022

159



150

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

RAC Bidco Limited

24, Borrowings (continued)

{c) Bonds

The bonds comprise three tranches: Class Al
Notes and Class A2 Notes (together "Class A
Notes”), and Class B2 Notes. £300 million of Class
Al Notes were issued at ¢ coupon of 4.565%, and
have an initial period to 6 May 2023, after which
interest witl be charged at 5.065% per annum.
£600 million of Class A2 Notes were issued at a
coupen of 4.870%, and have an initial peried to
6 May 2026, after which interest will be charged
at 5.370% per annum. £275 million of Class B1
Notes were issued at a coupon of 5.000%. On

@ November 2020, £65 million of Class B1 Notes
were repurchased for a tender value of $9.50
percent of the principal amount, the remaining
£210 million were repurchased at par on 30 July
2021. On 4 November 2021, the Group issued
£345 million of Class B2 Notes with a coupon of
5.250%, with an initial period to 4 November 2027
after which interest will be charged at 4.750%
per annum. Interest is payable on the bonds
semi-annually on 6 May and 6 November.

{d) Security, covenants and fees

The Class A Notes, Class B2 Notes and 2020

and 2021 Senior Term Facilities are secured by
way of first ranking security in respect of the
undertakings and assets of RAC Bidco Limited and
its subsidiaries, excluding RAC Insurance Limited
and RACMS (Ireland) Limited.

Fees relating to the Class A Notes, Class B2 Notes
and 2020 and 2021 Senior Term Facitities have
been capitalised and are being amortised over
the lives of the borrowings to which they relate,
in accordance with iIFRS ¢ Financial Instruments.
Fees relating to the 2022 STF have been charged
to the income statement during the period as
there is no drawn debt against which these

can be capitalised.

The 2020 and 2021 Senicr Term Facilities, Class
Al Notes and Class A2 Notes {together *Class

A Debt") are subject to one financial covenant,
being the ratio of free cash flow to Class A Debt
service charges. The Class B2 Notes ("Class B
Debt”} are also subject to one financial covenant,
being the ratio of free cash flow to the aggregate
of Class A Debt. service charges and Class B Debt
service charges. The Group has complied with
these financial covenants throughout the periods
since issue of the Class A Debt and Class B Debt.

25. Ordinary share capital

Details of RAC Bidco Limited’s ordinary share capital are as follows:

2022 2021

Allotted, called-up and fully paid:
339,131,773 ordinary shares of £1.00 each (2021: 339,131,773 of £1.00 each} 339 339
339 339

26, Hedging instrument reserve

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments
deemed effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedging instrument
is recognised in Income Statement enly when the hedged transactions impacts the profit or loss, or is
included os a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item.
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27. Reconciliation of financial liabilities

The table below details changed in the Group's lighilities arising from financing activities including both
cash and non-cash changes:

2022 2021
£m £m
As at{January 1,665 1413
Cash changes:
Financing cash flows 345 (84)
Interost and debt issue costs paid (83) (68)
Non-cash changes:
Other finance expense {note &) g 5
Bond proceeds held in escow qccount (3459} 345
Interest expense {note &) 72 b4
Movement in fair value of hedge liabilities (note 23) 2% (10)
At 31 December 1,642 1,665

f

) Alex Heath, Chief People, Customer & Marksting Officer l ;
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28. Employee benefit obligations

This note describes the RAC Bidco Limited Group's employee benefit arrangements for its employees
and explains how the obligations to these schemes are calculated.

{a) Introduction

The RAC Bidco Limited Group operates a number
of employee benefit schemes as follows:

RAC Group Personul Pension Plan

("RAC GPP Plan*): The RAC GPP Plan is a defined
contribution pension plan open to all RAC
employees which is provided by Aviva Pensions
Trustees UK Limited who are authorised and
regulated by the FCA.

Unfunded Unapproved Pension Scheme

("UUP Scheme”): A UUP Scheme is provided

on a discretionary basis for certain employees
who receive benefits on a defined benefit basis
(generally related to final salary). The number of
pensioners entitled to this benefit at 31 December
2022 was 7 {2021 7).

Post-Retirement Medical Benefits Scheme
("PRMB Scheme”); Under the PRMB Scheme

the RAC Bidco Limited Group provides medical
benefits on a discretionary basis for certain
pensioners and their dependants in the UK which
is administered by Aviva Health UK Limited who
are authorised and regulated by the FCA. The
number of pensioners entitled to this benefit

at 31 December 2022 was 94 (2021: 94).

Disability Benefit Scheme (*DB Scheme*):

Under the DB Scheme, the RAC Bidco Limited
Group provides disability benefits on a
discretionary basis for certain former employees
in the UK. Currently the RAC Bidco Limited Group
contributes a flot rate per person to the scheme
dependent on their individual circumstances.

(b) Charges to the Consolidated Income Statement

During the year, £2 million (2021: £2 million} was
charged to the RAC Bidco Limited's Consolidated
Income statement in respect of the employee
defined contribution schemes and £78 thousand
(2021: £62 thousand) in respect of employee
defined benefit schemes.

() Employee benefit scheme assumptions
and disclosures

Disclosures under IAS 19 Employee Benefits are
given below ond on the following pages on a
consolidated basis for the UUP Scheme, the PRMB
Scheme and the DB Scheme ("the Schemes™),
unless otherwise stated.

(i) Assumptions for the liabilities of the schemes.
The projected unit credit method: The inherent
uncertainties affecting the measurement of the
liabilities of the Schemes require these to be
measured on an actuarial basis. This involves
discounting the best estimate of future cash flows
to be paid out by the Schemes using the projected
unit credit method. This is an accrued benefits
valuation method which calculates the past
service ligbility toc members and makes aliowances
for their projected future earnings. It is based on

a number of actuarial assumptions, which vary
according to economic conditions, and changes

in these assumptions can materially offect the
measurement of the employee liability obligations.
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28. Employee benefit obligations {continued)

(Y Assumptions for the liabilities of the schemes (continued)

Valuations and gssumpticns

The valuation used for accounting under 1AS 19 has been based on the most recent full actuarial valuation,
updated to take account of that standard’s requirements in order to assess the liabilities of the Schemes at
3 December 2022. This update was made by the Schemes’ actuaries. The Schemes’ assets are stated

at their fair values as at 31 December 2022,

The main actuarial assumptions used to calculate the UUF Scheme, the PRMB Scheme and the
DB Scheme liabilities under IAS 19 are:

2022 2021

% %

Inflation rate 3.20 350
Pension increases 3.20 3.50
Deferred pension incregses 3.20 350
Discount rate 510 1.80

The inflation rate is the assumption that has the largest impact on the value of the liabilities. The effect
of a 1% increase in the inflation rate would increase liabilities and service costs by £257 thousand and
Enil respectively (2021: 1% increase in inflation rate would increase liabilities and service costs by £406
thousand and £nil respectively).
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28. Employee benefit obligations (continued)
(i) Assumptions for the liabilities of the schemes (continued)

Mortality assumptions of the schemes

Mortality assumptions are significant in measuring the RAC Bidco Limited Group's obligations under
the defined benefit schemes, particularly given the maturity of these obligations in these Schemes.
The mortality tables and average life expectancy used at 31 December 2022 for Scheme members
are as follows:

Normal Life expectancy Life expectancy

retirement {pension duration) {pension duration)

age (NRA) at NRA of a male at NRA of a female
20 years 20 years
Currently younger Currently younger
aged NRA than NRA aged NRA than NRA
SAPS 51 tables, including allowances 550 88.1 898 897 N2
for future improvements (23.) {24.8) {24.7) (26.2)

The assumptions above are based on commonly-used mortality tables, which have been adjusted to reflect
recent research into mortality experience. However, the extent of future improvements in longevity is
subject to considerable uncertainty and judgement is required in setting this assumption. The assumptions
above include an allowance for future mortality improvements, based on the actuarial profession’s medium
cchort projection table. The effect on the Scheme of assuming life expectancy was one year higher would
increase the Schemes’ ligbilities by £296 thousand {2021: £375 thousand).

Guaranteed Minimum Pension Equalisation

There has been no impact as a result of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) ruling. The defined
benefit pension schemes in the Group are not contracted out of the state pension scheme and therefore
GMP equalisation is not applicable.

(i) Employee defined benefit expense

During the year the total employee defined benefit expense for the Schemes comprised £78 thousand
(2021: £62 thousand} in respect of net interest expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
and £645 thousand {2021: £150 thousand) recognised in other comprehensive income.
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28. Employee benefit obligations (continued)

(iify Experience gains and losses

The following table shows the experience gains and losses of the Schemes:

2022 2021

Em £m

Fair value of the Schemes’ assets at the end of the year - -
Present value of the Schemes' ligbilities at the end of the year (3) {4
Net deficit in the Schemes (3 {4)

Estimated employer contributions for the year ended 31 December 2023 are £419 thousand in respect
of the defined benefit schemes and £9 million in respect of the defined contribution scheme.

(iv) Schemes' deficit

The present value of the Schemes’ obligations and the fair value of the plan assets are as follows:

2022 202t

£m £m

Total fair value of assets - -

Present value of defined benefit obligations 3 (4)

Net deficit in the Schemes (3 (4)
Amounts recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

2022 2021

£m £m

Deficits included in non-current liabilities 3 &)

Net deficit in the Schemes {3) (4)

The deficits in non-current liabilities wholly relate to unfunded schemes.
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28. Employee benefit obligations (continued)

(v) Movement in the scheme deficits and surplus comprise:

2022 2021
Scheme Scheme

liobilities  Net deficit liabilities = Net deficit

£m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January {4) 4) (5) {5)

Benefits paid - - 1 1
Remeasurement gains

Actuarial gain ansing fram change in assumptions 1 1 - -

Balance at 31 December {3) {3 (%) (4)




29. Risk management

The Group operates an Enterprise Risk
Munugerment Framework to ensure that the risks
to which the Group is exposed are identified,
measured, managed, monitored and reported

on a regular basis. The key instruments of the
framework include the risk management policies,
risk appetite statements, risk reports and the
governance and oversight structure.

Financial ricks are usually grouped by risk type:
market, credit, liquidity, strategic, operational,
capital and regulatory risk. Risks falling within
these types may affect a number of key metrics
including those relating to balonce sheet strength,
liguidity and profit. They may also affect the
performance of the products that the Group
delivers to customers and the service to customers
and distributors, which can be categorised as risks
to brand and reputation. The key risks faced by
the RAC Bidco Limited Group are set out in

this note.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group's measurement

of risk is used to support the menitoring and
reparting of the risk profile and in the evaluation
of alternative risk management actions. The RAC
Bidco Limited Group carries out a range of stress
and scenario tests to evaluate their impact on the
business and the management actions available
to respond to the potential conditions.

The Group has an established governance
framewoark, which has the following key elements:

)} Aformal investment Agreement which sets
out the Board terms of reference and
delegated authorities and which sets out
certain limited matters which require the
consent of major shareholders.

3 Defined terms of reference for the regulated
entity Boards and the associgted executive
management and other committees across
the Group.

= Financial statements

2> Aclear organisational structure with
documented delegated authorities and
responsibilities from the regulated entity
Boards to executive management committees
and senior management.

2> Allocation of Senior Management Functions,
Prescribed Responsibilities, Overall
Responsibilities and Key Functions for
euach of our regulated subsidiaries under
the Senior Managers and Certification
Regime, documented in the Management
Responsibilities Map.

Y» Arisk management framework which sets out
risk management and control standards.

Policies for managing financial risks are governed
by Board approved policies and procedures, which
are reviewed on an annual basis,

(a) Treasury

The Group Treasury department’s main
responsibilities are to:

} Ensure adequate funding and liquidity
for the Group.

» Manage the interest risk of the
Group’s debt.

> Ensure that the Group’s banking and card
transmissions operote effectively.

The Group's debt management policy is to provide
an appropriate leve!l of funding to finance the
Group's medium-term plans at a competitive cost
and ensure flexibility to meet the changing needs
of the Group. Details of the RAC Bidco Limited
Group’s current borrowing facilities are disclosed
in note 24,
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29. Risk management (continued)

(i) Market risk

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial
impact due to changes in fair values or future
cash flows of financial instruments as a result
of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group is exposed to
interest rate risk arising primarity on external
borrowings. The Group's policy aims to manage
its interest cost within the constraint of its
business plan and its financial covenants. The
risk is managed through the use of interest rate
swap agreements to hedge the variability of
cosh flows associated with the borrowings. If the
borrowings were to be left unhedged and market
interest rates were to increase or decrease by 1%,
the impact on the profit before tax would be a
decrease/increase of £2 million (2021: £2 million).
The impact on shareholders’ equity would be a
decrease/increase of £1 million (2021: £1 million).

} Stuart, patrol since 2007, South West

The sensitivity analysis compares the rate of
interesl un Lhie 2020 wind 2021 Senior Term
Facilitias of SONIA +2.500% and increases this
by 1%.

Interest rate movements on trade payables, trade
receivables and other financial instruments do
not present a material exposure to the RAC Bidco
Limited Group’s Statement of Financial Position.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has no material
foreign currency balances as at the Statement
of Financial Position date and therefore is not
exposed to movements in foreign currency
exchange rates.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group is also exposed

to risks from fluctuations in fuel prices which

can lead to increased operating costs. This risk

is managed by the RAC Bidco Limited Group
through the use of forward purchases of fuel

for a period of up to twelve months in order to
hedge the variability of cash flows associated with
the purchasing of fuel for use in the RAC Bidco
Limited Group's operational fleet of patrols and
recovery vehicles.
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29. Risk management {continued}

(a) Treasury {continued)

(i} Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss in the value of financial assets due to counterparties failing to meet all or part
of their abligations.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date is set out below:

2022 0

£m £m

Trade and other receivables 40 39
Cash and cash equivalents 136 13
176 152

Management of credit risk is carried out in accordance with Group credit risk processes, which include
setting exposure limits and monitoring exposures in accordance with ratings set by credit ratings agencies
such as Standard & Poor’s.

Financial assets are graded according to current credit ratings issued. AAA is the highest possible rating.
Investment grade financial assets are classified within the range of AAA to BBB ratings. Financiol ossets
which fall outside this range are classified as speculative grade. Credit limits for each counterparty are
set based on default probabilities that are in turn based on the rating of the counterparty and the type of
exposure concerned.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has not been generally exposed to significant concentrations of credit risk to
third parties due to the nature of trading activity undertaken and the size of individual balances.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group is exposed to concentrations of risk with individual banks which are within
approved counterparty exposure limits. Cash and cash equivalents throughout the reported periods were
held with institutions who are A rated. The RAC Bidco Limited Group's largest cash and cash equivalent
counterparty is HSBC Globa! Ligquidity Funds (2021: Deutsche Bank). At 31 December 2022 the balance with
that counterparty was £20 million (2021: £19 million).
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29. Risk management (continued}

(i) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group has set its investment strategy to ensure it has sufficient liquid funds to meet
its expected obligations as they fall due. The RAC Bidco Limited Group maintains significant committed
borrowing facilities from a range of highly rated banks to mitigate this risk further (see note 24).

The risk is measured through review of forecast liquidity each month by the Treasurer to determine
whether there are sufficient credit facilities to meet forecast requirements. The RAC Bidco Limited Group
also monitors covenants on a regular basis to ensure there are no breaches that would lead to an "Event
of Default”. There have been no breaches of covenants during the reported periods.

The following table shows the RAC Bidco Limited Group’s contractual maturity of borrowings, including
estimated interest, analysed by duration:

2022 2021
£m £m
Bonds

Less than 1 month 4 4
1to 3 months 7 7
3 months to 1year 323 32
1to byears 1,013 1,347
51010 years - -
Total bonds 1,347 1,390

Externat bank debt
Less than 1month 2 2
1to 3 months 3 4
3 months to 1 year 15 18
1to5years 368 384
51010 years Q7 102
Total external bank debt 485 510
Total borrowings 1,832 1900

(b) Strategic and operational risk

The strategy {including operational risks) for the RAC Bidco Limited Group and the Company is set cut
within the Strategic Report on pages 6 to 69.

170



29. Risk management (continued)

{c) Capital risk management

The RAC Bidco Limited Group's capital structure
consists of third party borrowings amounting

to £1,668 million (2021: £1,670 million), and

£339 million {2021: £339 million) of funds

from shareholders.

The Group's objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group is managed on
a net debt basis. Management consider net debt
to comprise Class A Debt, Class B Debt, 2020 and
2021 Senior Term Facilities, associated accrued
interest and cash and cash equivalents. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

In managing its capital, the Group seeks to:

i. Match the expected cash inflows from its
assets with the expected cash outflows from
its liabilities as they fall due.

ii. Maintain financial strength to support new
business growth and satisfy the requirements
of its members and regulators.

iil. Retain financial flexibility by maintaining
strong liquidity.

iv. Allocate capital efficiently to support
growth and repatriate excess capital
where appropriate.

=Financial statements

{d) Regulatory risk

The RAC Bidco Limited Group includes regulated
companies which are required to hold sufficient
capital to meet acceptable solvency levels based
on applicable FCA and PRA regulations. The RAC
Bidco Limited Group's ability to transfer retained
earnings to its shareholders is therefore restricted
to the extent that these earnings form part of UK
regulatory capital.

Relevant capital and solvency regulations
("Solvency I” and "Solvency II”} continue to be
used to measure and report the financial strength
of regulated companies within the RAC Bidco
Limited Group. The regulatory capital tests verify
that an adequate excess of solvency capital
above the required minimum level calculated is
maintained using a series of prudent assumptions
about the type of business that is underwritten.
Regulatory requirements have been complied with
throughout all periods reported.

The RAC Bidco Limited Group is also subject to
regulatory requirements, as set out by the FCA, in
relation to product design, marketing materials,
sales processes and data protection. Failure to
comply with these requirements could result in

the RAC Bidco Limited Group having to suspend,
elther temporarily or permanently, certain
activities. To mitigate these risks the RAC Bidco
Limited Group employs regulatory and compliance
specialists to ensure the regulatory and legislative
requirements are fully understood and adhered to.
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30. Related party transactions

(@) The RAC Bidco Limited Group had the following transactions with related parties in 2022 and 2021;

2022 20

(i) Amounts due from related parties £m £m
Other group companies - current accounts - 345
- 345

Of amounts due from Group companies, £nil (2021: £345 million) was due frem RAC Midco I Limited, RAC Bidco Limited’s
parent company.

2022 2021
(i) Amounts due to related parties £m £m
Qther group companies — current accounts {0 -

L -

Of amounts due to Group companies, £1 million (2021: £nil) was due to RAC Midce Limited, RAC Bidco Limited's indirect
parent company.

(i) Transactions with related parties

? In 2022, RAC Bidco Limited paid a dividend of £345 million (2021: £nil) to RAC Midco Il Limited, its
immediate Parent Company.

3 In 2022, RAC Bidco Limited group paid Silver Lake, a shareholder of its ultimate parent company,
£2 million (2021: £nil) as reimbursement for transaction costs associated with its acquisition of
shareholdings in the Group.

> Audit fees of £499 thousand {2021: £439 thousand) were borne by RAC Motoring Services, a subsidiary
of RAC Bidco Limited, on behalf of the RAC Group.

GIC, CVC, Silver Lake and senior management are all related parties of the RAC Bidco Limited Group by
virtue of their shareholdings in the RAC Group. Grange Investment S.a.rl (formerly CEP lil Investment 17
S.a.rl}is a related party as it is controlled by GIC and CVC,
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30. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Key management compensation

The total compensation to those employees classified as key management, being those senior managers
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
including the Directors, in respect of the RAC Bidco Limited Group is as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Fees and benefits 4,273 4,194
Contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 63 89
4336 4,283

Fees and benefits include key management bonuses. During the year, payments of Enil (2021: £187
thousand) were made to key management for loss of office.
(c) Key management interests

No key management personnel held equity stakes in the RAC Bidco Limited Group at 31 December 2022
or 31 December 2021,

At no time during the reported periods did any Director hold a material interest in any contract of
significance with any RAC Bidco Limited Group company other than an indemnity provision between each
Director and a Group company and service contracts between each Director and a Group company.

(d) Immediate Parent Company

The immediate centrolling entity of the Company is RAC Midco Il Limited, registered in England and Wales.

(&) Ultimate controlling party

The ultimate controlling entity of the Group is RAC Group {Holdings) Limited. Its Annual Report and
Financial Stotements are available on application to the Company Secretary, RAC Group (Holdings)
Limited, RAC House, Brockhurst Crescent, Walsall, West Midlands, United Kingdom, W55 4AW. The lowest
level at which Consolidated UK adopted international accounting standards Financial Statements are
prepared is RAC Bidco Limited.
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31. Fair volue of financial assets and liabilities

The information set out below provides information about how the Group determines fair values of
various financ¢ial assets and tinancial labilities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value
is observable:

2 Ltevellfair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or ligbilities.

> level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

2> Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liabitity that are not based on observable market dato (unobservable inputs).

Fair value as at 31 Fair value Fair value as at 31 Fair value

December 2022 moavement December 202t hierarchy

Financial asset/tiability £m Em £m £m
Owner occupied property (note 13) 3 - 3 Level 2

Valugtions are assessed by mancgement and where necessary performed by an external valuer, in accordonce
with Group accounting policies.

Cash flow hedge asset (note 23) 26 21 5 Level 3

The interest rate swaps have been valued using market data of interest rate curves built using cash rates,
swap rates and forward rates.

32. Events after the reporting period

There have been no events since the statement of financial position date which have a material impact
on the Company’s or RAC Bidco Limited Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022,
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33. Alternative performance measures

Certain alternative performance measures ("APMs"} have been included within these results. These APMs
are used by the Management internally to monitor and manage the underlying business performance of
the Group.

Alternative performance measures exclude certain items because, if included, these items could distort
the understanding of performance for the year and the comparability between periods. The directors’
commentary discusses these alternative performance measures to remove the effects of items of botn
income and expense that are considered different in nature from the underlying trading and normat
quantum and where treatment as an adjusting item provides stakeholders with additional information
to assess period-un-period trading.

The table below details the definition of each APM.

APM Definition

EBITDA is stotutory operating profit before interest, tax, depreciation,

EBITDA before exceptional items o . .
amortisction and exceptional items.

Exceptional items are those which management consider to be material
by size and/or nature. Events which give rise to a classification of items
as exceptional include costs associated with corperate transactions and
restructuring of businesses.

Exceptional items

Adjusted Revenue is statutery Revenue, adjusted for a change in the

Group's estimgtion of deferred service revenue for the sale of certain
Adjusted revenue insured roadside gssistance services. This reduced statutery revenue by

£5 million for the year ending 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil). This adjustment

is not expected to re-occur in subsequent acccunting periods,

Adjusted EBITDA is EBITDA before exceptional items, adjusted for the

Adjusted EBITDA ) A
change to deferred service revenue estimates noted above.

Net cash flows from operating activities as shown in the statement of cash
Adjusted net cash flows from flows adjusted for the cash impact of exceptional items included within
operating activities cash generated from operating activities of £20 million and g one-off
payment in 2022 of £29 million to HMRC.

Adjusted net cash flows from operating activities as a percentage of

Adjusted ‘ h i
ljusted operating cash conversion adjusted EBITDA,
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Company Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note £m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 4 1102 1,102
1,102 1,102
Current assets
Other receivables 7 3 1
Current tax receivable 4 -
7 1
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Other payables 7 {94) {29)
{54) (29)
Net current liabilities {47) (28)
Non-current liabitities
Other payables 7 {(360) -
(360) -
Net assets 695 1,074
EQUITY
Ordinary share capital 8 339 339
Retained earnings 356 735
Total equity 695 1,074

The accounting policies on pages 126 t0 139 and the notes on pages 180 to 185 are an integral part of these
Financial Statements.

The Company’s loss for the year was £34 million (2021: Loss £1 million}.

Approved by the Board on 2 March 2023
o

J Baker
Chief Financial Officer

RAC Bidco Limited | AnaualReport & Financial Statements 2022 177



178

Company financial statements
For the year ending 31 December 2022

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Ordinary Retained

share capital earnings  Total equity

£m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2021 339 736 1,079
Loss for the year - (1} 0]
Other comprehensive income - - -
Total comprehensive expense - 0] n
Cividends paid - - -
Balance at 31 December 2021 339 735 1074
Loss far the year - (34) (34)
Other comprehensive Income - - -
Total comprehensive expense - (34) (34)
Dividends paid - (345) (345)
Batance at 31 December 2022 339 356 695

The accounting palicies on pages 126 to 139 and the notes on pages 180 to 185 are an integral part of these

Finagncial Statements.

Haylay, Operations since July 2016
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Company Statement of Cash Flows

2022 2028
£m £m
Operating uctivities
Loss befare tax (36} {2}
Adjustments to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows
Transaction costs 23 4
Net finance expenses 15 -
Working capitat adjustments:
Increase in other recevables 3 n
Increase in other payables 24
Net cash fiows generated from operating activities 23 &
Investing activities
Transaction costs (23} %)
Net cash flows used in investing activities {23) {4}
Financing activities
Proceeds from group company loan 345
Dividends paid {345) -

Net cash flows used in financing activities - -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents - -

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward - -

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward - -

The accounting policies on pages 126 to 137 and the notes on poages 180 to 185 are an integral part of these
Financigl Statements.
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1. Auditor's remuneration

Audit fees of £79 thousand are borne and paid by RAC Motoring Services, a fellow Group company.
Discloswies reluling to auditor’s remuneration may be luund in note 7 of the Bidco Consolidated
Financial Statements.

2. Employee infermation

The Company has no employees. All employees are employed by and remunerated by RAC Motoring
Services, a fellow Group company. Disclosures relating to employees may be found in note 8 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Directors

Executive Directors of the Company are remunerated as employees by RAC Motoring Services. 1t is not
deemed practical to recharge this remuneration across the operating divisions of the Group. Disclosures
relating to Directors’ remuneration may be found in note 9 of the Bidco Consolidated Financial Statements.

4. Investments in subsidiaries

2022 2021
(0) Movements in the Company's investments in subsidiaries: £m £m
Carrying Value
At 1January and 31 December 1102 1,102




4, Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

(b} Information about subsidiaries

~=Financial statements

The Companry had the following directly ur indirectly held investments in subsidiaries:

Class of Proportion

Company Type of business share held
Directly held:

RAC Limited Halding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Bond Co PLC Funding vehicle COrdinary 100%
Indirectly held:

RAC Group Limited Holding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Matoring Services (Holdings) Limited Holding company Ordinary 100%
RAC Motering Services Motor breakdown cover Crdinary 100%
RACMS {lreland) Limited {incorporated in Ireland)  Dormant Ordinary 100%
RAC Financial Services Limited Insurance intermediary Qrdinary 100%
RAC Insurence Limited General Insurance business Ordinary 100%
RAC Brand Enterprises LLP t;t;sg;iir;?eoor:er?:nogement of iepz:z?rsf 100%
RAC Cars Limited Crline motoring services Ordinary 100%
Risk Telematics UK Lirmted Saoftware development Crdinary 100%

All subsidiaries are registered in England and
Wales and operate in the United Kingdom, except
RACMS (ireland) Limited which operates and

is registered in Ireland. All subsidiaries, except
RACMS (freland) Limited, have the same registered
office as the Company, which is disclosed on

page 1. The registered office of RACMS (Ireland)
Limited is 5th Floor, 40 Mespil Road, Dublin 4.

In accordance with UK adopted international
accounting standards, the Company is deemed
to contral the RAC Employee Benefit Trust (*EBT")
by virtue of RAC Limited, a direct subsidiary of the
Company, having power over the EBT.

RAC Group Limited (Company No, 00229121), RAC
Motoring Services (Holdings) Limited (Company
No. 08168190), RAC Cars Limited (Company

No. 08370931) and Risk Telematics UK Limited

(Company No. 08580115) are exempt from audit
by virtue of s479a of the Companies Act 2006 and
have been provided with a statutory guarantee
by RAC Bidco Limited, their immediate parent
company as required by s479¢ of the Companies
Act 2006. As a consequence, RAC Group Limited
(Company No. 00229121), RAC Motoring Services
{Holdings) Limited (Company No. 08168190}, RAC
Cars Limited and Risk Telematics UK Limited
have all taken the advantage of available
exemption for audit.

(c) The Parent company

The immediate controlling entity of the
Company is RAC Midco Il Limited. The ultimate
controlling entity of the Company is RAC
Group (Holdings) Limited.

RAC Bidco Limited | Annuat Report & Financial Statements 2022 181



182

Notes to the company financial statements
RAC Bidco Limited

5. Other receivables

2022 2021
£m £m
Amounts due from related puilies (nole Ha)i) 1
Total 3 1
Expected to be recoverable within one year 3 1
Expected ta be recoverable in more than one year - -
Total 3 1
Receivables are measured at amortised cost net of any impuiiment losses which are based on
a loss allowance for expected credit losses. No moterial impairment losses have been recognised
in 2022 (2021: £nil).
6. Tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax
. ; :
The movement in the deferred tax asset was as follows 2022 2021
£m £m

Net deferred tax asset brought forward

Deferred tax credited to other comprehensive income

Deferred tax asset carried forward

The headline rate of UK corporation tax is currently 19%. In accordance with the Spring Budget 2021 the
main rate of corporation tax will remain at 19% for the accounting periods up to and including the years
ending 31 March 2023. For accounting periods ending on or after 1 April 2023 the main rate of corporation

tax will increase to 25%.

Under IAS 12 deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to
the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have

been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Therefore, deferred tax balances from the substantively enacted dote of 24 May 2021 have been reflected

at the increased 25% corporation tax rate they are expected to be realised or settled.
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7. Other payables

2022 2021

£m Em

Other payables ) -
Amounts due to related parties (note 2{a)(ip) (412) (29)
Total (414) {29)
Expected to be payable within one year (54) ]
Expected to be payable in more than one year (360) -
Total (a14) (29)

All payables are financiol liabilities and are carried at amortised cost which is considered to be a
reasonable approximation of the relevant fair value basis.

8. Qrdinary share capital

Details of the Company’s ordinary share capital are as follows:

2022 202
£m £m

Allotted, called-up and fully paid:
332131,773 ordinary shares of £1.00 each (2020: 339,131,773 shares of £1.00 each) 339 339
339 339
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9 Related party transactions
(a) The Company had the following transactions with related parties in 2022 and 2021:

() Amounts due from related parties

2022 200
£m £m
Amounts due from Group companies 3 1
3 1

(i} Amounts due to related parties
2022 2021
£m £m
Amounts due to Group companies {412) (29)
(412) {29)

{iil) Transactions with related parties

During 2022, the company paid a dividend of £345 million to its parent company, RAC Midco Il Limited
(2021: £nil).

During 2022, the Company recharged £2 million (2021: £3 million} to RAC Limited, a direct subsidiary, in
respect of o Management Services Agreement. This agreement allocates the strategic and governance
costs of the RAC Bideo Limited Group and recharges them to the trading entities where appropriate.

GIC, CVC, Silver Lake and senior management are all related parties of the RAC Bidco Limited Group
by virtue of their shareholdings in the RAC Group. Orange Investment S.a.r.l {formerly CEP Il Investment
17 S.4.rl) is a related party as it is contrelled by GIC and CVC.

(iv) Amounts inciuded in the Income Stotement

Transactions included within the Income Statement that have taken place during the reported periods
are as follows:

2022 202
Em £m
Management charges 2 3

2 3
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9. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Key management compensation

The Directors and key management of the Company are considered to be the same as for the RAC Bidco
Group. Information on key management compensation may be found in note 30 of the Consolidated
Annual Report and Financial Statements.

(c) Key management interests

No key management personnel held equity stakes in the Company at 31 December 2022 or
31 December 2021.

At no time during the reported periods did any Director hold a material interest in any contract of
significance with any Group company cther than an indemnity provision between each Director and
a Group company and service contracts between each director and a Group company.

{d) Immediate and ultimate controlling party

The immediate controlling entity of the Company is RAC Midco Il Limited.

The ultimate controlling entity of the Company is RAC Group (Holdings) Limited. Its Consolidated Annual
Report and Financial Statements are available on application to the Company Secretary, RAC Group
{Holdings) Limited, RAC House, Brockhurst Crescent, Walsall, West Midlands, United Kingdom, WS5 4AW.

The lowest level ot which Consolidated UK adopted accounting standards Financial Statements are
prepared is RAC Bidco Limited.

10. Critical cecounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

There are no critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty for RAC Bidco
Limited Company.
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